
 

 
Agenda compiled by: 
Maria Lipzith 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Telephone No: 247 4353 
 

 
 
 

 
Principal Scrutiny Advisor: 
Steven Courtney 
Tel: 247 4707 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 
A 

 

 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULT SOCIAL CARE) 
 

 
Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 
Wednesday, 23rd July, 2008 at 10.00 am 

 
(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 9.30 a.m.) 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Councillors 

 
S Andrew - Guiseley and Rawdon 

S Armitage - Cross Gates and Whinmoor 

J Chapman (Chair) - Weetwood 

D Coupar - Middleton Park 

P Ewens - Hyde Park and Woodhouse 

Mrs R Feldman - Alwoodley 

C Fox - Adel and Wharfedale 

T Hanley - Bramley and Stanningley 

A Hussain - Gipton and Harehills 

G Kirkland - Otley and Yeadon 

T Murray - Garforth and Swillington 

E Taylor - Chapel Allerton 

 
CO-OPTEES 

 
Ms Joy Fisher – Alliance Service Users and Carers 

Sally Morgan – Equality Issues 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

B 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

  APPEALS AGAINSTS REFUSAL OF 
INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS 
 
To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded). 
 
(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer at least 24 hours 
before the meeting).  
 

 

2   
 

  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
1 To highlight reports or appendices which 

officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report. 

 
2 To consider whether or not to accept the 

officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information. 

 
3 If so, to formally pass the following 

resolution:- 
 
 RESOLVED – That the press and public be 

excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:- 

 
 
 

 



 

 
C 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

3   
 

  LATE ITEMS 
 
To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration. 
 
(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.) 
 

 

4   
 

  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
To declare any personal / prejudicial interests for 
the purpose of Section 81 (3) of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and paragraphs 8 to 12 of 
the Members Code of Conduct. 
 

 

5   
 

  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

6   
 

  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
To receive and approve the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 24th June 2008. 
 
 

1 - 4 

7   
 

  EXECUTIVE BOARD - MINUTES 
 
To receive and note a copy of the Executive Board 
minutes of the meeting held on 11th June 2008. 
 
 

5 - 16 



 

 
D 

Item 
No 

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities 

Item Not 
Open 

 Page 
No 

8   
 

  DIGNITY IN CARE 
 
To consider a report by the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development providing information as 
part of its overall consideration of the ‘Dignity in 
Care’ update and to determine whether this matter 
requires further scrutiny.  
 
(a) Appendix 1 –  Scrutiny Inquiry Report (April 
 2007) 
 Appendix 2 -   Scrutiny Inquiry Report Initial 
 Response (July 2007) 
 Appendix 3 -   Recommendations Tracking 
 (Summary) 
 
(b) Dignity in Care – Update on Campaign 
 
(c ) Capital Grant Report 
 Appendix 1 
 Appendix 2 
 Appendix 3 
 
  
 

17 - 
74 

9   
 

  INCOME GENERATION FOR COMMUNITY 
CARE SERVICES 
 
To note a report submitted by the Head of Scrutiny 
and Member Development providing an update on 
issues around income generation for Community 
Care Services. 
  
 

75 - 
134 

10   
 

  WORK PROGRAMME 
 
To consider a report of the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development on the Board’s current work 
programme. 
  
 

135 - 
168 

11   
 

  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 
Wednesday, 17th September 2008 at 10.00 .m. 
(Pre-meeting to be held for Board Members at 9.30 
a.m.) 
 
 

 

 



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd July, 2008 

 

SCRUTINY BOARD (ADULT SOCIAL CARE) 
 

TUESDAY, 24TH JUNE, 2008 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor J Chapman in the Chair 

 Councillors S Andrew, S Armitage, 
P Ewens, Mrs R Feldman, C Fox, 
T Hanley, A Hussain, G Kirkland, T Murray 
and E Taylor 

 
 
 

1 Chair's Opening Remarks  
 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the first meeting of the Scrutiny Board (Adult 
Social Care) for the 2008/09 municipal year. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 

Councillor J Chapman declared a personal interest in Minutes 4 and 5,  in 
view of her daughter-in-law’s employment in private industry as a Carer who 
visits people in their homes. 
  

3 Minutes - Scrutiny Board (Health & Adult Social Care) - 21st April 2008  
 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the former Scrutiny Board (Health & Adult 
Social Care) held on 21st April 2008 be received and noted. 
 

4 Input to the Work Programme 2008/09 – Sources of Work and 
Establishing the Board’s Priorities  

 
The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report providing 
Members with information and guidance to assist the Board to develop its 
work programme for 2008/09. 
 
Appended to the report were copies of the following documents for the 
information, comment and consideration of the meeting:- 
 
(i) Board’s Terms of Reference 
(ii) Core information on relevant aspects of the:- 

• Local Area Agreement 

• Leeds Strategic Plan and Council Business Plan (2008 -2011) 

• Corporate Assessment Actions 2008 

• Corporate Performance Management information (Pls), including 
identified areas of improvement 

• Details of any planned review of key policies and strategies 
(including those items which make up the Council’s policy 
framework) 

• Outstanding issues from previous municipal year 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd July, 2008 

 

(iii) Current Forward Plan and minutes of last Executive Board meeting 
held on 14th May 2008 

 
For additional information, Members were also provided with a copy of the 
Adult Social Services Business Plan (2008/09). 
 
The Chair welcomed to the meeting Councillor P Harrand, Executive Board 
Member with portfolio responsibility for Adult Health and Social Care;  Sandie 
Keene, Director of Adult Social Services and Lindsay Richardson, Directorate 
Support Manager who were in attendance to help the Board’s consideration of 
its work programme for the coming year and to respond to any questions 
raised by Members regarding the information presented.   
 
Councillor Harrand outlined some of the pressures on the Adult Social 
Services Department for the coming year and also raised some topics for 
possible scrutiny by the Board. 
 
The Director of Adult Social Services summarised the key activities and 
priorities of the Department for the year ahead, which included: 
 

• The Personalisation agenda – which included service quality and the 
level of choice and control of service users; 

• The forthcoming inspection of Older People’s Services – which would 
include a focus on preventative services and safeguarding arrangements 

• Income generation for Community Care Services 

• Older People’s Day Care 

• Implications of new Mental Health legislation 

• Implications of the government publication ‘Valuing People Now’ on 
services for people with Learning Disabilities  

• Preparation of a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment – aimed at 
identifying the needs of the city, alongside proposals to jointly meet 
those needs with health service providers 

 
Following detailed discussions, the Chair thanked the Executive Board 
Member, the Director of Adult Social Services and Lindsay Richardson for 
their attendance. 
 
RESOLVED -  That the contents of the report and appendices be noted and, 
along with the comments and information presented at the meeting, be 
considered as part of the Board’s determination of its work programme, 
identified elsewhere on the agenda.    
 
Note:   Councillor P Ewens and Councillor T Murray joined at the meeting 
during discussions on the above item. 
 

5 Work Programme 2008/09  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member Development submitted a report 
requesting that the Board consider formulating a draft work programme. 
 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd July, 2008 

 

The Chair of the Scrutiny Board outlined a desire to undertake two major 
scrutiny inquiries during the course of the municipal year, and made 
reference to the referral from Executive Board regarding the robustness of 
current safeguarding arrangements.  The Board discussed various issues and 
highlighted a number of possible inquiry topics, including: 
 

• Adapations 

• Dignity in Care 

• Implications of an ageing population 

• Respite Care 

• Impact of increasing energy costs on older people 

• Isolation 
 
The Board also discussed the need for regular updates on various topics to 
be included in the work programme for the coming year, including: 
 

• Income generation for community care services 

• Commissioning 

• Homecare provision 

• The outcome of any inspections and service reviews 
 
The Board expressed interest in holding inquiries on the following (to be 
scheduled):- 
 

• Adapations 

• Dignity in Care 
 
RESOLVED -    That the Board’s Principal Scrutiny Adviser, in consultation 
with the Director of Adult Social Services, be requested to update and 
timetable the Board’s work programme with a view to incorporating the above 
Inquiries and reports.  
 
Note:    Councillors D Coupar, J McKenna and T Hanley rejoined the meeting  
at 11.00 a.m. after attending a Call-in meeting of Scrutiny Board 
(Environment and Neighbourhoods). 
 

6 Co-options to the Board  
 

The Head of Scrutiny and Member development submitted a report which 
outlined the provision to allow the appointment of co-opted members to 
Scrutiny Boards.  It was reported that up to five non-voting co-opted members 
could be appointed to the Board for a term of office which did not go beyond 
the next annual meeting of Council and up to two non-voting members for a 
term of office which related to a particular scrutiny inquiry.   
 
Members were informed of previous arrangements for the Scrutiny Board 
(Health and Adult Social Care) and expressions of interest for co-option to the 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care). 
 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 23rd July, 2008 

 

RESOLVED – That the following be co-opted to the Scrutiny Board (Adult 
Social Care) for the 2008/09 Municipal Year: 
 

• Ms Joy Fisher – Alliance of Services Users and Carers. 

• Sally Morgan – equality issues representative (a member of the public 
recruited with a remit to keep matters of equality at the forefront of the 
Board’s discussions). 

 
7 Date and Time of Next Meeting  
 

RESOLVED -  That the following dates and times be noted and approved:- 
 
Wednesday, 23rd July 2008 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 17th September 2008 at 10.0 a.m. 
Wednesday, 15th October 2008 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 12th November 2008 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 10th December 2008 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 7th January 2009 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 11th February 2009 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 11th March 2009 at 10.00 a.m. 
Wednesday, 8th April 2009 at 10.00 a.m. 
 
(Note:   All Pre-meetings to take place at 9.30 a.m. before the meeting)  
 
 
 
The meeting concluded at approximately 11.40 a.m. 
 
 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

EXECUTIVE BOARD 
 

WEDNESDAY, 11TH JUNE, 2008 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R Brett in the Chair 

 Councillors A Carter, J L Carter, 
R Finnigan, S Golton, R Harker, P Harrand, 
J Procter, S Smith, K Wakefield and 
J Blake 

 
   Councillor J Blake – Non-voting advisory member 
 
 

1 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public  
RESOLVED – That the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated exempt on the 
grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted 
or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so designated as 
follows: 
 
a) Appendix 1 to the report referred to in minute 15 under the terms of 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3) and on the grounds that the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information on the basis that disclosure of the information 
could prejudice the Council’s position in commercial negotiations if the PFI 
credits are allocated and the project proceeds. 

b) Appendix C to the report referred to in minute 5 under the terms of Access 
to Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3) and on the grounds that this is 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of the parties 
identified in the report and of the Council. In the circumstances it is felt that 
any negotiations which have already taken place should not be in the 
public domain prior to any future competitive process as this may prejudice 
commercial interests. The Council acknowledges that, whilst there may be 
a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be publicly 
available from the Land Registry following completion of this transaction  
and consequently the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at this point in 
time.    

c) Appendix 3 to the report referred to in minute 23 under the terms of                                 
Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that it is 
considered that since the proposed means of disposal will be through 
inviting offers for the property by public auction, then it is not in the public 
interest to disclose this information at this point in time as this could 
undermine this method of inviting bids and affect the integrity of disposing 
of property by this process. Also it is considered that the release of such 
information would or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial 
interests in relation to other similar transactions in that prospective 
purchasers of other similar properties would have access to information 

Agenda Item 7

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

about the nature and level of offers which may prove acceptable to the 
Council. It is considered that whilst there may be a public interest in 
disclosure, much of this information will be publicly available from the Land 
Registry following completion of this transaction and consequently the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing this information at this point in time. 

d) Appendices E, F and G to the report referred to in minute 24 under the 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds 
that it is considered that its non disclosure outweighs the public benefit of 
disclosure as disclosure could seriously prejudice the outcome of future 
commercial dealings relating to this matter and could result in the Council 
suffering financial loss.  

e) A second report referred to in minute 7under the terms of Access to 
Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) and on the grounds that it contains 
financial and other confidential information relating to the Caddick and 
unsolicited offers.  This information relates to the financial or business 
affairs of those particular companies, and of the Council.  This information 
is not publicly available from the statutory registers of information kept in 
respect of certain companies and charities.  It is considered that since this 
information was obtained either through the negotiations with Caddick, 
which were conducted on a confidential basis, or in relation to the 
unsolicited offer, from the letter of offer which was made to the Council on 
a confidential basis, then it is not in the public interest to disclose this 
information at this point in time as to do so could lead to further competing  
bids from these companies or from the market generally, and in turn this 
would undermine the process for disposing of this site which the Council 
selects and affect the integrity of the disposal process.  It is considered 
that whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, much of this 
information will be publicly available from the Land Registry following 
completion of this transaction and currently there is a greater public 
interest in ensuring that the site is disposed of in a fair and equitable 
manner with no party gaining a commercial advantage over another by 
having details of the likely level of other offers.  Consequently, it is 
considered that in all the circumstances the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at 
this point in time. 

 
2 Declaration of Interests  

Councillors A Carter, J L Carter, Finnigan, Golton, Harker, Harrand, Smith and 
Blake declared personal interests in the item relating to the Primary Capital 
Programme (minute 14) as Primary School Governors. 
 
Councillor Wakefield declared personal interests in the item relating to Leeds 
Local Enterprise Growth Initiative (minute 26) as a member of the Catalyst 
project and in the items relating to the Joint Area Review (minute 11) and the 
review of the Children and Young People’s Plan (minute 12) as a member of 
the Learning and Skills Council. 
 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

Councillor Harrand declared a personal interest in the item relating to  Small 
Industrial Units (minute 24) as an unpaid director of an organisation occupying 
such a unit. 
 

3 Minutes  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 14th May 2008 be 
approved. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
 

4 Deputation to Council - West Yorkshire Animals in Need seeking to ban 
the giving of goldfish as prizes  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report 
responding to the deputation from West Yorkshire Animals in Need to Full 
Council on 9th April 2008.The report detailed the Council’s current position 
with regard to this issue and offered proposals to strengthen that position.   
 
RESOLVED – That approval be given to the insertion of a suitable clause in 
the land licenses provided to operators of events and fairs, to specifically 
prohibit the giving of goldfishes as prizes. 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

5 Deputation to Council - Local Residents Requesting the Council to 
Purchase Sports Facilities at Leeds Girls High School for use by Primary 
Schools and the Local community  
The Director of City Development submitted a report providing a full response 
to the deputation from local residents to Full Council on 16th January 2008, 
following the holding response submitted to Executive Board on 12th March 
2008. 
 
Following consideration of appendix C to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED- That the conclusions of the report be noted and 
(a) That the principle of any public greenspace requirement associated 

with a residential scheme, to comply with UDP Policy, being mainly 
provided at Ford House Garden be supported 

(b) That, over and above what is required by UDP Policy, and subject to it 
being affordable to the Council support be given to negotiations for the 
acquisition of the land south of Victoria Road, for use as informal 
greenspace, through a negotiated agreement, and that officers be 
authorised to continue to investigate this with the school.  

(c) That it be further noted that  any proposal that the Elinor Lupton Centre 
become a licensed premises would not be supported by this Board and 
that the proposed use of the sports hall and swimming pool by a private 
operator with a ‘community access agreement’ would be supported by 
this Board. 

 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

(Councillor Finnigan declared a personal interest in this matter as a member 
of Plans Panel (East) 
 

6 Deputation to Council- Retailers and Residents of Morley regarding the 
number of Charity Shops in Morley Shopping Centre  
The Director of City Development submitted a report responding to the 
deputation from Retailers and Residents of Morley to Full Council on 9th April 
2008.  
 
RESOLVED-  
(a) That the Morley Mayor and traders be advised that, Leeds City Council, 

whilst sympathetic, is not disposed, at this stage, to support a national 
campaign to change national planning legislation, but will continue to 
support town and district centres through a range of positive 
interventions. 

(b) That discussions be held with other local authorities via the Local 
Government Association with a view to identifying any commonality of 
view and that a further report be brought to this Board on the outcome 
of those discussions. 

 
 

7 Quarry Hill, Leeds 9  
Referring to minute 34 of the meeting held on 11th June 2003, the Director of 
City Development submitted a report advising of the current situation relating 
to the disposal of the Council owned site at Quarry Hill.  
 
Following consideration of the second report designated as exempt under 
Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED- 
(a)  That the Director of City Development be authorised to complete the 

disposal of land at Quarry Hill to Caddick Developments Limited on the 
terms reported, subject to the adjustments set out in the report.  

(b) That all decisions relating to the disposal of this site at Quarry Hill be 
delegated to the Director of City Development. 

 
NEIGHBOURHOODS AND HOUSING 
 

8 Activity in the Private Rented Sector regarding Energy Efficiency  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report on the 
current position and activity in relation to energy efficiency measures within 
the private rented sector. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the proposed actions to promote energy efficiency measures in 

the private rented sector as contained in paragraph 5.0 of the report, 
and which build on those undertaken to date, be approved.    

(b) That the discretionary elements of housing benefit provisions be 
examined to determine whether they could be used in a manner which 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

would provide an incentive to landlords to improve energy efficiency in 
their properties. 

 
9 Update on the Supporting People Programme  

The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report 
providing an update on developments relating to the Supporting People 
programme since the Audit Commission inspection in January 2007. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted and that the Director of Environment 
and Neighbourhoods report to this Board on proposals for any changes to 
current governance and funding arrangements relating to the Supporting 
People programme once the Communities and Local Government 
Department confirm what changes they intend to make to the delivery of the 
programme. 
 

10 Under Occupation in Council Housing  
The Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods submitted a report 
providing details of the extent of under-occupation in Leeds, and proposing 
that new incentive schemes be developed to encourage under-occupying 
Council tenants to move to smaller properties to promote best use of housing 
stock. The report also clarified how the Leeds Arm’s Length Management 
Organisations should use Ground 16 powers under the Housing Act 1985 to 
move under-occupying tenants who have succeeded to a Council tenancy 
following the death of the tenant.   
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That approval be given to expenditure of up to £300,000 in 2008/09 

on encouraging under-occupiers in the largest stock to move to more 
appropriately sized accommodation. 

(b) That  the available legal powers to manage under-occupation be 
used in accordance with section 3.3.5-6 of the submitted report. 

(c) That a further report be brought tot the Board in February 2009 
providing a detailed action plan with targets on how incentives for 
under-occupation can be adopted for 2009/10. 

 
CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
 

11 Leeds Joint Area Review  
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report advising of the 
outcome of the inspection and of the formal requirements on actions arising 
from the inspection. 
 
RESOLVED – That the outcome of the Joint Area Review and resultant 
actions to be undertaken be noted and that the Action Plan in that respect be 
brought to the July meeting of the Board. 
 

12 The 2008 Review of the of the Children and Young People's Plan  
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report presenting the 2008 
review of the Children and Young People Plan and seeking endorsement of 
the revised Plan. 

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

 
RESOLVED -  That the 2008 Children and Young People’s Plan Review be 
approved and endorsed. 
 

13 Carlton Primary School - School Hall Extension  
The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on a proposed 
new build extension to Carlton Primary School to provide a new hall and 
kitchen, and associated remodelling works. 
 
RESOLVED –  
(a) That the design proposals be approved and that authority be given 

to proceed with an extension to Carlton Primary School to provide a 
new hall and kitchen, and associated remodelling works; 

(b) That expenditure of £1,008,000 from capital scheme 14130 be 
authorised. 

 
14 Primary Capital Programme Strategy for Change  

The Chief Executive of Education Leeds submitted a report on the proposed 
strategic approach towards renewing primary schools, including prioritisation 
of need, within the first four years, and on the proposed Strategy for Change 
prior to final submission to the Department for Children, Schools and Families. 
 
RESOLVED- 
(a)  That the Strategy for Change formal submission to the DCSF, to 

ensure capital funding is received by Leeds, be approved 
(b)  That specific proposals for school projects for the first two years of the 

programme will be considered by this Board in due course and in 
accordance with usual procedures. 

 
LEISURE 
 

15 Endorsement of Expression of Interest for PFI Credits for Holt Park New 
Leaf Well Being Centre Project  
The Director of City Development submitted a report on an Expression of 
Interest for the Holt Park New Leaf Wellbeing Project submitted to the 
Department of Health.  
 
Following consideration of the appendix to this report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED- 
(a)  That the content of this report be noted and that the submission of the 

Expression of Interest for the Holt Park New Leaf Wellbeing Project be 
endorsed. 

(b)  That approval be given to the combining of the Well Being Leisure 
Project with the New Leaf Well Being Centre Project, under the 
Education PFI Project Board should Credits be allocated for the 
project.  

 

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE 
 

16 Deputation to Council - Access Committee for Leeds Regarding 
Disability Inclusion Through Meaningful Involvement  
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report responding to the 
deputation from the Access Committee for Leeds to Full Council on 9th April 
2008.  
 
RESOLVED 
(a)  That the report be noted 
(b)  That elected members and officers be supported and encouraged to 

work with the Independent Disability Council on a broad range of 
issues concerning disabled people. 

(c)  That the widest possible participation in the debate on the future of 
social care, which is being undertaken by the government over coming 
months be supported and encouraged. 

(d) That the City Council’s commitment to consultation and engagement 
with disabled people, in particular in addressing the major challenges 
to independent living arising from demographic change and the 
increasing costs of personal care, be confirmed. 

 
17 Income for Community Care Services - Proposals for Consultation  

The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report setting out the current 
position of the review of income for non-residential adult social care services 
and on proposals for consultation on options.  
 
RESOLVED- 
(a)  That the contextual information outlined in the report and how it 

impacts on the contributions review be noted. 
(b)  That the context for the consultation process be supported as the need 

to generate more income from service user contributions to improve 
our ability to invest in social care services and to support fairness, 
equity and consistency 

(c) That the contributions options set out in section 8.4 of the report be 
approved as the basis of stakeholder consultation. 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5 Councillor Wakefield 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on this decision) 
 

18 Safeguarding Vulnerable Adults in Leeds  
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report on the work 
underway in the city to strengthen arrangements designed to ensure that 
vulnerable adults in Leeds are adequately safeguarded.  
 
RESOLVED-  
(a) That the report be noted in relation to the revisions to the Safeguarding 

Adults structures in the City and that the content of the annual report 
2007/08, attached to the report be also noted 

(b) That the overall arrangements for Safeguarding Adults in the City be 
referred to the Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) so that consideration 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

can be given to the terms of an enquiry designed to test the strength 
and efficacy of Safeguarding work conducted across the partnership. 

 
CENTRAL AND CORPORATE 
 

19 Council Business Plan 2008-2011  
The Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) submitted 
a report providing information on the development, approach and broad 
content of the Council Business Plan 2008-11, and seeking endorsement of 
the plan prior to its formal approval by Full Council.  
 
RESOLVED 
(a) That the Council Business Plan 2008-11 as attached at Appendix 1 to 

the report be endorsed 
(b) That the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) 

be authorised to update and complete the Council Business Plan with 
any outstanding information prior to its submission for approval to Full 
Council on 2nd July 2008. 

(c) That Council be recommended to approve the Council Business Plan 
2008-11 at their meeting on 2nd July 2008. 

 
20 Corporate Assessment 2008  

The Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) submitted 
a report detailing the outcome of the Corporate Assessment Inspection and 
highlighting the main findings and key issues for action. 
 
RESOLVED -   
(a) That the Corporate assessment report and the action plan as 

attached at appendices 1 and 2 to the report be noted. 
(b) That the proposals outlined in the report for monitoring delivery of 

the action plan be noted. 
 

21 Ward Based Initiatives 2008/2009  
The Director of Resources submitted a report on a proposed Ward Based 
Initiative scheme to allow Elected Members to sponsor capital projects within 
their respective Wards 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted and that expenditure of £990,000 be 
authorised, subject to approvals in line with procedures set out in the 
Guidance Notes attached to the report, and subject to an amendment to those 
notes to make clear the sums of money which can be awarded to such 
schemes. 
 
 

22 Financial Performance - Outturn 2007/08  
The Director of Resources submitted a report on the Council’s financial 
performance for the year ending 31st March 2008, prior to submission of the 
annual accounts to the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee for 
approval, and subject to Audit. 
 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

RESOLVED -   
(a) That the report be noted 
(b) That £300,000 be transferred to the contingency fund in 2008/09 in 

accordance with paragraph 3.4 of the submitted report 
(c) That the additional contributions to and the creation of, earmarked 

reserves of £3,800,000 in respect of the HRA be agreed as outlined in 
the HRA report attached at Appendix 1 to the report 

(d) That the creation of two new General Fund earmarked reserves as 
outlined in paragraph 3.5 of the report be agreed 

(e) The Board noted that right to buy capital receipts that are not 
required in 2007/08 to fund the HRA capital programme have been 
used to fund the general fund, thereby reducing borrowing costs with 
compensating resources to be returned to the HRA programme in 
2008/09. 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5 Councillor Wakefield 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on this decision) 
  
 
 
 
DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION 
 

23 Deputation to Council -Muslim Society of Leeds regarding the future of 
Bentley Primary School  
The Director of City Development submitted a report responding to the 
deputation from the Muslim Society of Leeds to Full Council on 9th April 2008.  
 
Following consideration of appendix 3 to the report designated as exempt 
under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4(3) which was considered in 
private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED- That the request from the Muslim Society of Leeds to acquire 
the former Bentley Primary School for community purposes be noted, but that 
the proposed sale on the open marked in support of the Council’s capital 
programme proceed as soon as possible in this financial year.  
 

24 The Future Ownership and Management of the Council's Small Industrial 
Unit Portfolio, St Ann's Mills/ Abbey Mills, Kirkstall and the Investment 
and Agricultural Property Portfolios  
The Director or City Development submitted a report providing an update on 
the outcome of the partnering / marketing exercises for the SIU portfolio and 
for St Ann’s Mills / Abbey Mills, Kirkstall and setting out the outcomes in the 
context of the current Capital Programme pressures.  
 
Following consideration of appendices E, F and G to the report designated as 
exempt under Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.4 (3) which were 
considered in private at the conclusion of the meeting it was 
 
RESOLVED- 

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

(a) That the Board notes: 
(i) the failure to identify a suitable partner to manage the Council’s 

SIU portfolio 
(ii) the failure to identify a suitable partner and to receive a credible 

offer for St Ann’s Mills, Kirkstall 
 
(b) That disposals in support of the Capital Programme be agreed as 

follows: 
(i) selected miscellaneous investment properties as detailed in 

Appendix E Tables 3a and 3b of the report 
(ii) the farm buildings and gardens, but not the associated farm 

land, of the agricultural properties detailed in Appendix E Table 
2a. 

(iii) the selected small industrial unit properties detailed in Appendix 
E Table 1a (including  St Ann’s Mills, Kirkstall),  subject to 
discussion with ward members on details relating to the 
proposed Ledston Luck disposal 

 
(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5 Councillor Wakefield 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on this decision) 
 
 
 

25 City Centre Vision Conference  
The Director of City Development submitted a report advising of the outcomes 
arising from the City Centre Vision Conference held in January and 
recommending how best to take forward the issues and ideas that emerged.  
 
RESOLVED- 
(a) That the successful outcome of the City Centre Vision Conference and 

the ongoing work regarding the arena, funding and the removal of 
street clutter be noted 

(b) That officers investigate the feasibility of implementing the ‘Big Ideas’ 
from the Conference and the work as proposed in section 5.0 of the 
report 

(c) That the Council work with and consult the Leeds Initiative and other 
partnership groups to help develop more detailed proposals 

(d) That an annual update on overall progress be brought back to this 
Board in January 2009 and that reports on individual projects be 
brought back at the appropriate time. 

 
26 Sharing the Success: Leeds Local Enterprise Growth Initiative (LEGI)  

The Director of City Development submitted a report on progress made on the 
implementation of Sharing the Success, the Leeds LEGI programme.  
 
RESOLVED- 
(a) That the programme as commissioned to date by the programme 

Board be endorsed 

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Wednesday, 16th July, 2008 

 

(b) That decisions on expenditure in line with the approved Officer 
Delegation Scheme be taken by the Director of Development in 
consultation with the LEGI Board 

(c) That further annual reports on progress in implementing the LEGI 
programme be brought to the Board. 

 
27 Kirkgate Market Development Strategy Update  

Further to minute 274 of the meeting held on 18th May 2005, the Director of 
City Development submitted a report detailing the outcome of the public 
consultation regarding Kirkgate Market and inviting consideration of the 
alternatives available for moving the preferred redevelopment option forward.  
 
RESOLVED- 
(a) That the results of the public and tenant and trader consultation be 

noted and that development proposals continue to be advanced on the 
basis of those set out in the consultation document and on the basis of 
the accord shown in the public, tenant and trader opinions as set out in 
section 3 of the report; 

(b) That the informal discussions with the Leeds Partnership be noted; 
(c) That the commencement of an initial three month period of exclusivity 

with the Leeds Partnership in order to identify a suitable development 
option for Kirkgate Market be approved; 

(d) That officers bring back a further report to this Board detailing the 
outcome of the discussions with the Leeds Partnership. 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION   13TH June 2008 
LAST DATE FOR CALL IN (5.00 PM) 20TH June 2008 
 
(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items Called In by 12 noon on 
Monday 23rd June 2008) 
 
 
 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) 
 
Date: 23 July 2008  
 
Subject: Dignity in Care 
 

        
 
 
 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 At its meeting in June 2008, the Board identified ‘Dignity in Care’ as a potential area 
for more detailed consideration by the Board.   

 
1.2 During 2006/07, the then Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult Social Care) carried out 

the scrutiny inquiry, ‘Dignity in Care for Older People’.  The inquiry was undertaken 
between November 2006 and March 2007.  The final inquiry report was published in 
May 2007 and is attached at Appendix 1 for information. 

 
1.3 Since publication of the inquiry report, monitoring of the recommendations has been 

undertaken by the former Board, commencing with the initial response in July 2007 
(Appendix 2).  Subsequent monitoring against the recommendations took place in 
September 2007, December 2007 and March 2008.  Following the monitoring report 
in March 2008, the previous Board resolved to discontinue monitoring due to progress 
against the recommendations being substantively complete.  Appendix 3 summarises 
the monitoring reports by providing the latest progress position reported to the 
previous Board. 

 
2.0 Update on the Dignity in Care Campaign in Leeds 
 
2.1 To supplement the information provided in this report, an update on the Dignity in 

Care Campaign in Leeds is provided elsewhere on the agenda. 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Steven Courtney
  

Tel: 247 4707 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 17



3.0 Capital Grant Funding 
 
3.1 At its meeting in June 2008, the Board also requested an update regarding the 

additional funding secured to support work around the Dignity in Care Campaign in 
Leeds.  A report on the process of selection and allocation of the awarded Capital 
Grant funding is provided elsewhere on the agenda.   

 
4.0 Recommendations 

4.1 The Board is requested to consider the information provided in the attached papers as 
part of its overall consideration of the ‘Dignity in Care’ update and determine whether 
this matter requires any further scrutiny.  

Page 18



Dignity in Care for 
Older People 

 Scrutiny Inquiry Report 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 19



Introduction
and Scope 

Introduction

High quality health and social care
services should be delivered in a 
person-centred way that respects the 
dignity of the individual receiving them. 
However, in acknowledging that older
people in particular are not always
treated with the respect they deserve, 
the Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult
Social Care) agreed to conduct an 
Inquiry into Dignity in Care for Older 
People.

Concerns around services provided to 
older people led to the introduction of a 
National Service Framework (NSF) for 
Older People in March 2001.  The 
Department of Health then published 
‘A New Ambition for Old Age’ in April 
2006, which set out the second stage 
of implementing the NSF.  This 
prioritised the need to ensure older 
people are treated with dignity when 
using health and social care services. 

Terms of reference for the Scrutiny 
Board’s Inquiry were agreed in 
September 2006. The Inquiry
commenced in November 2006 and at 
the same time, the Department of 
Health also launched its Dignity in 
Care campaign.  This campaign aimed 
to stimulate a national debate around 
dignity in care and create a care 
system where there is zero tolerance 
of abuse and disrespect of older
people.

The Department of Health hosted an 
event in Leeds on 6th March 2007 on 
Dignity in Care.

Ivan Lewis MP, Councillor Brenda Lancaster,

Councillor Peter Harrand and Councillor

Andrea Harrison at the DOH Dignity event in

Leeds.

The Minister for Care Services, Ivan 
Lewis MP, attended this event and 
emphasised dignity in care as core 
business fundamental to the way 
organisations deliver services and not
‘another initiative’.   Throughout our 
own Inquiry we have also repeated this
message.  It is important to create a 
zero tolerance of lack of dignity in the 
care of older people, in any care 
setting.  There is a need to inspire and 
equip local people, be they service 
users, carers, relatives or care staff 
with the information, advice and 
support they need to take action to 
drive up standards of care with respect
to dignity for the individual.

We have been very impressed with the 
work already being carried out in 
Leeds to address dignity issues within
health and social care. However, a 
number of recommendations have 
arisen from our own Inquiry to further 
promote the dignity in care agenda 
locally.

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 20



Introduction
and Scope 

Scope the measures in place, or needed,
to ensure particular vulnerable 
groups, such as older people with 
mental health problems, are treated 
with respect for their dignity;

The scope of the Board’s Inquiry was
based on the aims set out with the 
Department of Health’s document ‘A 
New Ambition for Old Age’.  However,
the scope did not extend to the aims 
and principles surrounding dignity at 
the end of life.  Whilst part of a 
continuum of care, it was felt that the 
complexities and sensitivity
surrounding end of life care would 
justify a separate and more detailed 
inquiry.  However, references to best
practice models used nationally, and 
being piloted locally, for end of life care 
of older people were made during the 
Inquiry.

the skills, competence and 
leadership needs of the workforce 
to ensure that older people are 
treated with respect for their 
dignity;

the attitudes of staff, particularly 
when communicating with older 
people;

older people with long-term
conditions and personal care needs 
having  their specific needs met 
while receiving care for other 
reasons in any health or social care 
setting;

The aim of the Inquiry was to make an 
assessment of and, where appropriate,
make recommendations on: 

the measures in place, or needed,
to help raise awareness of the 
dignity agenda amongst health and 
social care providers, staff and 
other stakeholders; 

the role of inspectorates and 
regulators in ensuring the issue of 
dignity is central to their work, so
that breaches of dignity are 
regarded as serious failures; 

whether the needs of older people 
within local hospitals and care 
homes are being met, with 
particular reference to their 
nutrition, privacy and physical 
environments;

 relevant complaints procedures
and whistle blowing policies;

the links to the wider Government
work on equalities and human 
rights.

whether the assessment processes
in place for identifying individual’s
needs adopt a dignified approach;

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 21



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

Defining Dignity 

At the beginning of our Inquiry, it was 
important to gain an understanding of 
what dignity in care actually means.

We found that dignity consists of many 
overlapping aspects, involving 
respect, privacy, autonomy and self-
worth.  Within its own guidance, the 
Department of Health uses a standard 
dictionary definition of dignity:

‘a state, quality or manner worthy of 
esteem or respect; and (by 
extension) self-respect. Dignity in 
care, therefore, means the kind of 
care, in any setting, which supports 
and promotes, and does not 
undermine, a person’s self-respect 
regardless of any difference’.

While ‘dignity’ may be difficult to 
define, what is clear is that people 
know when they have not been 
treated with dignity and respect.

Older people are the main users of 
many health and care services and 
they should be confident that their
dignity will be respected whenever
they receive treatment and care.  Yet
there are often examples of a lack of 
respect for the dignity of older people.
We therefore need to put this right.

The dignity in care agenda

The dignity in care agenda is by its 
nature broad. However there are 
particularly important issues around 
ensuring that service provision around 

communication, personal assistance,
nutrition, privacy and the physical 
environment is all provided in a way
that both recognises the impact that 
these can have on an older persons
dignity and are delivered in a way that 
demonstrates respect for older people. 

As part of our inquiry, we explored 
whether the needs of older people 
within local hospitals and care homes 
are being met, with particular
reference to their nutrition, privacy and 
physical environments.  We conducted 
a number of visits and heard evidence
from senior officers within local NHS 
Trusts, Adult Social Services, Leeds
Older People’s Modernisation Team,
(now called the Older People’s
strategic Partnership and Service 
Development Board), external 
regulators and inspectors and local
organisations representing the views
of older people.  We are extremely
grateful to everyone who has actively
contributed to our Inquiry. 

National Dignity Challenge 

As part of the Department of Health’s
Dignity in Care campaign, the Dignity
Challenge lays out the national 
expectations of what constitutes a 
service that respects dignity of older
people. It focuses on ten different 
aspects of dignity that high quality care 
services should be aiming to achieve.
These are as follows:

1. To have a zero tolerance of all 
forms of abuse 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 22



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

2. To support people with the same 
respect you would want for yourself 
or a member of your family 

Recommendation 1: 
That health and social care 
agencies in Leeds continue to 
raise the profile of the Dignity
Campaign using existing publicity
materials and practice guidance. 

3. To treat each person as an 
individual by offering a 

 personalised service

4. To enable people to maintain the
maximum possible level of 
independence, choice and control 

5. To listen and support people to 
express their needs and wants 

6. To respect people’s right to privacy 

7. To ensure people feel able to 
complain without fear of retribution 

8. To engage with family members 
and carers as care partners 

9. To assist people to maintain 
confidence and a positive self

 esteem 

10.To alleviate people’s loneliness and 
 isolation 

In March 2007, the Department of 
Health hosted a Dignity Event at 
Leeds, which attracted a wide range of 
health and social care agencies in the 
voluntary, statutory and independent 
sectors.  The event was designed to 
enable people to learn from each 
other’s experience and acquire new 
energy and ideas to make a difference. 

DOH Dignity in Care event in Leeds

It is vital that all health and social care 
agencies continue to raise the profile 
of the Dignity Campaign.  The 
Department of Health has made 
available publicity materials and 
practice guidance to help health and 
social care agencies raise the profile of
dignity.  We therefore recommend that
local agencies take advantage of this 
resource.

Championing Change

As well as encouraging support for its 
campaign, the Department of Health 
has also set up a network of Dignity
Champions to encourage 
organisations to discuss how it will 
respond to the Dignity Challenge. 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 23



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

We were pleased to note that in June 
2006, the Leeds Teaching Hospitals
NHS Trust had already established a 
network of 65 dignity champions
across the Trust.  These dignity 
champions are led and supported by a 
nurse consultant for older people’s
services and include nurses, doctors, 
housekeepers, clerks, pharmacists, 
physiotherapists, occupational
therapists, a chaplain and a facilities
supervisor.  These dignity champions
attended a training event covering
issues such as the needs of older
people with mental health problems,
safeguarding adults, nutrition, falls
prevention, discharge and carer 
support.  They are encouraged to 
implement the good practice they have 
learned about in their own areas and 
use the educational material they have 
to teach others. 

Recommendation 2 
That statutory care providers set 
up internal Dignity task groups to 
co-ordinate dignity improvements 
across their organisation or 
incorporate the Dignity role in an
existing senior group.  This 
should be led by an appropriate 
Dignity Champion. 

In welcoming this good practice, we 
recommend that all statutory care 
providers set up internal Dignity task 
groups to co-ordinate dignity
improvements across their
organisation or incorporate the Dignity
role in an existing senior group.  We 
would also advise that this is led by an 
appropriate Dignity Champion. 

Taking forward the dignity agenda 
on a local level 

We are aware that the Leeds Older
People’s Strategic Partnership and 
Service Development Board  is leading 
on a local project to drive forward the 
national dignity agenda and ensure 
that older people are treated with the 
highest standards of dignity when 
using health and social care services
in Leeds.  This project relates to all 
health and social care services used 
by older people in Leeds regardless of 
sector or provider.

We learned that the Leeds project sets 
out to deliver on the following 
objectives:

Collation and analysis of main 
dignity issues for service users and
their carers from local and national 
data

 Identification and dissemination of 
best practice examples to tackle 
dignity issues 
Audit of existing workstreams in the 
city that address older people’s
Dignity in Care issues 
Establishment of a Dignity in Care 
Champions Network for Leeds 
Dignity in Care Event for Leeds 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 24



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

Production and distribution of a 
range of awareness raising 
publicity materials 
Services undertaking the ‘Dignity
Challenge’

We very much welcome the work 
undertaken by the Leeds Older 
People’s Strategic Partnership and 
Service Development Board in 
championing older people’s rights and 
the need for dignity and respect.   It is 
vital that this good work is not lost and 
that dignity in care continues to be 
explicitly addressed once the project 
has ended.

We recommend that the Leeds Older 
People Champions continue to act as
Dignity Champions for the city to 
ensure that good practice 
developments continue to be shared 
between providers.  The Dignity in 
Care Champions Network for Leeds
would be an appropriate mechanism to 
share good practice developments. 

Recommendation 4: 
That relevant local professional 
bodies support policy and 
practice development in their 
sectors in order to promote a 
culture of dignity.

Recommendation 3 
That the Leeds Older People 
Champions continue to act as 
Dignity Champions for the city to 
ensure that good practice 
developments continue to be 
shared between providers. 

Changing attitudes and promoting a 
culture of dignity.

We learned that some of the factors 
that have been held responsible for the 

absence of dignity in care nationally
include bureaucracy, staff shortages, 
poor management and lack of 
leadership, absence of appropriate 
training and induction and difficulties
with recruitment and retention leading 
to overuse of temporary staff. 

We acknowledge that a great deal of
work is needed to tackle negative
attitudes towards older people, to bring 
about a culture change and to ensure
that such attitudes have no place in 
the health and social care sectors.  It is 
vital that respect for dignity is seen as
important by everyone within an 
organisation, from the leadership 
downwards.  We therefore recommend 
that all local professional bodies
support policy and practice 
development in their sectors to help 
promote a culture of dignity. 

Workforce training around dignity 

Treating people with dignity should be 
at the core of all staff working with
older people, whatever the setting and 
whatever other pressures staff may be 
under.   It should be an integral part of 
a person’s day to day role and not be 
regarded as an ‘additional duty’. 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 25



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

Recommendation 5: 
That an appropriate training 
package is developed by the 
Leeds Older People’s Strategic 
Partnership and Service 
Development Team, aimed at front 
line staff, to address and 
challenge attitudes to older 
people.

Recommendation 6: 
That all commissioners of health 
and social care services in Leeds 
incorporate dignity requirements
into contracts and monitor the 
implementation of these 
requirements.

However, as we have already
identified, there is a need to change
attitudes towards older people and this
very much applies to front line staff. 

During our inquiry, we questioned how 
the skills, competence and leadership
needs of the statutory sector workforce 
were being considered to ensure that 
older people are treated with respect
for their dignity. 

We believe that appropriate training 
programmes and career opportunities 
will provide staff with a greater 
understanding of dignity issues and 
make staff feel more valued, which in 
turn will encourage them to show
respect to others.

Whilst we acknowledged the wide 
range of training methods being used 
within different local organisations for
staff, we would prefer that a more 
consistent approach towards dignity
training for front line staff is developed. 
We therefore recommend that an 
appropriate training package, aimed at
front line staff, is developed by the 
Leeds Older People’s Strategic
Partnership and Service Development 

Team to help address and challenge 
attitudes to older people. 

Incorporating dignity requirements 
into service contracts 

The Inquiry identified that as the health 
and social care statutory sector moves
further towards commissioning 
models, and particularly joint 
commissioning, it is vitally important
for commissioners of services to 
ensure that dignity in care is written 
into all contracts as a requirement of 
service delivery.  It is also crucial that 
such requirements are monitored 
effectively by commissioners and that 
penalties are applied where this is not
being met.

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 26



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

Effective complaints procedures 

The monitoring of complaints can be 
an effective method of checking 
whether dignity in care is being 
delivered within a service.  It is
important that staff and managers view 
complaints as a means of ensuring 
that services are being responsive to 
individuals needs, and not seen as a 
threat.  However, we acknowledge that 
some people are reluctant to complain 
in fear being seen as a ‘trouble maker’ 
and being treated differently as a result 
of their complaint.

It is vital that there is a fair, open and 
honest culture around complaints so 
that patients and their relatives and 
carers are able to voice any concerns
regarding a service.  It is equally
important to develop whistle-blowing 
policies that provide opportunities for
staff to express concerns without the 
fear of retribution from an employer. 
Whilst attitudes are changing, a lot still 
needs to be done to ensure that 
workers feel safe to air concerns. 

During our inquiry, we discussed the 
complaints procedures and whistle-
blowing policies within local NHS
Trusts, Adult Social Services and care 
homes within the independent sector. 

Recommendation 7:
That the relevant local professional 
bodies consider the development of 
more consistent and patient focused
complaints procedures and develop 
common standards across health 
and social care services in Leeds. 

We learned that as part of the drive to 
ensure dignity in care, the Department 
of Health issued new regulations in 
September 2006 on complaints
procedures for adult social services. In 
particular, the new procedures have 
shortened the timescales for resolution 

at all stages of the process and now
focus on ensuring less variation 
between local authorities and a more 
consistent response to complainants
against measurable frameworks.

The White Paper, 'Our health, Our 
Care, Our Say' also provides a 
commitment to introduce a single 
complaints process covering both 
health and social care in the near
future.  Standard 16 of the National 
Minimum Standards for Care Homes
also requires that ‘there is a simple,
clear and accessible complaints
procedure which includes the stages 
and timescales for the process, and 
that complaints are dealt with promptly
and effectively’. 

Different procedures can appear 
confusing to a patient when making a 
complaint and therefore we fully
support the need to develop more 
consistent complaints procedures and 
develop common standards across 
health and social care services.  We 
would like to see a more patient
focused complaints procedure with 
clear lines of accountability to patients’ 
safety and dignity. In anticipation of
further guidance arising from the White 
Paper, we encourage local 
professional bodies to consider how 
this can be delivered in Leeds. 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 27



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

Other Internal monitoring 
mechanisms

We particularly welcomed the 
approach taken by the Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust to conduct a 
dignity audit on all its older people’s
wards.  The results of this audit
enabled the Trust to plan the most 
appropriate support and training for 
specific areas in regard to dignity
issues.

We understand that the Commission 
for Patient and Public Involvement is 
developing a national dignity audit
toolkit and are pleased to note that the 
Leeds Older People’s Strategic
Partnership and Service Development 
Team will look to adapt this toolkit 
locally.

In March 2007, the Commission for 
Patient and Public Involvement
published its report ‘Care Watch’ which 
sets out the findings of a national 
survey of patients’ views on the 
privacy and dignity in the NHS. 

128 NHS Trusts in England were
visited by PPI Forums throughout
February and early March 2007.
Forum members asked a total of 2,462 
patients for their views on crucial 
issues which could affect a patient’s
dignity, such as privacy, 
communication and assistance with 
eating.  We also continue to value 
Patient and Public Involvement
Forums in monitoring the standard of 
NHS services and their role should be 

embraced by local NHS Trusts in 
helping to raise the profile of dignity. 

External Regulation and inspection 

Whilst we are encouraging Champions
to drive forward the dignity agenda,
this clearly needs to be combined with
good external inspection and 
regulation processes. 

During our Inquiry, we heard from the 
two relevant external inspectorates for 
health and social care services; the 
Healthcare Commission (HCC) and 
the Commission for Social Care 
Inspection (CSCI). 

The Healthcare Commission explained 
that NHS Trusts need to demonstrate 
compliance towards specific dignity in
care standards as part of the new self 
assessment process, the ‘Annual 
Health Check’.  The Commission
explained that it also responds to 
concerns raised by a variety of 
sources, including Age Concern, the 
Department of Health and its own 
report on care of older patients, Living
well in later life, published jointly in 
March 2006 with the Audit 
Commission and Commission for 
Social Care Inspection. 

We were also informed that during 
2007, the Healthcare Commission will 
be carrying out a review of acute 
services to ensure that older people 
are treated with dignity and respect.
Once completed, a national report will 
be produced which will provide a
commentary on the findings on dignity 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 28



Conclusions and 
Recommendations

in care for older people while in 
hospital and will also provide some 
good practice examples. 

Recommendation 8: 
That the Leeds Older People’s 
Strategic Partnership and Service 
Development Boad ensures that 
any actions, concerns and best 
practices arising from the 
Healthcare Commission’s national 
review of acute services around 
dignity in care is considered by 
the relevant local services. 

Once the Healthcare Commission has
completed its review and reported its
findings, we recommend that the 
Leeds Older Strategic Partnership and 
Service Development Board ensures
that any actions, concerns and best
practices arising from the review is
considered by the relevant local 
services.

With regard to care homes, we learned 
from CSCI that in 2002, the 
government introduced new national 
minimum standards for care homes for 
older people in England.  These 
standards set out the quality of care, 
service and facilities expected from a 
care home.  The role of CSCI is to 
monitor the national minimum 
standards and check the quality of 
care homes.  We considered examples
of CSCI inspection reports to 
understand the types of issues 
monitored in relation to dignity in care. 
All CSCI inspection reports are made 
publicly available on its website to 

promotes an open and accountable 
process of inspection. 

Dignity in care should be 
everyone’s agenda 

Once the focused national and local
campaigns end, it will be vital to 
embed dignity in care in mainstream
activity.

In March 2007, the Government 
launched the 2008/09 Beacon Council 
Scheme for Dignity in Care and invited 
Council’s to apply for beacon council
status.  We have been very impressed
with the extensive work and 
commitment already demonstrated by
Leeds in driving forward the dignity in 
care agenda and therefore we would 
like to see Leeds apply for the beacon 
status for Dignity in Care. 

Dignity in care should be on
everyone’s agenda and we can only 
achieve this by working effectively 
together.

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 29



Evidence

Monitoring arrangements 

Standard arrangements for monitoring the outcome of the Board’s recommendations will 
apply.

The decision-makers to whom the recommendations are addressed will be asked to submit a 
formal response to the recommendations, including an action plan and timetable, normally 
within two months. 

Following this the Scrutiny Board will determine any further detailed monitoring, over and 
above the standard quarterly monitoring of all scrutiny recommendations.

Reports and Publications Submitted 

Report of the Director of Adult Social Services on Dignity in Care for Older People for the 
Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board, 20th November 2006 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust briefing paper on Dignity in Care for the Health and 
Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board, 20th November 2006. 

Extract from ‘A New Ambition for Old Age’ Next Steps in Implementing the National Service 
Framework for Older People A Resource Document from Professor Ian Philp, National 
Director for Older People, Department of Health 

General Hospital Care – Action Plan 2006. National Service Frameworks Older People 
(Standard 4), Long Term Conditions (Quality Requirement 11) 

Feedback: Dignity Listening Event – Leeds, Monday 20 March 2006 

Letter from Professor Ian Philip, Department of Health sent to all Older People’s Champions.
3rd October 2006.

Welcome briefing on the first conference on Championing Change In General Hospital Care 
for Older People - Dignity Matters!  June 2006. 

Programme for Championing Change in General Hospital Care for Older People - Dignity
Matters! - 28th June 2006. 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 30



Evidence

Reports and Publications Submitted (continued) 

Report on safety, privacy and dignity for older people’s mental health services in Leeds
Mental Health Teaching Trust.  20th November 2007. 

Extract from the Care Services Improvement Partnership Report ‘Everybody’s Business:
Integrated mental health services for older adults – a service development guide’.

Report from the Commission for Social Care Inspection ‘Care homes for older people.
National minimum standards’. 

Extract from Department of Health report ‘Care homes for older people -  national minimum
standards’.

Extract from Department of Health report ‘Care homes for older people -  national minimum
standards’.

Briefing note from the Healthcare Commission on dignity in care. 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust procedure for investigating and resolving complaints. 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust hearing staff concerns policy. 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust policy for handling complaints from or on behalf of 
patients.

Leeds Mental Health Teaching NHS Trust framework for personal responsibility and 
guidelines for managers. 

Leeds Mental Health Teaching NHS Trust whistle-blowing policy. 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 31



Evidence

Witnesses Heard 

Mick Ward Head of Strategic Partnerships and Development (Older People and
      Disabled People) 

Mike Evans Chief Officer, Adult Services 
Tracey Cartmell Employee Development Manager, Social Services
Gary Hostick Associate Director, Mental Health Services for Older People, Leeds 

Mental Health Teaching NHS Trust 
Clare Linley Deputy Chief Nurse, Operations, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust
Sally Mansfield Nurse Consultant, Older Peoples Services, Leeds Teaching Hospital 
   NHS Trust
James Woodhead Project Manager, (Older People and Disabled People) 
Susan Chesters Chair of the Older People’s Forum and representative of Residents and 
   Relatives Association
Peter Hodgkinson Director of Leeds Care Association 
Sheila Grant Commission for Social Care Inspection 
Tania Matilainen Area Team Manager, Healthcare Commission
John Holmes Leeds Mental Health Teaching NHS Trust 
Cathy Peacock Head of Patient and Public Support Services, Leeds Teaching Hospitals
   NHS Trust
Karen Dunwoodie Patient Relations Manager, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 

Dates of Scrutiny

20th November 2006 Scrutiny Board Meeting 

1st December 2006 Visit to The Mount, Leeds Mental Health Teaching NHS Trust. 

7th December 2006 Visit to Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust (LGI and St 
    James’ Hospital)

22nd January 2007 Scrutiny Board Meeting 

6th March 2007 Dignity in Care Department of Health Event in Leeds 

Scrutiny Board  (Health and Adult Social Care) – Dignity in Care for Older People Final Inquiry Report  -
Published May 2007 

scrutiny.unit@leeds.gov.uk

Page 32



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
  

L
e
e
d
s
 H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 A
d
u
lt
 C
a
re
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 R
e
p
o
rt
 i
n
to
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 

 
F
o
rm
a
l 
R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 f
ro
m
 L
e
e
d
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 –
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 1
: 
 

T
h
a
t 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
a
is
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
th
e
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 u
s
in
g
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
u
b
li
c
it
y
 m

a
te
ri
a
ls
 

a
n
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 
 

 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
L
e
e
d
s
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 p
o
s
te
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 

§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
D
O
H
 d
ig
n
it
y
 

in
 c
a
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 p
o
s
te
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 

§
 

A
ll 
T
ru
s
t 
c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
a
t 
D
O
H
 

c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 w
e
b
s
it
e
  

A
s
 s
o
o
n
 a
s
 

p
o
s
te
rs
 a
rr
iv
e
 

 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
7
 

 

L
M
H
T
 

§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
L
e
e
d
s
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 p
o
s
te
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 

§
 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
lla
te
d
 t
o
 d
e
fi
n
e
 t
h
e
 r
o
le
 a
 l
e
a
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
 

s
ta
ff
 m
e
m
b
e
r 
in
 e
a
c
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

§
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 E
m
a
il 
n
e
tw
o
rk
 t
o
 d
is
tr
ib
u
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
D
o
H
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 

c
a
rd
s
 t
o
 s
o
m
e
 C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 P
C
T
 

s
ta
ff
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 

C
a
re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

§
 

L
in
k
in
g
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 C
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 

a
n
d
 E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 a
n
d
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 w
o
rk
, 
c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 w
it
h
 C
a
re
 

H
o
m
e
 s
ta
ff
 

§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 p
o
s
te
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 a
n
d
 u
s
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 e
tc
.,
 

§
 

T
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 w
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 f
o
r 
e
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 

a
n
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
, 
D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
 m
u
lt
i 

d
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

§
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 d
is
c
ip
lin
e
s
 

§
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 e
m
a
il 
n
e
tw
o
rk
 t
o
 d
is
tr
ib
u
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

§
 

L
in
k
 d
ig
n
it
y
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 w
o
rk
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 G
o
ld
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
p
a
lli
a
ti
v
e
 c
a
re
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
s
 a
n
d
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 D
y
in
g
 w
o
rk
s
tr
e
a
m
s
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

  S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

 Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 

p
o
s
te
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
  

 F
ro
n
t 
P
a
g
e
 a
rt
ic
le
 o
n
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 r
e
c
e
n
t 

e
d
it
io
n
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
N
e
w
s
 P
a
p
e
r.
  

§
 

T
h
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 b
e
 a
n
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 i
te
m
 o
n
 a
ll 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a
n
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 d
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 

m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 a
n
d
 u
s
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
. 

A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 

p
la
c
e
 b
y
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
a
re
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

 
§
 

D
is
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 p
o
s
te
rs
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
m
a
te
ri
a
ls
 a
n
d
 u
s
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
 e
tc
.,
 

 

Page 33



 
 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 2
  

T
h
a
t 
s
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
a
re
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 s
e
t 
u
p
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
D
ig
n
it
y
 t
a
s
k
 g
ro
u
p
s
 t
o
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
ir
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
r 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 t
h
e
 D
ig
n
it
y
 r
o
le
 i
n
 a
n
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 s
e
n
io
r 
g
ro
u
p
. 
T
h
is
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 l
e
d
 b
y
 a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
. 
 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

•
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
 W

o
rk
s
tr
e
a
m
 

G
ro
u
p
 

•
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
C
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
s
ta
ff
 o
f 
a
ll 

d
is
c
ip
lin
e
s
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 w
o
rk
 a
s
 d
ig
n
it
y
 

c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 

•
 

C
lin
ic
a
l 
E
d
u
c
a
to
rs
 l
e
a
d
in
g
 w
o
rk
 a
t 

lo
c
a
l 
le
v
e
l 

•
 

N
e
w
s
le
tt
e
r 
fo
r 
c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 k
e
e
p
in
g
 

th
e
m
 a
b
re
a
s
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
a
n
d
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

•
 

O
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 c
a
re
rs
 o
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 

c
it
y
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
H
o
s
p
it
a
l 
c
a
re
 g
ro
u
p
, 

p
a
p
e
rs
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 f
ro
m
 t
h
is
 

w
o
rk
s
tr
e
a
m
 a
re
 c
o
m
m
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 b
y
 

th
e
m
 t
h
e
re
 a
n
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 o
th
e
r 
o
ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le
’s
 f
o
ru
m
s
 w
it
h
in
 L
e
e
d
s
 

§
 

D
e
ta
ile
d
 w
o
rk
p
la
n
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
ro
m
 L
T
H
T
 

 
 

L
M
H
T
 

In
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
7
 L
M
H
T
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
h
e
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

P
ri
v
a
c
y
 &
 D
ig
n
it
y
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 o
n
g
o
in
g
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
D
ig
n
it
y
 a
g
e
n
d
a
. 

D
a
te
s
 f
o
r 
fu
tu
re
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a
g
re
e
d
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

•
 

In
it
ia
l 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
 i
n
 

c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 a
n
d
 

E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 a
n
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
 

•
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 N
e
w
s
le
tt
e
r 

•
 

S
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
t 
E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
  

•
 

P
h
il 
C
o
rr
ig
a
n
 n
a
m
e
d
 a
s
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 l
e
a
d
 

•
 

E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 G
ro
u
p
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 a
n
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
 G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
, 
D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 w
it
h
 

m
u
lt
id
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
. 

•
 

T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 d
is
c
ip
lin
e
s
 

§
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 e
m
a
il 
n
e
tw
o
rk
 t
o
 d
is
tr
ib
u
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

  S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
h
ie
f 
O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 A
d
u
lt
s
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 r
o
le
 

o
f 
a
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
. 

•
 

T
h
e
  
A
d
u
lt
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 t
h
is
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
ir
 

w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 t
h
e
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

Page 34



 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 3
  

T
h
a
t 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 a
c
t 
a
s
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
it
y
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 s
h
a
re
d
 b
e
tw

e
e
n
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
. 
 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

M
a
rk
 B
ra
d
le
y
 &
 S
a
lly
 M
a
n
s
fi
e
ld
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
t 

L
T
H
T
 o
n
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 

G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 

C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 s
h
a
re
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

L
M
H
T
 

J
o
h
n
 H
o
lm
e
s
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ts
 L
M
H
T
 o
n
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 

P
e
o
p
le
’s
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 

C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 s
h
a
re
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

•
 

P
C
T
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 m
e
a
n
 n
e
w
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 a
re
 

b
e
in
g
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 

•
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
f 
d
ig
n
it
y
 w
o
rk
 r
e
p
o
rt
 f
o
rw
a
rd
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 

•
 

W
o
rk
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 s
h
a
re
d
 a
s
 g
o
o
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 

•
 

V
a
ri
o
u
s
 m
e
th
o
d
s
 i
.e
. 
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 

n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
, 
u
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
n
d
 

ra
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

•
 

R
e
v
is
e
d
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 

C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 P
E
C
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
 

B
o
a
rd
 

•
 

T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 d
ig
n
it
y
 w
o
rk
, 
s
h
a
re
 a
t 

m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 a
n
d
 v
ia
 e
m
a
il 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
7
 

  S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 

G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 

C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 s
h
a
re
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
. 

 O
th
e
rs
 t
o
 b
e
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 D
ig
n
it
y
 

C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
. 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
to
 w
ri
te
 t
o
 a
ll 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
 i
n
v
it
in
g
 t
h
e
m
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
b
e
c
o
m
in
g
 a
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
. 

   S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

A
ll 
N
H
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 c
h
a
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 T
e
a
m
. 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 T
e
a
m
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 t
h
e
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 

s
h
a
re
d
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 

im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 

Page 35



 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 4
: 
 

T
h
a
t 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
lo
c
a
l 
p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
b
o
d
ie
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 p
o
li
c
y
 a
n
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
ir
 s
e
c
to
rs
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
m
o
te
 a
 c
u
lt
u
re
 o
f 

d
ig
n
it
y
. 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

§
 

H
a
v
e
 a
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 g
ro
u
p
 w
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
rt
y
- 

le
a
fl
e
t 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 s
e
v
e
ra
l 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 g
iv
e
n
 

to
 p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 i
n
fo
rm

in
g
 t
h
e
m
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
 r
o
le
 o
f 
O
T
 

fo
llo
w
in
g
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 

§
 

P
a
ti
e
n
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 d
ie
t 
s
h
e
e
t 
p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

(d
ie
te
ti
c
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 c
o
m
m
it
te
e
) 

§
 

O
T
 f
e
e
d
in
g
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

w
a
rd
s
 a
t 
m
e
a
l 
ti
m
e
s
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
is
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
. 

§
 

D
ie
te
ti
c
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 a
u
d
it
 o
f 
w
a
rd
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
t 

m
e
a
lt
im
e
s
 

§
 

P
ro
te
c
te
d
 m
e
a
lt
im
e
s
 p
o
lic
y
 

§
 

D
ie
te
ti
c
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 m
e
n
u
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
d
ie
ta
ry
 n
e
e
d
s
 (
c
u
lt
u
ra
l,
 r
e
lig
io
u
s
 

a
n
d
 m
e
d
ic
a
l)
 c
a
n
 b
e
 m
e
t 

§
 

P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
d
re
s
s
 c
o
d
e
 

§
 

In
d
iv
id
u
a
lis
e
d
 t
re
a
tm
e
n
t 
p
la
n
s
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
/i
n
te
re
s
ts
 w
h
e
re
v
e
r 

p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

§
 

A
-Z
 D
ir
e
c
to
ry
 o
f 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 

§
 

D
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 t
ra
y
 s
y
s
te
m
 u
s
e
d
 i
n
 s
o
m
e
 a
re
a
s
 

(p
ilo
t)
 

§
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 A
u
d
it
 T
o
o
l 
fo
r 
W
a
rd
 a
re
a
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 

§
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 A
u
d
it
s
 a
re
 n
o
w
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
ll 
C
M
T
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

p
la
n
s
 

§
 

L
iv
e
rp
o
o
l 
C
a
re
 P
a
th
w
a
y
 i
s
 u
s
e
d
 f
o
r 
E
n
d
 o
f 
L
if
e
 

C
a
re
 a
t 
L
T
H
T
 

§
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

§
 

V
a
ri
o
u
s
 a
u
x
ili
a
ry
 a
id
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 

fa
c
ili
ta
te
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 

e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
n
te
rp
re
ti
n
g
 (
B
S
L
 ,
 

D
e
a
fb
lin
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
to
r 
g
u
id
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
p
o
k
e
n
 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
) 

 

§
 

A
s
c
e
rt
a
in
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
tr
a
in
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 
s
ta
ff
. 

§
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
in
c
re
a
s
in
g
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
p
o
lic
ie
s
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

§
 

N
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 p
ri
v
a
te
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t/
tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 r
a
is
e
d
 o
n
 r
is
k
 

re
g
is
te
r 

§
 

O
T
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 C
h
a
p
e
ro
n
in
g
 i
s
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 

§
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
P
ri
v
a
c
y
 

p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

§
 

T
ru
s
t 
N
u
tr
it
io
n
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
 w
ill
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

a
ro
u
n
d
 w
a
rd
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
t 
m
e
a
lt
im
e
s
 –
 t
h
is
 i
s
 a
 

m
u
lt
id
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 g
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 p
a
ti
e
n
ts
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

§
 

R
a
is
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 L
iv
e
rp
o
o
l 
C
a
re
 P
a
th
w
a
y
 

w
it
h
in
/a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

§
 

P
a
ti
e
n
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 f
o
r 
P
h
y
s
io
th
e
ra
p
y
 

§
 

T
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
p
a
ti
e
n
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 

w
it
h
in
 O
T
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

§
 

Im
p
le
m
e
n
t 
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 s
te
m
m
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

J
u
n
e
 C
h
a
m
p
io
n
in
g
 C
h
a
n
g
e
 c
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 

§
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 a
p
p
lie
d
 w
it
h
in
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
H
o
s
p
it
a
l 

C
a
re
 w
o
rk
s
tr
e
a
m
s
 e
.g
. 
n
u
tr
it
io
n
, 
p
ri
v
a
c
y
 

§
 

N
e
w
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 A
d
u
lt
s
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 u
p
o
n
, 
d
u
e
 f
o
r 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 A
u
tu
m
n
 2
0
0
7
 

§
 

A
u
d
it
 T
o
o
l 
b
e
in
g
 e
x
p
a
n
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 o
u
tp
a
ti
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 e
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
ts
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
tw
o
 s
in
g
le
 s
e
x
 w
a
rd
s
 i
n
 B
e
c
k
e
tt
 

W
in
g
 

§
 

N
e
w
 D
re
s
s
 P
o
lic
y
 t
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
 b
y
 T
ru
s
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
B
o
a
rd
 

§
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
w
a
rd
 a
n
d
 d
e
p
a
rt
m
e
n
t 
le
v
e
l 

s
u
rv
e
y
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 a
ll 
in
c
lu
d
e
 d
ig
n
it
y
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
  

§
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
o
n
 a
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
b
a
s
is
 

F
e
b
 2
0
0
8
 

S
ta
rt
e
d
 &
O
n
g
o
in
g
 

 A
s
 r
is
k
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 v
ia
 

c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
 

n
e
tw
o
rk
 

 A
u
d
it
  
A
u
g
.2
0
0
7
 

  O
n
g
o
in
g
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
8
 

 J
u
ly
 0
7
 -
 0
8
 

 o
n
g
o
in
g
 

 A
u
tu
m
n
 2
0
0
7
 

 S
e
p
t.
 2
0
0
7
 

 P
a
p
e
r 
 t
o
 T
ru
s
t 
 

B
o
a
rd
 D
e
c
 2
0
0
7
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
 

 T
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

2
0
0
7
/8
 

 a
n
n
u
a
lly
 

  

Page 36



 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
M
H
T
 

§
 

A
d
u
lt
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

§
 

5
 s
e
n
io
r 
c
lin
ic
ia
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 h
a
v
e
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 2
 d
a
y
 A
P
E
C
 

tr
a
in
in
g
 

§
 

4
8
 C
T
M
s
/C
S
M
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
n
io
r 
c
lin
ic
ia
n
s
 h
a
v
e
 

a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 A
d
u
lt
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 R
a
is
in
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 A
d
u
lt
 

P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 U
n
it
.f
ro
m
 F
e
b
 0
7
 –
 A
p
ri
l 
0
7
. 
 

§
 

C
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 t
e
a
m
 w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 

§
 

P
e
rs
o
n
-c
e
n
tr
e
d
 c
a
re
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
d
 

 

§
 

A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 R
a
is
in
g
 D
ig
n
it
y
 W

o
rk
s
h
o
p
 

§
 

P
e
rs
o
n
-c
e
n
tr
e
d
 c
a
re
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 a
u
d
it
 t
o
o
l 
 

§
 

A
p
p
ly
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 L
T
H
T
 t
o
 L
M
H
T
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

§
 

T
o
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
h
e
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

ra
is
in
g
 w
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 r
a
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 A
d
u
lt
s
 w
it
h
in
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
. 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 t
o
 u
s
e
 f
o
r 

tr
a
in
in
g
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 s
ta
ff
 

§
 

R
o
lli
n
g
 o
u
t 
th
e
 P
e
rs
o
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
d
 A
p
p
ro
a
c
h
e
s
 t
o
 

C
a
re
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

D
e
c
 2
0
0
7
 

D
e
c
 2
0
0
7
 

 im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

D
e
c
 2
0
0
7
 

   S
e
p
 2
0
0
7
 

 D
e
c
 2
0
0
7
 

 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

§
 

E
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

§
 

M
o
d
e
rn
 M
a
tr
o
n
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 M
a
tr
o
n
s
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 s
ta
ff
 o
n
 a
 p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
  

§
 

N
e
w
s
le
tt
e
r 
c
a
p
tu
ri
n
g
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 
c
a
re
 

h
o
m
e
s
 w
it
h
 M
o
d
e
rn
 M
a
tr
o
n
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

M
a
tr
o
n
 i
n
p
u
t 

§
 

S
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 L
C
A
, 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 t
o
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
it
h
 C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
 

S
ta
ff
 

§
 

A
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 L
C
A
 c
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 f
o
c
u
s
in
g
 o
n
 d
ig
n
it
y
 

is
s
u
e
s
, 
s
h
a
ri
n
g
 w
it
h
 c
o
lle
a
g
u
e
s
 

§
 

P
a
ti
e
n
t 
fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
o
rm

s
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 d
ig
n
it
y
 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

§
 

E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 F
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 N
u
tr
it
io
n
 g
ro
u
p
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 d
ig
n
it
y
 w
o
rk
, 
g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
ly
e
r 

b
e
in
g
 d
ra
ft
e
d
 

§
 

D
ra
ft
 a
 n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
r 
c
a
p
tu
ri
n
g
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 f
o
r 

c
a
re
 H
o
m
e
s
 w
it
h
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 M
a
tr
o
n
 i
n
p
u
t 

§
 

S
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 L
C
A
 

§
 

A
p
p
ly
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 L
T
H
T
 t
o
 P
C
T
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

§
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
a
d
v
a
n
c
in
g
 D
ig
n
it
y
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
’s
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

§
 

D
ra
ft
in
g
 a
 d
ig
n
it
y
 a
u
d
it
 t
o
o
l 

§
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
n
 E
s
s
e
n
c
e
 o
f 
C
a
re
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 a
n
d
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 G
ro
u
p
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
ti
n
g
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 

m
u
lt
id
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

§
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 g
o
o
d
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 v
ia
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
, 

n
e
w
s
le
tt
e
rs
, 
e
m
a
il 
a
n
d
 e
v
e
n
ts
  

§
 

S
p
e
c
if
ic
 p
o
s
ts
 c
re
a
te
d
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

d
ig
n
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
, 
ie
 M
a
ri
e
 C
u
ri
e
 D
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 

C
h
o
ic
e
 -
 P
a
lli
a
ti
v
e
 C
a
re
 F
a
c
ili
ta
to
r 
fo
r 
C
a
re
 

H
o
m
e
s
 p
o
s
t,
 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 p
o
s
t,
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 

D
iv
e
rs
it
y
 w
o
rk
e
r 
p
o
s
t 
a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 G
o
ld
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 L
iv
e
rp
o
o
l 
C
a
re
 

P
a
th
w
a
y
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 j
o
u
rn
e
y
 

§
 

W
o
rk
s
h
o
p
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 
e
n
d
 o
f 
y
e
a
r 
fo
r 

p
a
lli
a
ti
v
e
 c
a
re
 i
n
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 s
ta
ff
, 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 M
a
tr
o
n
s
, 
D
is
tr
ic
t 
N
u
rs
in
g
 

§
 

In
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 f
a
c
to
rs
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 

P
C
T
 Q
u
a
lit
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
 

 A
u
g
 2
0
0
7
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

  S
e
p
t 
2
0
0
7
 

 Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

       Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

   A
u
g
 2
0
0
7
 

 A
u
g
 2
0
0
7
 

Page 37



 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

•
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 M
a
tr
o
n
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 s
ta
ff
 o
n
 a
 p
ro
je
c
t 
to
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
. 

•
 
Q
u
a
lit
y
 a
u
d
it
s
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 

is
s
u
e
s
. 

§
 

R
e
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
e
r 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 D
ig
n
it
y
 

C
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 f
a
c
to
rs
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
 D
ig
n
it
y
 A
u
d
it
 T
o
o
l 

fo
r 
c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 L
e
e
d
s
 C
a
re
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

§
 

A
p
p
ly
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 e
ls
e
w
h
e
re
 t
o
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

§
 

R
e
fe
r 
to
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 

O
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
T
h
e
ra
p
y
 (
O
T
 L
e
e
d
s
).
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

A
ll 
N
H
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
§
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 a
n
d
 D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
o
p
le
s
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
s
 t
o
 ‘
D
ig
n
it
y
 t
e
s
t’
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 w
o
rk
s
tr
e
a
m
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 

§
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 s
ta
n
d
in
g
 i
te
m
 a
t 
th
e
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 B
o
a
rd
 

§
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 a
n
d
 D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
o
p
le
s
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
s
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 l
e
a
d
s
 f
o
r 
a
d
u
lt
 g
ro
u
p
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

s
p
re
a
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 a
c
ro
s
s
 a
ll 
a
d
u
lt
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

  im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
a
re
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
 L
C
A
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 G
ro
u
p
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 

th
e
 G
o
ld
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 

C
a
re
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
m
e
m
b
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

§
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
 D
ig
n
it
y
 A
u
d
it
 T
o
o
l 

fo
r 
c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

§
 

S
h
a
ri
n
g
 p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 L
C
A
 

§
 

A
p
p
ly
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 f
ro
m
 L
T
H
T
 t
o
 L
C
A
 p
ro
v
id
e
r 

s
e
tt
in
g
s
 

 

 

Page 38



 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 5
: 
 

T
h
a
t 
a
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 i
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
T
e
a
m
, 

a
im

e
d
 a
t 
fr
o
n
t 
li
n
e
 s
ta
ff
, 
to
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 a
n
d
 c
h
a
ll
e
n
g
e
 a
tt
it
u
d
e
s
 t
o
 o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 
 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

- 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
ta
ff
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
y
 c
it
y
-

w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

D
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
o
n
  

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 

c
it
y
 w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
- 

L
M
H
T
 

- 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
ta
ff
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
y
 c
it
y
-

w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

- 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

- 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
ta
ff
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
y
 c
it
y
-

w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

- 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 C
it
y
 w
id
e
  
tr
a
in
in
g
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
ta
ff
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
y
 

c
it
y
-w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

- 

A
ll 
N
H
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 T
e
a
m
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
/f
a
c
ili
ti
a
ti
n
g
 

th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 i
n
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
’ 
tr
a
in
in
g
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
a
re
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

 
T
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 o
f 
c
it
y
-w
id
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 

m
e
m
b
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 

 

Page 39



 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 6
: 
 

T
h
a
t 
a
ll
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 o
f 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 

im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

§
 

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 t
ru
s
ts
 S
L
A
 

w
it
h
 P
C
T
 

- 
P
C
T
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

ti
m
e
fr
a
m
e
 

L
M
H
T
 

§
 

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 t
ru
s
ts
 S
L
A
 

w
it
h
 P
C
T
 

- 
P
C
T
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 

ti
m
e
fr
a
m
e
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

§
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
 S
L
A
 w
it
h
 

L
M
H
T
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 w
ill
 

in
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 d
ig
n
it
y
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 

m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 P
C
T
/S
L
A
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 

§
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 (
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 

o
f 
u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 t
o
ile
t)
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 f
o
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 C
a
re
 (
C
IC
) 
b
e
d
s
  

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
  

§
 

B
u
ild
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
d
ig
n
it
y
 a
u
d
it
s
 

a
n
d
  
in
to
 f
u
tu
re
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 w
it
h
 h
e
a
lt
h
 c
a
re
 

p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 

§
 

C
IC
 b
e
d
s
 –
 e
x
p
a
n
d
 a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 d
ig
n
it
y
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 f
u
tu
re
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 

§
 

B
u
ild
 d
ig
n
it
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
to
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 w
it
h
 

v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 s
e
c
to
r 

§
 

C
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 m
a
k
e
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
w
a
re
 o
f 
d
ig
n
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
  

 §
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 T
e
a
m
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

 O
v
e
r 
n
e
x
t 
 2
 y
e
a
rs
 

a
s
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
re
 

re
n
e
w
e
d
/ 
re
 

te
n
d
e
re
d
 

      im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

  

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

§
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
G
ra
n
t 
to
 C
a
re
 H
o
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 D
a
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 d
is
tr
ib
u
te
d
 o
n
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

c
ri
te
ri
a
 

§
 

B
u
ild
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
d
ig
n
it
y
 a
u
d
it
s
 

a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
d
ig
n
it
y
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
to
 f
u
tu
re
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 w
it
h
 c
a
re
 h
o
m
e
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
rs
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 

s
e
c
to
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 §
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 T
e
a
m
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

O
v
e
r 
n
e
x
t 
th
re
e
 

y
e
a
rs
 a
s
 n
e
w
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 t
e
n
d
e
re
d
 

o
r 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 

c
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 d
u
e
 f
o
r 

re
n
e
w
a
l 

im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 

Page 40



 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 7
: 
 

T
h
a
t 
th
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
lo
c
a
l 
p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
b
o
d
ie
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
m
o
re
 c
o
n
s
is
te
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
a
ti
e
n
t 
fo
c
u
s
e
d
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 c
o
m
m
o
n
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 L
e
e
d
s
. 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

•
 

R
e
c
e
n
tl
y
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

a
n
d
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
h
ic
h
 

in
c
lu
d
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 w
it
h
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
a
n
ts
 a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 t
h
e
 f
o
rm

a
l 
w
ri
tt
e
n
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
P
A
L
S
 a
llo
w
s
 f
o
r 
a
 m

o
re
 i
n
fo
rm

a
l 

re
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
. 
 

•
 

M
u
lt
is
e
c
to
r 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 

•
 

P
a
ti
e
n
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 a
re
 d
o
n
e
 

re
g
u
la
rl
y
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 h
e
lp
 t
o
 h
ig
h
lig
h
t 
a
n
y
 c
ro
s
s
 

s
e
c
to
r 
d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 

•
 

A
m
e
n
d
e
d
 v
e
rs
io
n
s
 h
a
d
 f
u
ll 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

N
o
w
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 w
e
b
 p
a
g
e
. 

•
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 2
5
 w
d
 t
a
rg
e
t 
in
 6
8
%
 o
f 
c
a
s
e
s
. 
 

P
ro
c
e
s
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
s
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
la
in
a
n
t 

•
 

R
e
a
s
s
u
ra
n
c
e
 g
iv
e
n
 i
n
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 l
e
a
fl
e
t 
a
n
d
 

o
n
 w
e
b
 p
a
g
e
 

•
 

In
te
rn
a
l 
a
u
d
it
 w
it
h
 C
M
T
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 i
n
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
. 
 N
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
 o
f 
c
a
p
tu
ri
n
g
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

ta
k
e
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
. 
 R
o
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

p
a
ti
e
n
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 s
ta
rt
e
d
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
7
. 

•
 

C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 l
e
a
fl
e
t 

d
is
p
la
y
e
d
/a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

•
 

A
 n
e
w
  
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 i
s
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 D
o
H
 a
n
d
 a
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 t
a
k
in
g
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 a
 s
in
g
le
 

c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 s
y
s
te
m
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 o
p
e
ra
te
 a
c
ro
s
s
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
. 
It
 a
im
s
 t
o
 o
ff
e
r 
a
 m

o
re
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 

O
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 w
e
 w
ill
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 

o
u
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
a
ti
e
n
ts
/p
u
b
lic
 t
e
n
a
b
le
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 

•
 

P
a
ti
e
n
t 
S
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t
h
is
 i
s
 a
 

p
ro
b
le
m
 

•
 

R
e
lie
s
 o
n
 C
M
T
s
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 w
o
rk
 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
tl
y
. 

•
 

T
e
a
m
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 A
d
v
a
n
c
e
d
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

c
o
u
rs
e
. 

•
 

N
e
w
 P
A
L
S
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 

O
T
/P
T
/D
ie
te
ti
c
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 

A
u
d
it
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

•
 

R
e
g
u
la
r 
a
g
e
n
d
a
 i
te
m
 f
o
r 
te
a
m
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
. 

 

 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r
u
n
s
 

to
 O
c
t 
2
0
0
7
 

   T
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
2
0
0
8
 

L
M
H
T
 

 
§
 

F
e
e
d
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 &
 D
ig
n
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 L
M
H
T
 

C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 P
o
lic
y
 R
e
v
ie
w
 

D
e
c
 2
0
0
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

•
 

A
g
re
e
d
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
w
it
h
 L
T
H
T
 f
o
r 
m
ix
e
d
 s
e
c
to
r 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 w
h
e
re
 e
le
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
P
C
T
 a
n
d
 

L
T
H
T
 c
a
re
 a
re
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 

•
 

L
ia
is
o
n
 w
it
h
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 o
n
 

m
ix
e
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

•
 

C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 l
e
a
fl
e
t 

d
is
p
la
y
e
d
/a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 

C
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 s
in
g
le
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 s
y
s
te
m
. 

•
 

R
o
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
p
a
ti
e
n
t 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 

s
u
rv
e
y
s
 a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 f
o
rm

s
 

Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

 Im
m
e
d
ia
te
 

Page 41



 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 s
ta
tu
to
ry
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 f
o
r 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
. 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
, 
L
T
H
T
 a
n
d
 L
M
H
T
 C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 

a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 p
ro
to
c
o
ls
, 
th
e
 

fo
c
u
s
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 i
t 
e
a
s
ie
r 
fo
r 

p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
la
in
 a
b
o
u
t 
th
e
ir
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
s
 o
f 

u
s
in
g
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
ir
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
s
o
lv
e
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
, 

s
p
e
e
d
ily
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

§
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
a
n
d
 L
T
H
T
 C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
to
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 i
n
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
7
 t
o
 

d
is
c
u
s
s
 P
ro
to
c
o
l 
fo
r 
M
a
n
a
g
in
g
 M
ix
e
d
 S
e
c
to
r 

C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
. 
 P
ro
to
c
o
l 
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
b
e
in
g
 

fi
n
a
lis
e
d
. 

§
 

J
o
in
t 
P
ro
to
c
o
l 
fo
r 
m
a
n
a
g
in
g
 m

ix
e
d
 S
e
c
to
r 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 a
n
d
 

L
M
H
T
 a
ls
o
 i
n
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
b
e
in
g
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
. 

C
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 M
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 h
a
v
e
 a
lr
e
a
d
y
 

e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 d
ra
ft
 p
ro
to
c
o
ls
. 

A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
7
 

     A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
7
 

A
ll 
N
H
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
§
 

E
n
s
u
re
 l
in
k
s
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 O
u
r 
H
e
a
lt
h
 O
u
r 
C
a
re
 

O
u
r 
S
a
y
 p
o
lic
y
 o
n
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
, 
i.
e
. 

th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 2
0
0
9
 o
f 
a
 c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 

s
in
g
le
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 s
y
s
te
m
 a
c
ro
s
s
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
. 

 

L
e
e
d
s
 C
a
re
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

 
§
 

P
ro
m
o
te
 c
o
m
p
lia
n
c
e
 a
m
o
n
g
s
t 
m
e
m
b
e
rs
 w
it
h
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 

§
 

P
ro
v
id
e
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 c
la
ri
ty
 t
o
 s
e
c
to
r 
o
n
 

c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

§
 

P
ro
m
o
te
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 b
y
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 

 

 

Page 42



 
R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 8
: 
 

T
h
a
t 
th
e
 L
e
e
d
s
 O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
’s
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
B
o
a
rd
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
n
y
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 a
n
d
 b
e
s
t 

p
ra
c
ti
c
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
c
u
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 d
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 c
a
re
 i
s
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

re
le
v
a
n
t 
lo
c
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

P
la
n
n
e
d
 A
c
ti
v
it
y
 

T
im
e
s
c
a
le
 

L
T
H
T
 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
 (
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
) 

O
n
c
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
, 
e
n
s
u
re
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
d
 i
n
to
 L
T
H
T
  

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

L
M
H
T
 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
 (
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
) 

O
n
c
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
, 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 L
M
H
T
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 b
y
 

L
M
H
T
 P
ri
v
a
c
y
 &
 D
ig
n
it
y
 S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G
ro
u
p
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P
C
T
 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
 (
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
) 

O
n
c
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
, 
id
e
n
ti
fy
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
 w
it
h
in
 S
L
A
’s
 w
it
h
 

a
c
u
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 i
n
 f
u
tu
re
 S
L
A
’s
. 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

A
ll 
N
H
S
 a
n
d
 L
A
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

A
w
a
it
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 r
e
p
o
rt
 (
e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
) 

O
n
c
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
’s
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
, 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 

B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
c
a
re
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 I
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
 

 

Page 43



Page 44

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 

Dignity in Care Report (Published May 2007) 
 

Formal Response received July 2007; updates received September 2007, 
December 2007 and March 2008. 

 
Please Note 
Following the Board’s meeting in March 2007, it was deemed that actions arising from 
the scrutiny inquiry report had been substantively completed and no further monitoring 
was subsequently undertaken. 
 
A summary of the latest reported position against each of the recommendations detailed 
in the scrutiny inquiry is detailed below: 
 

Recommendation 1 
We recommend that health and social care agencies in Leeds continue to raise 
the profile of the Dignity Campaign using existing publicity materials and 
practice guidance. 
 

The joint response received at the July meeting detailed existing and planned activities 
which have now been completed by LPFT, LTHT, Leeds PCT, Leeds Care Association 
and Adult Social Care Services. Drafts of posters were shown to the Board at the July 
meeting. 
 

Position reported in December 2007: 
The posters are now on display across the city and there have been articles on the 
poster campaign in each organisation’s newsletters, bulletins and websites. 
 
Achieved December 2007 

 

Recommendation 2 
We recommend that statutory care providers set up internal dignity task groups 
to co-ordinate dignity improvements across their organisation or incorporate the 
dignity role in an existing senior group. This should be led by an appropriate 
dignity champion. 
 

Position reported in December 2007: 
Internal dignity task groups have been set up to co-ordinate dignity improvements as 
follows: 
LPFT has established the Older People’s Mental Health Service Privacy and Dignity 
Steering Group.  
LTHT has set up the Dignity Workstream Group. There is an annual conference for 
staff of all disciplines to support work as Dignity Champions. 
Leeds PCT has established a lead on establishing a Privacy and Dignity Essence of 
Care Group. Practice and Professional Development links to each service/wedge have 
been identified at Dignity Champions. Specific posts have been created within the PCT 
which will incorporate dignity issues, i.e. Marie Curie Delivering Choice – Palliative 
Care Facilitator for Care Homes post, Education Post, Equality and Diversity worker 
posts. 
In Adult Social Care Services the dignity role has been incorporated into an existing 
senior group, the Adult Management Group. The Chief Officer – Adults undertakes the 
role of Dignity Champion. 
 
Achieved December 2007 

 

Page 45



 

Recommendation 3 
We recommend that the Leeds Older People’s Champions continue to act as 
Dignity Champions for the city to ensure that good practice developments 
continue to be shared between providers. 
 
Position reported in December 2007: 
LPFT,  LTHT and Adult Social Care Services gave their continued commitment to this 
in the formal response in July and are all represented on the Older People’s 
Champions Group. The PCT has since identified senior members of staff in both Care 
Services and the Strategic Commissioning Directorates as Dignity Champions. 
 
Achieved December 2007 

 
Recommendation 4 
We recommend that relevant local professional bodies support policy and 
practice development in their sectors in order to promote a culture of dignity. 
 
The formal response in July detailed existing and planned activity in this area. At the 
update in September 2007, work on the Dignity Audit Tool was still outstanding. 
 
Position reported in March 2008: 
The Dignity Audit Tool has now been launched and a press release issued.  
The findings from the project will be used to develop better practice and to help plan 
better services for older people in Leeds. 
 
Achieved March 2008 

 

Recommendation 5 
We recommend that an appropriate training package is developed by the Leeds 
Older People’s Strategic Partnership and Service Development Team, aimed at 
front line staff, to address and challenge attitudes to older people. 
 
Position reported in December 2007: 
The Dignity in Care agenda is being mainstreamed in Adult Social Care and NHS 
learning and development activities. A city wide training programme has been 
developed and elements of this will be delivered from November 2007- May 2008, with 
further sections being developed and rolled out. The programme consists of briefing 
sessions, presentations to key Boards and Committees, a major conference on 
Safeguarding Dignity and Choice, training courses and publicity to disseminate the 
messages for practitioners from the health, social care and voluntary/independent 
sector as widely as possible. Elements of the programme include the following: 

• Safeguarding Dignity and Choice Conference. 
In September a presentation was given to Safeguarding Adults Committee on 
the Safeguarding Dignity and Choice Conference. Dignity in Care is a central 
theme in this important multi agency event, taking place on 8th January 2008, 
with 200 delegates from health, adult social care and the independent/voluntary 
sector. A Dignity in Care workshop will be delivered by members of the Strategic 
Partnerships and Development (Older People and Disabled People) Team.       

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 46



 

• Continuing Care Training 
From October 2007-May 2008 briefing sessions are being delivered for 
practitioners and their managers on the new continuing care decisions and 
support tool. Dignity and choice are mainstreamed within the briefing sessions. 
The first briefing session was recently delivered to 60 hospital social workers 
and their managers. 
 

• Integrated Assessment Skills Training for front line fieldwork staff.  
This two-day training concerns Assessment, Dementia and Risk Assessment 
skills for experienced workers focussing on strengths based practice. Dignity in 
care has been included within this. This will be delivered in early 2008.  
 

• Workshops are planned for end of year for palliative care in care homes which 
will incorporate dignity issues for care home staff, Community Matrons and 
District Nursing. 

• Following the citywide launch of the leaflet ‘Assessment – Identifying Barriers – 
the Social Model Approach’ a number of courses have been organised and run 
for Social Workers and Occupational Therapists during 2007.   

 

• Disability Equality Training – briefing sessions are being organised to equip 
residential, day-care and fieldwork staff in working with disabled people using a 
social model approach. This will be delivered in 2007-2008. 
  

• Workplace based learning - The support of workplace based learning with NVQ 
assessment, provision of individual and group learning materials (training packs, 
videos, books etc.) is becoming increasingly important.  The Dignity in Care 
agenda will be introduced to NVQ candidates as part of their fast track NVQ 
programmes from October 2007.  

 
Achieved December 2007 

 

Recommendation 6 
We recommend that all commissioners of health and social care services in 
Leeds incorporate dignity requirements into contracts and monitor the 
implementation of these requirements. 
 
Position reported in September 2007: 
The response detailed the commitment to carry out this recommendation from the PCT 
and Adult Social Care, as new contracts are tendered/existing contracts renewed over 
the next 2-3 years. 
 
Achieved September 2007 

 

Page 47



 

Recommendation 7 
We recommend that the relevant local professional bodies consider the 
development of more consistent and patient focussed complaints procedures 
and develop common standards across health and social care services in Leeds. 
  
Position reported in March 2008: 
Adult Social Care has  developed a draft Protocol which has been circulated to health 
colleagues for comment. It recommended that, as opposed to having separate 
protocols for individual agencies, there should be a general one which should cover all 
agencies. 
It has been suggested that, because of the proposed changes to the statutory 
complaints procedure i.e. a single procedure between Social Care Services and Health 
and recognising complaints which at times cover all health agencies, there should be a 
West Yorkshire protocol instead of a Leeds protocol. In view of this, it has been 
suggested that the draft paper be tabled at the West Yorkshire Complaints Managers 
Network meeting on 11th December 2007.  
If accepted, the new protocol will then go back through individual agencies’ 
governance procedures for final agreement. 
Events have moved forward nationally. Plans for a new streamlined health and social 
care complaints system were announced in Feb 2008, with early adopter sites trialling 
this before national rollout in April 2009. 
The Board might wish to monitor progress with the early adopters and national rollout. 
 
Recommendation no longer relevant – Stop Monitoring March 2008 

 

Recommendation 8 
We recommend that the Leeds Older People’s Strategic Partnership and Service 
Development Board ensures that any actions, concerns and best practices 
arising from the Healthcare Commission’s national review of acute services 
around dignity in care are considered by the relevant local services. 
Formal response from all partners gave commitment to carrying out this 
recommendation once the review report was published.  
 

Position reported in December 2007: 
 

The review report, entitled ‘Caring for Dignity: A national report on dignity in care for 
older people while in hospital’ has now being published: September 27th 2007 
The previous 2006 publication ‘Living well in later life’ highlighted the lack of dignity 
and respect for older people in acute hospitals as a major area of concern. As a result 
of this, the DoH decided to focus on dignity as a key theme in the annual health check 
for 2006/2007 and to undertake a targeted inspection programme to assess the extent 
to which NHS trusts are meeting the Government’s core standards relating to dignity in 
care for hospital inpatients. 
 

The assessments highlighted a number of trusts (Leeds was not looked at) that were at 
risk of non-compliance with the core standards relevant to providing dignity and 
respect for patients in their declarations for the 2006/2007 annual health check.  The 
DoH found 35 trusts to be at highest risk and, of these, 12 were already being pursued 
on dignity as part of other routine follow-up activity. As a result, 23 trusts were 
identified as requiring more detailed scrutiny, which involved interviews with staff at 
various levels and observation of one ward for the elderly and one with a mixture of 
elderly and non-elderly people in each site visited. At least one ward was visited during 
mealtimes. 

Page 48



 

The key aspects they observed during the inspection visits were: 

• the ward environment, including privacy issues  

• mealtime activity  

• the behaviour of staff 
Following the visits, they assessed the trusts on a five-point scale and issued 
notification letters to those trusts that were found to be at risk of non-compliance with 
one or more standards. These trusts were expected to reflect this in their declarations 
for the 2006/2007 annual health check. 
 
Based on the scrutiny against standards and the issues identified by other evidence, a 
number of key themes emerged as the essential elements for ensuring that older 
people were being provided care in a way that was dignified and that matched their 
personal needs while in hospital. The themes identified were: 

• involving older people in their care  

• delivering personal care in a way that ensures dignity for the patient  

• having a workforce that is equipped to deliver good quality care  

• strong leadership at all levels  

• supportive ward environment 

Overall, the DoH was encouraged by evidence that acute trusts are making efforts to 
respond to concerns about delivering care that respects dignity.  However, there is no 
room for complacency and NHS acute trusts must embed an approach to care that 
ensures dignity for patients. Although they found no major breaches of national 
standards, there is still a considerable need for improvement in many areas and the 
DoH have made the necessary recommendations in the report ‘Caring for dignity’. 
(available at: 
http://www.healthcarecommission.org.uk/serviceproviderinformation/reviewsandstudies
/studies/dignityincare.cfm ) 
  
Not surprisingly, considering the focus Leeds has given to Dignity in Care, much of the 
content of this report is already in the workplan of the General Hospital Care Group 
action plan. 
 
The group has looked at the report and is auditing itself against all the 
recommendations to ensure that specific aspects are being picked up within the range 
of workstreams across Acute Care. 
 

Achieved December 2007 

 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Head of Strategic Partnerships and Development 
(Older People and Disabled People) – Leeds PCT 
 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) 
 
Date: 23rd July 2008 
 
Subject: Update on Work in Leeds on the Dignity in Care Campaign 
 
 

        
 
 
Executive Summary 

On 1st July this year, Leeds won the national NHS Health and Social Care Award 2008 for its 
work on Dignity in Care  The award was based on our work to raise the standards of dignity 
across Health and Social Care in the city through 4 approaches:  
 
 Firstly, fostering cultural change: Including a poster (and now postcard) campaign depicting 
older people in Leeds and their expectations from services. Older people were interviewed 
and chose an image of themselves in varied settings.  
 
 Secondly, achieving 'top-to-bottom' organisational action: The Scrutiny Board Inquiry in 
2007, conducted into Dignity in Care across all relevant Leeds organisations, was itself 
highlighted as an example of good practice. The Inquiry has ensured that organisations 
developed action plans to meet the scrutiny recommendations (which have been reported 
back to Scrutiny Board) and organisations have set up internal task groups for 
implementation.  
 
Thirdly, in relation to the development and rolling out of Dignity Audit Tools with action plans. 
Audit tools were developed and used to drive up standards on hospital wards whereby 
patients, carers and staff provided information and feedback and improvement plans were 
agreed with ward managers. A second phase, in partnership with Age Concern, involves 
groups of older people carrying out audits in care homes.  
 
Finally, beginning to use Dignity as an outcome measure, for example in the  allocation of 
capital grant (details of which are provided in a companion report): Older people set the 
bidding criteria and assisted in the selection process for the care home grant. Performance 
Indicators have now been developed, related to the Dignity Standards, and these are to be 
used within contracts with care providers. 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

x 

Originator: M Ward 
 
Tel:    

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Page 51



1.0 Purpose of the Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Scrutiny Board for Adult 
Social Care on the Dignity in Care campaign in Leeds. 

 
2.0 Introduction 
 
2.1 Over the past few years, ongoing consultation with older people in Leeds had 

identified 'being treated with respect and dignity' as a priority. In response, in 
summer 2006, Leeds City Council’s Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board 
began an inquiry into Dignity in Care issues in the city. This coincided with the 
Department of Health Dignity in Care campaign launch. The aim of the project that 
followed was to ensure that older people are treated with the highest standards of 
dignity when using health and social care services in Leeds. It was agreed that there 
was massive potential benefit to current and future users of services. It was planned 
to achieve this through: 

 

◊ Raising the profile of Dignity in Care issues with older people, the public and 
care staff 

◊ Collating, sharing and publicising best practice 

◊ Co-ordinating implementation of the Scrutiny Board recommendations 

◊ Ensuring that Dignity in Care continues to be explicitly addressed after the 
end of the project 

 
2.2 The Leeds Dignity in Care Scrutiny Inquiry Report stated: 

 
"High quality health and social care services should be delivered in a person-centred 
way that respects the dignity of the individual receiving them. However, in 
acknowledging that older people in particular are not always treated with the respect 
they deserve, the Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult Social Care) agreed to 
conduct an Inquiry into Dignity in Care for Older People". 
 
Therefore a drive to change, and to harness existing commitments from staff and 
organisations, was generated from both Older People and Councillors - a strong 
alliance for implementing active change. 

 
3.0 Background 
 
3.1 The project was overseen by the Leeds Older People's Champions Group consisting 

of older people's representatives, Councillors and staff from all major Health and 
Social care organisations in the city including the voluntary and independent sector. 
Specifically: 

 

◊ A poster campaign involved service users and their carers in deciding their 
image and their quotes for the posters and involved a range of statutory, 
voluntary and independent sector providers (for access to their provision) 

 

◊ The Scrutiny Inquiry involved informing elected members about the national 
and local Dignity campaign so that they were, and are, in a better position to 
challenge senior officers from the main Health and Social Care provider and 
commissioning organisations about how well they meet the Dignity Challenge. 
The inquiry also included CSCI and the Healthcare Commission. The 
recommendations made by the Scrutiny Board were responded to by all the 
organisations (co-ordinated through the Partnership Team) in the form of 

Page 52



action plans involving staff at all levels. Organisational task groups involved 
staff in devising solutions to Dignity issues. In this way, Dignity issues are 
brought to the fore and focussed action starts from senior management 
through to front-line staff. 

◊ The Hospital Dignity Audit Tool was developed through local consultation with 
patients, carers, ward staff and managers and a review of national 
documentation and media highlighted issues to ensure that it encompassed 
the broadest spectrum of Dignity issues that impact on the patient experience 
of general hospital 

◊ care (ranging from whether the patient's preferred name is used to whether 
staff are aware of whistle blowing arrangements). In carrying out the audit, 
patients, carers, staff and managers have the opportunity to provide 
information. The results of the audits are transformed into action plans for 
improvement by ward managers 

◊ and staff and wider issues are brought to the attention of senior management 
for action. The Care Home Audit Tool is being developed by a group from the 
voluntary sector, Adult Social Care Managers, and NHS organisations. Older 
people, who are to be supported by Age Concern, will conduct the audit in 
independent and local authority care homes and agree improvement plans 
with providers. 

◊ Adult Social Care Commissioners worked in partnership with the Older 
People's Champions Group and Older People's organisations to define the 
criteria for allocating the DoH care home capital grant. Older people's 
organisations were represented on the selection panel and only bidders who 
could demonstrate a real impact on Dignity were short listed and selected. 

 
4.0 Main Issues 
 
4.1 A range of care settings were identified for photos; service users and carers 

approached for consent; interviews conducted with service users re. their dignity 
priorities; photo sessions conducted; posters designed; posters consented to by 
service users; posters printed and distributed to a broad range of venues and 
organisations, Framed set of posters officially presented to CEO's of all partner 
organisations with accompanying articles/photographs in Newsletters. These have 
now being reprinted as a set of 6 postcards, which have been widely distributed in 
Leeds 

 
4.2  As a result of the Scrutiny Board Inquiry Dignity task groups were set up in 

organisations; Action Plan for each organisation agreed; review of action plans 
conducted to ensure organisations were sticking to their implementation Examples of 
implementation include the delivery of Dignity training and the setting up and use of 
a Local Dignity E mail Network. 

 
4.3 Hospital dignity audit tool devised and tested based on a number of sources; 

mechanism for conducting the audits agreed; audits conducted in phases; audit 
outcomes translated into action plans for improvement. The Care Home dignity audit 
tool is now being devised based on the hospital tool; with Age Concern 
commissioned to co-ordinate the work; older people are to be trained to conduct the 
audits; This is an ongoing one year project started April 2008 with an aim to have 
older people recruited and trained by September 2008. 
 

4.4 Bidding criteria for DoH capital grant was agreed between the Local Authority, Older 
 People's Champions and older people. Members of the Scrutiny Board are provided 
 with the Chief Officer – Social Care Commissioning’ detailed report on the 
 process and allocation of the grant monies and illustrations of it’s use.   

Page 53



4.5 Draft Dignity in Care Performance Indicators were developed for inclusion in older 
 people's mental health contract between the PCT and Leeds Partnership 
 Foundation Trust. Within Adult Social Care, the 10 Dignity Challenges have now 
 been included as part of the Specification for the care service contract as part of the 
 Learning Disabilities Independent Living PFI scheme. Also, work is shortly to 
 commence on adapting the dignity audit tool so that it can be used with domiciliary 
 care contracts. This work will be undertaken in conjunction with Service Users. 
 
5.0 Initial Outputs 
 
5.1 The dignity audit tool has identified privacy and dignity issues as perceived by 

patients. The results of the audits and action plans have enabled staff to be 
empowered to make the changes that are required as necessary to improve the 
standards of Dignity in the health and social care services that they provide. In this 
way, staff can offer solutions in terms of working practices, training packages and the 
development of policies & procedures to tackle dignity and privacy issues.  

 
5.2 A Major dignity and safeguarding event was held for Leeds service users and staff , 

one of the workshops addressed dignity concerns in care settings and how staff 
could change practice. Examples of issues addressed were - staff entering 
bedrooms or private spaces without permission, assisting people with toileting and 
hygiene requirements in a more personal and respectful manner, environmental 
issues including personal preference for isolation or socialisation, staff leadership, 
organisation and numbers. All workshop attendees took away an issue which they 
were personally going to address in their work area. Patients and service users 
benefit from a raised awareness within services of the responsibility to provide care 
in a manner that maintains the dignity of the recipient of the service. For example, 
the internal task group set up within Leeds Partnerships Foundation Trust, ensured 
that representation across all older people's services was secured and that staff 
were made aware of their dignity responsibilities. 
 

5.3 The Dignity posters and postcards have been displayed in a wide range of care and 
other settings (e.g. GP practices, Nursing Homes, Day Services, Housing Offices, 
Neighbourhood Networks, and libraries etc.) to ensure that: 

a) Front-line care staff are aware of the strong dignity messages that older 
people in Leeds are communicating. 
b) Older people, carers and the wider public are aware that they should 
expect high standards of dignity when receiving care services and should 
not tolerate second best.  
 

5.4 To this end, the posters are raising expectations and thereby driving up standards. 
 Adult Social Care have now translated the postcards into leaflet form and are 
 distributing this to all Community Support staff. The work on developing 
 Performance Indicators, based on meeting the 10 Dignity Challenges, will be able to 
 be used as a base line for monitoring how well we are meeting our aspirations in 
 regard to the Dignity Campaign. 
 
6.0 Conclusion 
 
6.1 The overall impact that the campaign in Leeds is having can be demonstrated by not 

only the winning of the National Award, but also that we are now being used an 
example of good practice across the country.  

 
 
 

Page 54



6.2 Finally, and crucially, the campaign in Leeds has always had older people at it’s 
heart, as can be shown in the following statement from Susan Chesters: 

 
“I am the Chair of Leeds Older People's Forum which represents over 100 older 
people's groups in Leeds. The Forum has been an active partner in the Dignity 
campaign, from its inception through to the present. I sat on the selection panel to 
select innovative 'Dignity bids' for care home capital grant money and alongside 
other older people, have been involved in the development of the hospital Dignity 
Audit Tool. 
 
I have witnessed that Leeds has taken up the challenge of the Dignity in Care 
initiative with enthusiasm. We have Dignity Champions among front-line staff as well 
as managers across all services, each making a real difference. 
 
At the same time an energetic advertising campaign, including innovative and 
powerful posters, encourages older people themselves to demand their right to be 
treated with the respect they so richly deserve. 
 
It is with pride, as I travel about Leeds, that I see these posters displayed in libraries, 
GP practices and community centres” 

 
7.0 Recommendation 

7.1 Members of the Scrutiny Board are requested to note the contents of this update 
and progress report. 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Chief Officer – Social; Care Commissioning 
 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) 
 
Date: 23rd July 2008 
 
Subject: Capital Grant for Improving the Care Home Environment for Older People 
2007/2008 
 

        
 
 
1.0 Purpose of the Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Scrutiny Board for Adult 
Social Care of the process of selection and allocation of the Capital Grant money 
awarded to the Council by the Government for 2007/2008. Appended to the report is 
a schedule setting out the homes in which the grant has been expended (or where 
work is underway), a number of illustrations are offered demonstrating material 
improvements which have been made as a consequence. 

 
2.0 Background Information 

2.1 In December 2006 the Secretary of State for Health announced there would be 
provision of a grant to Local Authorities in 2007/2008 to enhance the physical 
environment in care homes registered to provide nursing or personal care where the 
majority of places are for older people (including Local Authority Care Homes) 
Leeds City Council was awarded a grant of £1,040,000 for this purpose. The Grant 
was to be used for capital expenditure projects to improve and enhance the physical 
environment in which residential and nursing care is provided for older people as a 
consequence of the Authority discharging its functions pursuant to Section 21 of the 
National Assistance Act 1948. (Provision of accommodation). 

 

2.2 The process of deciding how the grant was to be allocated was not prescribed by 
the Government therefore Commissioning Officers from Adult Social Care were 
tasked with devising and implementing a distribution process and selection criteria. 
From the outset, one of the key principles established was to ensure that dignity (the 
requirements of which are detailed in a companion report) and quality of care were 
adopted as the basis for all the decisions about the distribution of the grant. The 
purpose of the grant was to help older people living in care homes to do so with 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: M Phillott 
 
Tel:  2243442  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Page 57



dignity and to enable care homes to be more responsive to the needs of older 
residents. 

 
2.3 The government laid down some criteria for allocation of the grant in that: 
 

• Improvements should directly benefit residents – improvements of areas that 
are exclusively used by staff would therefore be inappropriate; 
 

• Improvements should not be of such magnitude as to prompt a demand for 
increased fees; 
 

• Care home providers should be given a degree of discretion and flexibility in 
making the intended improvements.  However, they should maintain a clear 
audit trail of their decision-making processes, which can be made available if 
requested. 
 

• The grants are not intended to enable large-scale or expensive 
redevelopments which benefit only a small number of care homes. 
 

• The grant should not unreasonably favour homes owned by the Authority itself 
 

3.0 The Grant Allocation Process 

3.1 During January 2007, the Council undertook a consultation exercise with its major 
partners over the distribution of the Capital Grant money. Those consulted included 
Leeds Care Association, partner organisations in the independent and directly 
provided sectors and the Residents and Relatives Association. Discussions were 
also held, at this time, with the local dignity champions in the Primary Care Trust. 

3.2 From the consultation, a set of local criteria were established to evaluate grant 
applications from care homes. In addition, an allocation panel was established 
comprising officers from Adult Social Care Commissioning, the local dignity 
champions from the PCT and the Chair of the Leeds Older People’s Forum. 

3.3 In February 2007, the Council wrote to all residential and nursing care homes for 
older people, to invite them to submit an application for grant funding for a capital 
project of their choice. Care homes were informed that grant funding should support 
improvements that would make the greatest difference to the quality of life of 
residents.  For example, projects might have included: 

• Upgrading dining rooms to improve food intake. For example by providing 
screening to provide privacy ; 

• Redecorating or upgrading residents’ bedrooms to individual residents choice 
in order to engender a sense of self-worth; 

• Upgrading bathrooms and toilets to make them less institutionalised, enhance 
self-care and promote independence and privacy; 

• Improving gardens or outside spaces used by residents, to encourage outdoor 
exercise and activities; 

• Alterations that would give the residents greater privacy. 

• Providing information technology that benefits older residents, for example 
residents’ access to internet, email etc 

• Equipment and/or alterations to promote exercise.  
 
 But could not include projects such as: 
 

• Refurbishment of staff rest rooms or other facilities not used by residents; 

• Staff training or any other revenue activity; 

Page 58



• Medical equipment such as syringe drivers, monitors etc, which do not have an 
impact on the physical environment;  

• Routine maintenance that offers no noticeable improvement in the care 
environment (e.g. boiler replacement). 

 
Individual care homes could make a minimum bid to the value of £5000 for projects 
within their home. 

3.4 By the closing date of 14th March 2007, the Council had received 76 bids from 
independent sector care homes and 19 bids from local authority run establishments.   

4.0 Allocation of the grant 

4.1 The Grant Allocation Panel met over a number of days in March 2007 to consider the 
bids that had been submitted. The panel used the locally agreed criteria to select 
successful bid applications. Part of that criteria included an analysis of each homes 
latest CSCI report on the outcomes of their inspection of the home against the 
National Minimum Standards and evidence that the home had consulted with 
residents prior to making the bid. As bids had been received totalling in excess of £2 
million, in some cases the total amount allocated was less than that bid for, to enable 
the whole grant to benefit as many residents in Leeds, as possible. Where the 
amount awarded was less, the Council sought assurance from the bidder about what 
works would be completed for the money allocated. 

4.2 Members of the Scrutiny Board can see which homes were allocated the grant, 
together with the amount allocated and what it was to be used for, in the table shown 
in Appendix 1. In Appendix 2, members of the Board can see where a bid was 
rejected and the reason for that rejection.  

4.3 The Department of Health was kept informed of the allocation process and the 
outcome of the evaluation process and approved all grant allocations the Council 
had made.  

4.3 Where a home was successful in their application, they were required to enter into a 
standard grant agreement with the Council approved by the Finance division of 
Corporate Services . 

5.0 Outcome of the Capital grant Work 

5.1 As part of the grant process, commissioning officers within Adult Social Care have 
monitored the completion of the works undertaken as part  of the grant funds 
allocated. Photographs have been taken of work undertaken before and after and 
payments have only made to the homes once works have been observed to have 
been completed. 

5.2 Examples of the works that have been completed are included in Appendix 3 in the 
form of before and after pictures. 

6.0 Recommendation 

6.1 Members of the Scrutiny Board are requested to note the contents of this report, its 
appendices and illustrations. 

Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 G
R
A
N
T
 F
U
N
D
IN
G
 A
P
P
L
IC
A
T
IO
N
S
 2
0
0
7
 -
 A
C
C
E
P
T
E
D
 

  

H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

A
b
e
rf

o
rd

 H
a

ll 
O

a
k
w

o
o
d
 G

re
e
n
, 

L
e
e

d
s
, 

L
S

8
 2

Q
U

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
1
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r,

 C
a
rp

e
ts

/f
lo

o
ri
n
g
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

 t
o
 a

 w
a
lk

 i
n
 

s
h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o
m

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

A
c
a
c
ia

 C
o
u
rt

 
C

ra
w

s
h

a
w

 H
ill

, 
P

u
d
s
e

y
, 

L
S

2
8
 7

B
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
3
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

L
a
rg

e
 T

V
's

, 
D

V
D

 l
ib

ra
ry

, 
g

a
rd

e
n
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d

 
e
x
te

n
d
 l
iv

in
g
 s

p
a
c
e
. 
C

re
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
S

n
o
e

z
e

lu
m

. 
 

D
in

in
g
 r

o
o
m

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 o
r 

s
o
fa

s
. 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
in

e
m

a
 s

ty
le

 T
V

’s
, 
im

p
ro

v
e

 
g
a
rd

e
n
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t,
 e

n
h

a
n
c
e
 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
liv

in
g
 s

p
a
c
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 

s
e
n
s
o
ry

 g
a
rd

e
n
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

A
le

x
a

n
d

e
r 

C
a
re

 
H

o
m

e
 

V
ic

to
ri

a
 R

d
, 
M

o
rl
e

y
, 

L
e
e

d
s
, 

L
S

2
7
 9

J
J
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
3
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
te

n
d

 d
in

in
g
 r

o
o
m

, 
c
re

a
ti
n

g
 c

a
fe

te
ri
a
 s

ty
le

 d
in

in
g

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
. 
 C

re
a
te

 e
x
it
 f

ro
m

 n
e

w
 a

re
a

 t
o
 p

a
v
e
d

 
p
a
ti
o
. 

£
3
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
te

n
d

 d
in

in
g
 r

o
o
m

, 
c
re

a
ti
n

g
 

c
a
fe

te
ri
a
 s

ty
le

 d
in

in
g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
, 

c
re

a
te

 e
x
it
 f

ro
m

 n
e
w

 a
re

a
 t

o
 

p
a
v
e
d
 p

a
ti
o
. 
 

 

D
e
la

y
e

d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
. 
 W

o
rk

 t
o
 

c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
 J

u
ly

 2
0
0
8

 

A
m

b
e
r 

L
o
d
g
e
 

2
1
 T

h
o
rn

h
ill

 R
d
, 

L
S

1
2
 4

L
L
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
3
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

L
a
rg

e
 T

V
's

, 
D

V
D

 l
ib

ra
ry

, 
g

a
rd

e
n
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d

 
e
x
te

n
d
 l
iv

in
g
 s

p
a
c
e
. 
C

re
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
S

n
o
e

z
e

lu
m

. 
£
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
la

rg
e
 c

in
e
m

a
 s

ty
le

 
T

V
’s

, 
im

p
ro

v
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 e

n
h

a
n
c
e
 e

x
te

rn
a

l 
liv

in
g

 
s
p
a
c
e
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

A
m

b
e
rt

o
n
 C

o
u
rt

 
L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 

T
h
o
rn

 M
o
u
n
t,

 G
ip

to
n
 L

S
8
 

3
L
R

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

G
re

e
n
h
o

u
s
e
, 

w
a
te

r 
fe

a
tu

re
, 

g
a
rd

e
n
s
 l
ig

h
ts

, 
n
e

w
 

p
la

n
ts

/p
o
t.

  
F

is
h
 T

a
n
k
, 
ra

d
io

s
 f

o
r 

in
d
iv

 b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
, 

k
it
c
h
e
n
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 (

te
a

/c
o
ff

e
e
 m

a
k
e
r,

 s
m

a
ll 

fr
id

g
e
) 

£
1
5
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

F
is

h
 t
a
n
k
, 
k
it
c
h
e
n
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
, 

o
ri
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

A
s
h
c
ro

ft
 H

o
u
s
e
 

1
8
 L

e
e
d
s
 R

d
, 

B
ra

m
h
o
p
e
, 

L
S

1
6
 9

B
Q

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
6
,1

5
0
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 d

é
c
o
r 

a
n

d
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 i
n

 d
in

in
g
 r

o
o
m

. 
R

e
-

c
a
rp

e
t/
d
e
c
o
ra

te
 l
o
u

n
g

e
 a

re
a
 i
n
c
 n

e
w

 c
h

a
ir
s
 &

 
c
o
ff

e
e
 t
a
b

le
s
 

£
6
,1

5
0
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 d

é
c
o
r 

a
n

d
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 i
n

 
d
in

in
g

 r
o
o
m

, 
re

-c
a
rp

e
t/
d
e
c
o

ra
te

 
lo

u
n
g
e
 a

re
a
 i
n
c
 n

e
w

 c
h
a

ir
s
 &

 
c
o
ff

e
e
 t
a
b

le
s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

A
s
h
c
ro

ft
 L

o
d
g

e
 

3
1
 S

tr
e
e
t 

L
a
n

e
, 
R

o
u
n

d
h
a

y
, 

L
S

8
 1

B
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

in
 d

o
w

n
s
ta

ir
s
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

. 
 R

e
-

s
u
rf

a
c
e
 d

ri
v
e
. 

 L
a

p
-t

o
p
 c

o
m

p
u
te

r 
fo

r 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 u
s
e
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

in
 d

o
w

n
s
ta

ir
s
 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

, 
re

-s
u
rf

a
c
e
 o

u
ts

id
e
, 

la
p
-t

o
p
 c

o
m

p
u
te

r 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

A
s
h
fi
e
ld

 
3
 A

s
h
fi
e

ld
, 
W

e
th

e
rb

y
, 

L
S

2
2
 7

T
F

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 w
e
t 

ro
o
m

. 
 P

u
rc

h
a
s
e
 

ra
m

p
s
 t
o
 a

llo
w

 f
ro

n
t 
fo

o
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 f

ro
n
t 
g
a
rd

e
n
. 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

 t
o
 a

 
w

e
t 
ro

o
m

 w
it
h
 s

h
o

w
e
r,

 p
ro

v
id

e
 

ra
m

p
s
 t
o
 f
ro

n
t 
g
a
rd

e
n
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

A
s
h
la

n
d
s
 

4
1
 M

a
in

 S
tr

e
e
t,
 M

e
th

le
y
, 

L
S

2
6
 9

J
E

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 &

 
E

M
I 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

A
lt
e
r 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

 t
o
 c

re
a
te

 a
n
 e

a
s
ie

r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 a

re
a
, 

w
id

e
r 

e
n

tr
a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 s

lid
in

g
 d

o
o
rs

. 
 

C
e
n
tr

a
lly

 p
la

c
e

d
 b

a
th

. 
 M

o
o

d
 l
ig

h
ti
n

g
, 
&

 a
u

d
it
o
ry

 
s
y
s
te

m
. 
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

A
lt
e
r 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

, 
m

o
o
d
 

lig
h
ti
n
g
 &

 a
u
d

it
o
ry

 s
y
s
te

m
. 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

B
ra

n
d

o
n
 H

o
u
s
e
 

T
o
n
g
u
e
 L

a
n
e
, 

L
S

6
 4

Q
D

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 &

 
E

M
I 

£
7
5
,5

0
0
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 c

o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
, 

3
 n

e
w

 p
la

s
m

a
 T

V
's

 +
 

F
re

e
v
ie

w
. 

C
re

a
te

 a
 s

e
c
u
re

 r
e
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
. 

E
x
te

ri
o
r 

L
ig

h
ti
n
g
, 
C

re
a
te

 h
a

ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 r

o
o
m

, 
re

fu
rb

is
h
 1

0
 

b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
, 
c
re

a
te

 n
e

w
 w

a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r,

 1
0
 e

le
c
tr

ic
 

p
ro

fi
lin

g
 b

e
d
s
, 
D

in
in

g
 A

re
a

. 

£
4
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
, 
s
e
c
u
re

 r
e

a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
, 

w
a

lk
 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

 
 

W
o
rk

 h
a
s
 s

ta
rt

e
d
 b

u
t 

d
e
la

y
e

d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 G

a
s
 

w
o
rk

s
. 

B
ro

o
k
la

n
d
s
 

1
6
 H

a
rp

e
r 

L
a

n
e
, 

Y
e

a
d
o

n
, 

L
S

1
9
 7

R
R

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
6
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
te

n
d

/i
m

p
ro

v
e
 g

ro
u
n

d
 F

lr
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 t
o
ile

ts
. 

A
lt
e
r 

e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
 h

a
ll 

a
n
d

 s
ta

ir
c
a
s
e
 t

o
 a

llo
w

 s
ta

ir
 l
if
t 
to

 b
e
 

fi
tt
e
d
. 
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
te

n
d

/i
m

p
ro

v
e
 g

ro
u
n

d
 f

lo
o

r 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 t
o
ile

ts
  

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

Page 61



H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

B
u
rl

e
y
 W

ill
o
w

s
 

W
ill

o
w

 G
a
rt

h
, 

L
S

4
 2

H
L
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
8
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

P
a
ti
o
 d

o
o
rs

, 
e

le
c
tr

ic
 a

w
n
in

g
, 
g
a
rd

e
n
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
, 

la
n

d
s
c
a
p
in

g
 &

 s
e
a
ti
n
g

. 
 R

e
fu

rb
is

h
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
 -

 
re

p
la

c
e
 s

in
k
, 
c
u
p
b
o
a
rd

 &
 t

ile
s
 i
n
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 

R
e
p
la

c
e
 f

lo
o
r 

c
o

v
e
ri

n
g
, 

c
u
rt

a
in

s
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 i
n
c
 

b
e
d
s
. 
C

o
n

v
e
rt

 1
0
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
 i
n
to

 e
n
-s

u
it
e
 (

5
 

d
o
u
b

le
 r

o
o
m

s
, 
s
h
a
re

d
 e

n
s
u

it
e
).

  
N

e
w

 f
lo

o
r 

c
o
v
e
ri

n
g
, 
c
u
rt

a
in

s
 t

o
 f

ro
n
t 
e

n
tr

a
n
c
e
 a

n
d
 i
n
s
ta

ll 
v
is

it
o
rs

 t
o
ile

t.
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

P
a
ti
o
 d

o
o
rs

, 
e

le
c
tr

ic
 a

w
n
in

g
, 

g
a
rd

e
n
 l
ig

h
ti
n

g
, 

la
n

d
s
c
a
p
in

g
 &

 
s
e
a
ti
n

g
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

C
h
a
rl
to

n
 C

o
u
rt

 
4
7
7
-4

7
9
 B

ra
d
fo

rd
 R

d
, 

P
u
d
s
e

y
, 

L
S

2
8
 8

E
D

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 f

lo
o
ri

n
g
 a

n
d

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 i
n
 d

in
in

g
 r

o
o
m

. 
 M

a
k
e
 

k
it
c
h
e
n
 m

o
re

 o
f 

a
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 o

n
e
 (

m
ic

ro
w

a
v
e
, 

fr
id

g
e
, 
k
e
tt
le

 &
 t
o

a
s
te

r 
e
tc

).
  

B
u

ild
 l
a
rg

e
 c

o
v
e
re

d
 

te
rr

a
c
e
 i
n

 g
a
rd

e
n
 w

it
h

 w
id

e
 p

a
th

 l
e

a
d
in

g
 u

p
 t

o
 i
t.

  
G

re
e
n
h
o

u
s
e
. 
 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

M
a
k
e
 k

it
c
h
e
n
 m

o
re

 o
f 

a
 

d
o
m

e
s
ti
c
 o

n
e
 (

m
ic

ro
w

a
v
e
, 

fr
id

g
e
, 
k
e
tt
le

 &
 t
o

a
s
te

r 
e
tc

).
b
u
ild

 
la

rg
e
 c

o
v
e
re

d
 t

e
rr

a
c
e
 i
n
 g

a
rd

e
n
 

w
it
h
 w

id
e
 p

a
th

, 
 g

re
e

n
h
o

u
s
e
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

C
o
lt
o
n
 L

o
d
g

e
s
 

2
 N

o
rt

h
w

o
o

d
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
, 

L
S

1
5
 9

H
H

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 &

 
E

M
I 

£
1
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
m

u
lt
i 
s
e
n
s
o
ry

 r
o

o
m

. 
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

re
m

in
is

c
e
n
c
e
 a

re
a
. 
T

h
e
m

e
d
/a

g
e
 

a
p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 a
rt

w
o
rk

 i
n
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
a
re

a
s
. 
In

d
iv

 
T

V
/s

 &
 D

V
D

 c
o
m

b
o
 i
n

 b
e

d
ro

o
m

s
. 
F

is
h
 T

a
n
k
. 
 

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

 l
a
m

p
s
 i
n
 l
o
u
n

g
e
 a

re
a
. 
R

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

g
u
e
s
t 
fl
a
t.

 O
u
td

o
o
r 

fu
rn

is
h
in

g
s
. 
 

£
1
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
m

u
lt
i 
s
e
n
s
o
ry

 r
o

o
m

, 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

re
m

in
is

c
e
n
c
e
 

a
re

a
, 
th

e
m

e
d
/a

g
e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 
a
rt

w
o
rk

 i
n
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
a
re

a
s
, 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
l 
T

V
/s

 &
 D

V
D

 c
o
m

b
o
 i
n
 

b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 
fi
s
h
 t
a
n
k
, 
s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 
la

m
p
s
 i
n
 l
o

u
n
g

e
 a

re
a
. 

re
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

g
u
e
s
t 
fl
a
t.
 

O
u
td

o
o
r 

fu
rn

is
h

in
g
s
. 
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

C
o
ri
n
th

ia
n
 

H
o
u
s
e
 

6
5
 G

re
e
n

 H
ill

 L
a

n
e
, 

L
S

1
2
 

4
E

Z
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 

£
9
,5

0
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 g

ra
s
s
y
 a

re
a
. 
C

re
a
te

 c
o
u
rt

y
a

rd
 a

re
a
. 
 

£
9
,5

0
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 g

ra
s
s
y
 a

re
a
. 
C

re
a
te

 
c
o
u
rt

y
a
rd

 a
re

a
. 
 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

D
o
lp

h
in

 M
a
n
o
r 

S
to

n
e
 B

ri
g
 L

a
n

e
, 
R

o
th

w
e
ll 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
2
0
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

P
a
ti
o
 d

o
o
rs

, 
e

le
c
tr

ic
 a

w
n
in

g
, 
g
a
rd

e
n
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
, 

la
n

d
s
c
a
p
in

g
 &

 s
e
a
ti
n
g

. 
 R

e
fu

rb
is

h
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
 -

 
re

p
la

c
e
 s

in
k
, 
c
u
p
b
o
a
rd

 &
 t

ile
s
 i
n
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 

R
e
p
la

c
e
 f

lo
o
r 

c
o

v
e
ri

n
g
, 

c
u
rt

a
in

s
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 i
n
c
 

b
e
d
s
. 
C

o
n

v
e
rt

 1
0
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
 i
n
to

 e
n
-s

u
it
e
 (

5
 

d
o
u
b

le
 r

o
o
m

s
, 
s
h
a
re

d
 e

n
s
u

it
e
).

 A
d
d

 c
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
 

a
n
d
 p

a
ti
o
 a

re
a
, 

la
n

d
s
c
a
p
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 .
  
F

it
 h

a
n
d
ra

il 
to

 
o
u
te

r 
g

a
rd

e
n
, 
s
m

a
ll 

p
a
ti
o
 a

n
d
 s

e
a
ti
n

g
 a

re
a
. 

S
e
c
u
ri
ty

 g
a
te

 a
n

d
 p

a
ti
o

 d
o

o
r 

to
 2

 s
m

a
ll 

lo
u
n

g
e
s
. 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

P
a
ti
o
n
 d

o
o
rs

, 
a

w
n

in
g
, 

g
a
rd

e
n
 

lig
h
ti
n
g
, 

la
n
d
s
c
a
p

in
g
 &

 s
e
a

ti
n
g
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

D
o
n
is

th
o
rp

e
 

H
a
ll 

S
h
a

d
w

e
ll 

L
a
n

e
, 
L

S
1

7
 6

A
W

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 &

 
E

M
I 

£
1
8
,2

5
1
.0

0
 

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
n
 e

x
tr

a
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

 
£
1
8
,2

5
1
.0

0
 

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
a
n
 e

x
tr

a
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

D
y
n

e
le

y
 H

o
u
s
e
 

1
0
 A

lle
rt

o
n

 H
ill

, 
L

S
7
 3

Q
B

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

M
o
d
e
rn

is
a
ti
o
n

 &
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

1
0

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 e
n
-

s
u
it
e
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

M
o
d
e
rn

is
a
ti
o
n

 &
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

1
0
 r

e
s
id

e
n
ts

 e
n
-s

u
it
e
 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

E
lm

w
o
o

d
  

3
 W

e
th

e
rb

y
 R

d
, 
L

S
8

 2
J
u
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 

£
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
 S

u
m

m
e
r 

H
o
u
s
e
. 
F

it
 F

re
n
c
h
/p

a
ti
o
 d

o
o
rs

 
in

 s
m

o
k
in

g
 &

 d
in

in
g
 r

o
o
m

s
. 
R

e
la

n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 p

a
ti
o
 

a
re

a
. 
W

a
te

r 
fe

a
tu

re
. 
C

o
m

p
u
te

r,
 w

e
b
c
a
m

 &
 

in
te

rn
e
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
. 
 R

e
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

s
a
te

lli
te

 
k
it
c
h
e
n
. 
 

£
9
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
 s

u
m

m
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
, 
fi
t 

fr
e
n
c
h
/p

a
ti
o

 d
o

o
rs

 i
n
 d

in
in

g
 

ro
o
m

. 
R

e
-l
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e

 p
a
ti
o
 a

re
a
. 

W
a
te

r 
fe

a
tu

re
. 
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

F
e
rn

d
a

le
 

B
ri
ta

n
n

ia
 R

o
a
d
, 

L
S

2
7
 0

D
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
6
,1

2
4
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 s
m

a
ll 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 s
h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o
m

. 
 A

ll 
fi
x
tu

re
s
 a

n
d
 f

it
ti
n
g
s
, 
ti
le

s
 e

tc
..
  

£
6
,1

2
4
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 s
m

a
ll 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 
s
h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o
m

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

G
le

d
h

o
w

 
C

h
ri
s
ti
a

n
 

1
4
5
/1

4
7
 B

ra
c
k
e
n
w

o
o
d

 
D

ri
v
e

, 
G

le
d
h

o
w

, 
L

e
e
d
s
, 

L
S

8
 1

S
F

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
1
6
,8

0
0
.0

0
 

L
ig

h
ti
n
g
, 
s
h

o
w

e
r/

B
O

C
K

 s
y
s
te

m
, 
C

a
rp

e
ts

 &
 l
o
u

n
g
e
 

fu
rn

it
u
re

 
£
1
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

In
te

rn
a

l 
lig

h
ti
n
g
, 

s
h
o

w
e
r/

B
O

C
K

 
a
d
a
p

te
d
 b

a
th

 s
y
s
te

m
. 
 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

Page 62



H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

G
le

d
h

o
w

 L
o
d
g

e
 

5
1
-5

3
 G

le
d

h
o

w
 W

o
o
d
 R

d
, 

L
S

8
 4

D
G

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

B
u
ild

 s
in

g
le

 r
o

o
m

 e
x
te

n
s
io

n
, 
1
3
 s

q
 m

. 
w

it
h
 d

o
u

b
le

 
w

id
th

 g
la

s
s
 d

o
o
r,

 w
it
h
 h

e
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
. 

 2
 

v
e

lu
x
 r

o
o
m

 w
in

d
o

w
s
 i
n

 a
d
ja

c
e
n
t 
s
it
ti
n
g

 r
o
o
m

. 
 

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

B
u
ild

 s
in

g
le

 r
o

o
m

 e
x
te

n
s
io

n
, 
1
3
 

s
q
 m

. 
w

it
h
 d

o
u

b
le

 w
id

th
 g

la
s
s
 

d
o
o
r,

 w
it
h
 h

e
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
. 
 

2
 v

e
lu

x
 r

o
o
m

 w
in

d
o

w
s
 i
n
 

a
d
ja

c
e
n
t 
s
it
ti
n
g
 r

o
o
m

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

G
ra

n
g
e
 C

o
u
rt

 
C

h
u
rc

h
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
, 
L

S
2
5

 
1
H

G
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
6
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

B
u
ild

 c
o

n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
. 
 I

n
s
ta

ll 
2
 F

re
n
c
h
 d

o
o
rs

. 
P

ro
v
id

e
 w

h
e
e
l 
c
h
a

ir
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 f

ro
m

 d
in

in
g

 r
o
o
m

 i
n
to

 
c
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
/g

a
rd

e
n
. 
In

s
ta

ll 
h
e

a
ti
n
g
, 
c
e

ili
n

g
 f

a
n
 &

 
lig

h
ts

 i
n
 c

o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
. 
W

h
e
e
lc

h
a

ir
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 

p
a
ti
o
 a

n
d
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 f
o
r 

c
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
. 
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

F
re

n
c
h
 d

o
o
rs

, 
w

h
e

e
lc

h
a

ir
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 g

a
rd

e
n
/p

a
ti
o
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

G
ro

v
e
 C

o
u
rt

 
1
5
 C

a
rd

ig
a
n
 R

d
, 

H
e
a
d

in
g

le
y
, 

L
S

6
 3

A
E

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
1
2
,6

6
8
.0

0
 

In
s
ta

ll 
s
ta

ir
 l
if
t.
  
C

o
n

v
e
rt

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 
in

d
e
p
e

n
d
e

n
t 
s
h
o

w
e
r 

fa
c
ili

ty
, 
w

it
h
 a

d
a
p
te

d
 

h
a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t.
  

£
1
2
,6

6
8
.0

0
 

In
s
ta

ll 
s
ta

ir
 l
if
t,
 c

o
n

v
e
rt

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

 
in

to
 i
n

d
e
p

e
n
d

e
n
t 
s
h
o

w
e
r 

fa
c
ili

ty
, 

w
it
h
 a

d
a

p
te

d
 h

a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 

e
q
u

ip
m

e
n
t.
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

H
a
lc

y
o

n
 C

o
u
rt

 
5
5
 C

lif
f 

R
o
a
d
, 
L

S
6

 2
E

Z
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 

£
4
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

S
q
u

a
re

 d
in

in
g
 t

a
b

le
s
 a

n
d
 c

h
a
ir
s
. 
C

o
n

v
e
rt

 2
 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

s
 i
n
to

 s
h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o

m
s
. 
L
o
o
p
 s

y
s
te

m
 i
n
 3

 
lo

u
n
g
e
s
 &

 1
 d

in
in

g
 r

o
o
m

. 
R

a
is

e
d
 w

a
lle

d
 a

re
a
, 

d
e
c
k
in

g
 t
o
 g

a
rd

e
n
 &

 g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
P

h
o
n

e
 

in
s
ta

lla
ti
o

n
 i
n
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 
C

e
ili

n
g
 s

c
re

e
n
 t

o
 d

o
u
b

le
 

ro
o
m

s
, 
re

fu
rb

is
h
m

e
n
t 
to

 r
e
c
e
p
ti
o
n
. 
 

£
4
0
,6

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 2
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
 i
n
to

 
s
h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o
m

s
. 
L
o
o
p
 s

y
s
te

m
 i
n
 3

 
lo

u
n
g
e
s
 &

 1
 d

in
in

g
 r

o
o
m

. 
R

a
is

e
d
 

w
a
lle

d
 a

re
a
, 

d
e
c
k
in

g
 t
o

 g
a
rd

e
n
 

&
 g

a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
P

h
o
n
e

 
in

s
ta

lla
ti
o

n
 i
n
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
, 
C

e
ili

n
g
 

s
c
re

e
n
 t
o
 d

o
u
b

le
 r

o
o
m

s
 t
o
 

p
ro

v
id

e
 p

ri
v
a
c
y
. 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

H
a
re

w
o

o
d
 

C
o
u
rt

 
8
9
 H

a
re

h
ill

s
 L

a
n

e
, 
L

S
7
 

4
H

A
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 

£
3
9
,6

0
3
.0

0
 

C
a
ri
b

b
e
a

n
 G

a
rd

e
n
 R

o
o
m

 &
 E

n
d

 o
f 

lif
e
 r

e
la

ti
v
e
s
 

lo
u

n
g
e
/b

a
r.

 
£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
a
ri
b

b
e
a

n
 g

a
rd

e
n
 r

o
o
m

. 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

H
a
rr

y
 B

o
o
th

 
H

o
u
s
e
 

2
 A

th
a
 C

re
s
c
e
n

t,
 L

S
1

1
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
4
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
 &

 F
u
rn

it
u
re

. 
L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 g

a
rd

e
n
s
. 

R
e
-d

e
s
ig

n
 p

a
ti
o
, 
p

a
ti
o
 d

o
o
rs

 t
o
 b

e
 f

it
te

d
, 

u
p
g
ra

d
e
 

a
ll 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

s
, 
b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

. 
S

e
c
u
ri
ty

 
fe

n
c
in

g
, 

E
x
te

n
s
io

n
 t

o
 l
a
u
n

d
ry

. 
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 g

a
rd

e
n
s
, 
re

-d
e
s
ig

n
 

p
a
ti
o
, 
p

a
ti
o
 d

o
o
rs

, 
u
p

g
ra

d
e
 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

s
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

H
ill

c
re

s
t 

1
2
 H

ill
to

p
 R

o
a

d
, 

A
rm

le
y
 

L
S

1
2
 3

S
G

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
6
,4

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
m

o
v
e
 o

ld
/u

n
s
ta

b
le

 t
a
rm

a
c
. 
 R

e
la

y
 t

a
rm

a
c
 t
o
 

d
ri
v
e

w
a

y
 a

n
d
 s

o
c
ia

l 
a
re

a
s
. 

L
a

y
 n

e
w

 d
ra

in
a

g
e
 t

o
 

re
a
r 

o
f 

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
. 
 N

e
w

 e
x
it
 r

a
m

p
 &

 h
a
n
d

 r
a
ils

. 
 

R
e
p
la

c
e
 g

a
te

s
 t
o

 d
ri

v
e

w
a

y
 a

n
d
 R

e
la

n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 

£
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
a
lly

 o
p
e
ra

te
d

 g
a
te

s
 f

o
r 

s
e
c
u
ri
ty

.E
x
it
 r

a
m

p
 w

it
h
 

h
a
n
d
ra

ils
. 
R

e
-l

a
n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 t
h

e
 

g
a
rd

e
n
 a

re
a
s
, 

p
la

n
ts

 a
n
d
 

s
h
ru

b
s
. 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

H
o
lm

fi
e
ld

 C
o
u
rt

 
5
8
 D

e
v
o

n
s
h
ir
e

 A
v
e

n
u
e
, 

L
S

8
 1

A
Y

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

M
a
k
e
 p

a
ti
o
 s

e
a
ti
n

g
 a

re
a
 &

 s
e
c
u
re

 g
a
rd

e
n
. 
 B

u
ild

 
g
a

z
e
b
o

, 
e
a
s
ily

 m
a
n
a
g
e
d

 t
u

b
s
, 
m

a
y
 b

u
ild

 p
o
n

d
 

a
n
d
 s

h
e
d
 

£
7
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

M
a
k
e
 p

a
ti
o
 s

e
a
ti
n

g
 a

re
a
 &

 
s
e
c
u
re

 g
a
rd

e
n
. 
 B

u
ild

 g
a

z
e

b
o
, 

e
a
s
ily

 m
a
n
a
g
e

d
 t
u

b
s
 

 

D
e
la

y
e

d
 d

u
e
 t

o
 p

la
n

n
in

g
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
. 
 C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n
 

d
u
e
 e

a
rl

y
 A

u
g

u
s
t 
2
0

0
8
 

H
o
m

e
le

a
 

H
o
u
s
e
 

1
3
7
 W

o
o
d
 L

a
n
e

 R
o
th

w
e

ll 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
3
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
le

c
tr

ic
 a

w
n

in
g
s
. 

E
x
p
a

n
d
 f

ro
n
t 
g

a
rd

e
n
 w

it
h
 

fe
n
c
in

g
, 
p

a
ti
o
, 

la
n

d
s
c
a
p
in

g
, 

s
e
a
ti
n
g
 &

 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
. 
 

A
d
d
 s

e
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d

 h
a

n
d
ra

ils
 t

o
 b

a
c
k
 g

a
rd

e
n
. 

 
£
1
1
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

S
e
a
ti
n

g
 &

 h
a

n
d
ra

ils
 t
o

 b
a
c
k
 

g
a
rd

e
n
, 
A

w
n
in

g
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

K
ir
k
la

n
d
 H

o
u
s
e
 

Q
u
e
e
n
s
w

a
y
, 

Y
e

a
d
o

n
, 

L
S

1
9
7
R

D
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
5
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
. 
D

ig
it
a
l 
&

 H
D

 r
e
a
d

y
 T

V
 f

o
r 

s
m

a
ll 

lo
u

n
g
e
s
. 

E
n
te

rt
a
in

m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te

m
. 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 
L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

K
n
o

w
le

 M
a

n
o
r 

T
e
n
n

y
s
o
n
 T

e
rr

a
c
e
, 
L

S
2
7
 

8
Q

P
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
7
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

F
it
 C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
. 

S
m

a
ll 

e
x
te

n
s
io

n
 f

o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g

 
k
it
c
h
e
n
 f

a
c
ili

ty
. 
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 
L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

L
a
rc

h
fi
e
ld

 
J
o
s
e
p
e
h
 S

tr
e
e

t,
 H

u
n
s
le

t,
 

L
S

1
0
 2

A
D

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

£
3
0
0

 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 r

e
s
id

e
n
t 

to
 p

e
rs

o
n
a
lis

e
 t

h
e
ir
 r

o
o
m

s
 

&
 w

a
ll 

m
o
u
n
te

d
 w

id
e
 s

c
re

e
n
 T

V
 

£
1
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

£
3
0
0

 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 r

e
s
id

e
n
t 

to
 

p
e
rs

o
n
a

lis
e
 t

h
e

ir
 r

o
o
m

s
. 
W

a
ll 

m
o
u
n
te

d
 w

id
e
 s

c
re

e
n
 T

V
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

Page 63



H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

M
a
n
o
r 

H
o
u
s
e
 

H
a
ll 

L
a

n
e
, 
O

ld
 F

a
rn

le
y
, 

L
S

1
2
 5

H
A

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
4
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

A
d
d
 2

 n
e

w
 w

a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n
 2

 
b
a
th

ro
o
m

s
. 
 P

u
rc

h
a
s
e
d
 l
a
rg

e
 p

ri
n
t 
b

o
o
k
s
, 
D

V
D

's
. 
 

2
 l
a
rg

e
 s

c
re

e
n
 T

V
's

 2
 D

V
D

 p
la

y
e
rs

, 
m

o
d
e
rn

 T
V

's
 

fo
r 

e
a
c
h
 r

o
o
m

. 
 E

x
te

ri
o
r 

lig
h
t 
o
n

 p
o
rc

h
. 
N

e
w

 
h
a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e

 f
u
rn

is
h
in

g
s
 i
n
 

v
is

it
o
r 

g
re

e
ti
n
g
 r

o
o
m

. 
 G

a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
H

e
a
ri
n

g
 

a
id

s
 f

o
r 

a
u
d

io
 e

q
u
ip

m
e
n
t.
  

 

£
1
4
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

A
d
d
 2

 n
e

w
 w

a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n

 2
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
, 
 2

 l
a
rg

e
 

s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
's

 2
 D

V
D

 p
la

y
e
rs

, 
m

o
d
e
rn

 T
V

's
 f
o
r 

e
a
c
h
 r

o
o
m

. 
 

E
x
te

ri
o
r 

lig
h
t 

o
n
 p

o
rc

h
. 
N

e
w

 
h
a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e

 
fu

rn
is

h
in

g
s
 i
n
 v

is
it
o
r 

g
re

e
ti
n

g
 

ro
o
m

, 
g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

, 
h

e
a

ri
n
g
 

lo
o

p
 f

o
r 

a
u
d

io
 e

q
u

ip
m

e
n
t.
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

M
a
n
o
rf

ie
ld

 
H

o
u
s
e
 

M
a
n
o
r 

R
o
a

d
, 
H

o
rs

fo
rt

h
, 

L
S

1
8
  
4
D

X
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
2
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

P
la

s
m

a
 T

V
, 
e
n
te

rt
a

in
m

e
n
t 

c
e
n
tr

e
. 
U

p
d
a
te

 
e
n
te

rt
a

in
m

e
n
t 
s
y
s
te

m
 f

o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

. 
£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

P
la

s
m

a
 T

V
, 
e
n
te

rt
a

in
m

e
n
t 

c
e
n
tr

e
. 
U

p
d
a
te

 e
n
te

rt
a

in
m

e
n
t 

s
y
s
te

m
 f
o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

. 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

M
e
a
d

o
w

b
ro

o
k
 

M
a
n
o
r 

1
4
7
-1

4
9
 W

a
k
e
fi
e
ld

 R
d
, 

G
a
rf

o
rt

h
, 
L
S

2
5
 1

N
E

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
2
,6

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
c
a
v
a
te

 r
e
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
, 
b

u
ild

 r
e
ta

in
in

g
 w

a
ll,

 b
u
ild

 
lo

w
 l
e

v
e

l 
p

la
n
te

d
 a

re
a
, 

b
lo

c
k
 p

a
v
e
d
 p

a
ti
o
. 
  

£
1
2
,6

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
c
a
v
a
te

 r
e
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
, 
b

u
ild

 
re

ta
in

in
g
 w

a
ll,

 b
u

ild
 l
o

w
 l
e

v
e
l 

p
la

n
te

d
 a

re
a

, 
b

lo
c
k
 p

a
v
e
d

 p
a
ti
o
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

M
id

d
le

c
ro

s
s
 

S
im

p
s
o
n
 G

ro
v
e
, 

A
rm

le
y
, 

L
S

1
2
 1

Q
G

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
4
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 c

u
rt

a
in

s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h

o
u
t.

  
E

x
te

n
d

 p
a
ti
e

n
t 
c
a

ll 
s
y
s
te

m
. 
D

iv
id

e
 m

a
in

 l
o
u
n

g
e

 a
re

a
 i
n
to

 s
m

a
lle

r 
o
n
e
s
 w

it
h
 s

ta
in

e
d
 g

la
s
s
 p

a
rt

it
io

n
, 
re

d
e
c
o
ra

te
 &

 
re

c
a
rp

e
t.
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

E
x
te

n
d

 p
a
ti
e

n
t 
c
a

ll 
s
y
s
te

m
, 
re

-
d
e
c
o
ra

te
/r

e
-c

a
rp

e
t.
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

M
o
o
rf

ie
ld

 
H

o
u
s
e
 

F
ie

ld
h
o

u
s
e
 W

a
lk

, 
L
S

1
7
 

6
H

W
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 s

e
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 s

u
n
 s

h
e
lt
e
r 

in
 g

a
rd

e
n
 

£
6
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 s

e
a
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 s

u
n
 s

h
e
lt
e
r 

in
 g

a
rd

e
n
 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

M
o
o
rl

e
ig

h
 &

 
M

o
o
rl

e
ig

h
 V

ill
a
 

2
7
8
-2

8
0
 G

ib
s
o
n
 L

a
n

e
, 

K
ip

p
a
x
, 
L

S
2

5
 7

J
N

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 +

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
2
7
,6

3
0
.5

0
 

D
is

a
b

le
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e

x
is

ti
n
g

 c
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
, 

b
u

ild
 

g
a
rd

e
n
 p

a
v
ili

o
n
 w

it
h
 h

e
a
ti
n

g
, 
lig

h
ti
n

g
, 
d

is
a
b

le
d
 

to
ile

t,
 k

it
c
h
e
n

 a
n

d
 g

a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
G

a
rd

e
n
 

lig
h
ti
n
g
, 

p
o
tt

in
g
 s

h
e

d
 &

 f
lo

w
e
r 

b
e
d
s
 

£
2
7
,6

3
0
.5

0
 

D
is

a
b

le
d
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e

x
is

ti
n
g

 
c
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
, 

b
u

ild
 g

a
rd

e
n
 

p
a
v
ili

o
n
 w

it
h
 h

e
a
ti
n

g
, 
lig

h
ti
n

g
, 

d
is

a
b

le
d

 t
o

ile
t,
 k

it
c
h
e
n
 a

n
d
 

g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
G

a
rd

e
n
 

lig
h
ti
n
g
, 

p
o
tt

in
g
 s

h
e

d
 &

 f
lo

w
e
r 

b
e
d
s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

M
o
u
n

t 
C

a
rm

e
l 

8
8
 C

h
u
rc

h
 L

a
n
e
, 

L
S

2
5
 8

J
E

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
0
,3

0
0
.0

0
 

G
re

e
n
h
o

u
s
e
, 
W

a
lk

 i
n
 b

a
th

, 
G

a
rd

e
n
 F

u
rn

it
u
re

, 
B

o
a
rd

 g
a
m

e
s
 &

 b
o

o
k
s
. 
L
a
rg

e
r 

T
V

's
, 
E

x
te

n
d

 r
o
o
m

 
to

 p
ro

v
id

e
 h

a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
/m

a
s
s
a
g
e
 r

o
o
m

. 
 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

G
re

e
n
h
o

u
s
e
, 
g

a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u

re
, 

la
rg

e
r 

T
V

’s
, 

w
a
lk

 i
n
 b

a
th

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

M
u
lg

ra
v
e
 

H
o
u
s
e
 

9
 S

p
ri

n
g
fi
e

ld
 S

tr
e

e
t,
 

R
o
th

w
e
ll,

 L
S

2
6
 0

B
P

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
1
8
,6

8
3
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
 t
o
 w

a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o
w

e
r,

 w
it
h
 a

id
s
. 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 k

it
c
h
e
n
e
tt

e
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
, 
c
o
ff

e
e
 m

a
k
in

g
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
, 
2
 c

o
m

p
u
te

rs
 w

it
h
 s

u
it
a
b

le
 c

h
a
ir
s
, 
d

e
s
k
, 

tr
a
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 i
n
te

rn
e
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
. 
 

£
1
8
,6

8
3
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rt

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 w
a

lk
 i
n
 

s
h
o

w
e
r,

 w
it
h
 a

id
s
, 
u
p

g
ra

d
e

 
k
it
c
h
e
n
e
tt
e
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
, 
c
o
ff

e
e
 

m
a
k
in

g
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 
in

d
e
p
e

n
d
e

n
c
e
, 
2
 c

o
m

p
u
te

rs
 w

it
h
 

s
u
it
a
b

le
 c

h
a
ir
s
 d

e
s
k
, 
tr

a
in

in
g
 

a
n
d
 i
n
te

rn
e
t 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 
le

a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
ta

c
t 

w
it
h
 

fa
m

ily
/f

ri
e
n
d
s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

M
u
s
g
ra

v
e
 

C
ra

w
s
h

a
w

 R
o
a
d

, 
P

u
d
s
e

y
, 

L
S

2
8
 7

U
B

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
5
0
,5

0
0
.0

0
 

P
ic

n
ic

 a
re

a
, 

s
e
n
s
o
ry

 g
a
rd

e
n
. 
 L

e
v
e
l 
o
ff

 g
a
rd

e
n
 

a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 p

a
ti
o
 a

re
a
. 
R

e
d
e
c
o
ra

te
/r

e
fu

rb
is

h
 

s
m

a
ll 

lo
u
n

g
e
, 

la
rg

e
 s

c
re

e
n
 T

V
. 
C

o
n
v
e
rt

 u
p
s
ta

ir
s
 

lo
u

n
g
e
 i
n
to

 r
e
m

in
is

c
e
n
c
e
 r

o
o
m

. 
 &

 b
u
ild

 
c
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
. 
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

P
ic

n
ic

 a
re

a
 &

 S
e
n
s
o
ry

 g
a
rd

e
n
 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

N
e
v
ill

e
 H

o
u
s
e
 

1
2
 M

o
n
tr

e
a
l 
A

v
e
n

u
e
, 

L
S

7
 

4
L
F

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
te

r 
fo

u
n
ta

in
 w

it
h

 l
ig

h
ti
n

g
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

. 
 D

V
D

 
P

la
y
e
r.

  
N

e
w

 e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
 F

re
s
h
 w

a
te

r 
d
is

p
e

n
s
e
r 

in
 d

in
in

g
 r

o
o
m

. 
 

£
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
te

r 
fe

a
tu

re
 w

it
h
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g

, 
fu

rn
it
u
re

, 
 D

V
D

 P
la

y
e

r,
 n

e
w

 
e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

, 
w

a
te

r 
d
is

p
e

n
s
e
r 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

Page 64



H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

O
a
k
la

n
d
's

 
1
4
 P

in
fo

ld
 L

a
n
e
, 

M
e
th

le
y
, 

L
S

2
6
 9

A
B

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
 2

 b
a
th

ro
o
m

s
 a

n
d
 i
n
s
ta

ll 
n
e

w
 "

P
a
rk

e
r 

B
a
th

 b
y
 A

rj
o

".
  
1

 w
it
h
 s

id
e
 e

n
tr

y
 o

th
e
r 

w
it
h

 
p
o

w
e
re

d
 t
ra

n
s
fe

r 
c
o
m

m
o
d
e
 s

e
a
t.
  
R

e
fu

rb
is

h
 

s
h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o
m

 -
 h

y
g

ie
n

e
 c

h
a

ir
. 
N

e
w

 h
a

ll 
c
a
rp

e
t.
 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

 a
n
d
 i
n

s
ta

ll 
n
e

w
 "

P
a
rk

e
r 

B
a
th

 b
y
 A

rj
o
",

 
re

fu
rb

is
h
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

ro
o
m

 -
 h

y
g
ie

n
e
 

c
h
a
ir
. 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

P
a
rk

 A
v
e
n

u
e
 

8
 P

a
rk

 A
v
e
n
u

e
, 
L

S
8
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 &

 
E

M
I 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
lk

 i
n
 b

a
th

, 
s
e
c
u
re

 g
a
rd

e
n
 a

re
a
 w

it
h
 

ra
m

p
/d

e
c
k
in

g
 &

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

. 
W

id
e
s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
. 

S
e
n
s
o
ry

 a
re

a
. 

£
1
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

W
a
lk

 i
n
 b

a
th

, 
s
e
c
u
re

 g
a
rd

e
n
 

a
re

a
 w

it
h
 r

a
m

p
/d

e
c
k
in

g
 &

 
fu

rn
it
u
re

, 
w

id
e
s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
 f

o
r 

p
e
o
p

le
 w

it
h
 v

is
u
a

l 
im

p
a
ir
m

e
n
t,
 

s
e
n
s
o
ry

 a
re

a
  

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

P
a
rk

s
id

e
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

5
 P

a
rk

 V
ie

w
 C

re
s
c
e
n
t,

 L
S

8
 

2
E

S
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

In
s
ta

ll 
T

V
's

 i
n
 r

e
s
id

e
n

ts
 r

o
o

m
s
. 
2
 S

h
o

w
e
r 

u
n

it
s
. 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 b

a
th

 h
o
is

ts
. 
 D

e
c
o

ra
te

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 r
o

o
m

s
 

to
 t
h

e
ir
 p

re
fe

re
n
c
e

. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 i
n
 

g
a
rd

e
n
. 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

In
s
ta

ll 
T

V
's

 i
n
 r

e
s
id

e
n

t’
s
 r

o
o

m
s
, 

u
p
g
ra

d
e
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
 2

 
s
h
o

w
e
r 

u
n
it
s
, 

im
p
ro

v
e
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 i
n
 g

a
rd

e
n
 f

o
r 

w
h
e
e

lc
h
a

ir
 u

s
e
rs

. 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

P
e
n

n
in

g
to

n
 

C
o
u
rt

 
H

u
n
s
le

t 
H

a
ll 

R
d
, 

L
S

1
1
 6

T
T

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 &

 
R

e
s
 

£
1
1
,5

7
5
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 l
o
u
n

g
e
 &

 d
in

in
g

 r
o
o
m

 c
a
rp

e
t 
to

 t
h
e
 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a

l 
u

n
it
. 
F

u
ll
y
 r

e
fu

rb
is

h
 g

rd
 f

lr
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

. 
 

£
6
,4

6
8
.0

0
 

F
u
lly

 r
e
fu

rb
is

h
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

 t
o
 

in
c
lu

d
e
 a

s
s
is

te
d
 b

a
th

. 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

P
ri
m

ro
s
e
 C

o
u
rt

 
O

rc
h
a
rd

 W
a

y
, 
G

u
is

e
le

y
, 

L
S

2
0
 9

E
P

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
2
5
,6

0
0
.0

0
 

G
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 X
 6

 b
e
n
c
h

e
s
. 
A

w
n

in
g
. 

E
n
s
u
it
e
 

re
fu

rb
is

h
m

e
n
t 
X

 5
, 
c
o
m

p
u
te

r 
w

it
h

 i
n

te
rn

e
t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
, 

F
re

e
v
ie

w
 s

e
ts

 X
 3

2
 

£
5
,6

0
0
.0

0
 

G
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 X
 6

 b
e
n
c
h

e
s
 

a
n
d
 a

w
n

in
g
 t

o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 o
u
td

o
o
r 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
, 
c
o
m

p
u
te

r 
w

it
h
 i
n
te

rn
e
t 

a
c
c
e
s
s
,3

2
 F

re
e
v
ie

w
 s

e
ts

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

P
ri
m

ro
s
e
 H

ill
 

W
e
s
tw

o
o
d
 W

a
y
, 

B
o
s
to

n
 

S
p
a
, 

L
S

2
3
 6

D
X

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
3
1
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

P
a

y
p
h

o
n
e

 +
 p

ri
v
a
c
y
 d

o
o
rs

. 
A

w
in

g
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 

s
h
e
lt
e
r.

 P
ro

v
id

e
 r

a
is

e
d
 b

e
d

s
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 s
e
a

ti
n

g
 i
n
 

re
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
. 

£
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

P
ro

v
id

e
 r

a
is

e
d
 b

e
d
s
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 
s
e
a
ti
n

g
 i
n
 r

e
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
. 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

R
a
d
c
lif

fe
 

G
a
rd

e
n
s
 

1
1
 R

a
d
c
lif

fe
 G

a
rd

e
n
s
, 

P
u
d
s
e

y
, 

L
S

2
8
 8

B
G

 
N

, 
P

h
y
 D

is
 &

 
T

e
rm

 I
ll 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
d
e
c
o
ra

ti
o

n
/f

lo
o
ri

n
g
 o

f 
D

in
in

g
 a

re
a
. 
D

in
in

g
 

fu
rn

it
u
re

. 
R

e
c
a
rp

e
ti
n
g

 c
o
m

m
u
n
a
l 
a
re

a
. 
C

re
a
te

 
"w

e
t 
ro

o
m

",
 R

e
la

n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 g

a
rd

e
n
 t

o
 m

a
k
e
 q

u
ie

t 
s
e
a
ti
n

g
 a

re
a
. 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
re

a
te

 "
w

e
t 
ro

o
m

" 
w

it
h
 

w
h
e
e

lc
h
a

ir
 a

c
c
e
s
s
, 
re

-l
a
n

d
s
c
a
p
e
 

g
a
rd

e
n
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 q

u
ie

t 
s
e

a
ti
n
g
 

a
re

a
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

R
e
d
 C

o
u
rt

 
C

h
a
p

le
to

w
n
, 

P
u

d
s
e

y
, 

L
S

2
8
 7

R
Z

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
1
6
,6

0
0
.0

0
 

V
e
rt

ic
a

l 
b

lin
d
s
 t
o

 l
o

u
n

g
e
 w

in
d
o

w
s
. 

4
0
" 

w
a

ll 
m

o
u
n
te

d
 L

C
D

 T
V

. 
N

e
w

 l
o
u

n
g
e
 c

h
a
ir
s
. 
R

e
fu

rb
is

h
 

1
1
 1

s
t 
F

lr
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 
H

o
t 
d
ri
n
k
s
 d

is
p
e
n
s
e
r 

fo
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

/g
u
e
s
ts

. 

£
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

V
e
rt

ic
a

l 
b

lin
d
s
 t
o

 l
o

u
n

g
e
 

w
in

d
o

w
s
. 
4

0
" 

w
a
ll 

m
o
u
n
te

d
 L

C
D

 
T

V
, 
lo

u
n

g
e
 c

h
a
ir
s
. 
H

o
t 
d
ri

n
k
s
 

d
is

p
e

n
s
e
r 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d
 

H
o
u
s
e
 

R
ic

h
m

o
n
d
 R

d
, 
F

a
rs

le
y
, 

L
S

2
8
 5

S
T

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
4
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

B
u
ild

 a
n
 a

ir
 c

o
n

d
it
io

n
e
d

 c
o

n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
 w

it
h

 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

fr
o
m

 r
e
s
id

e
n
ts

 l
o
u

n
g
e

. 
 

£
1
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv

a
to

ry
  
&

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 
L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

R
o
s
e
 B

a
n
k
 

4
8
 S

ta
ti
o
n
 R

d
, 

S
c
h
o

le
s
, 

L
S

1
5
 4

B
T

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

B
u
ild

 a
 s

u
m

m
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
 i
n
 t

h
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
. 

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

S
u
m

m
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

S
ie

g
e

n
 M

a
n
o
r 

W
e
s
le

y
 S

tr
e

e
t,
 M

o
rl
e

y
, 

L
S

2
7
 9

E
G

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
2
0
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

E
n
s
u
it
e
 t

o
 8

 b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 
E

x
tr

a
 s

p
a
c
e
 i
n
 c

o
m

m
u
n
a
l 

a
re

a
s
. 
R

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 
w

in
d

o
w

s
. 
T

V
 &

 b
e

d
ro

o
m

 
fu

rn
it
u
re

 
£
2
1
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

T
V

 &
 p

h
o

n
e
s
 i
n
 a

ll 
ro

o
m

s
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
im

o
n
 M

a
rk

s
 

C
o
u
rt

 
L

y
n

w
o
o

d
 G

a
rt

h
, 

L
S

1
2
 4

B
E

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
-s

tr
u
c
tu

re
 g

a
rd

e
n
, 

le
v
e

l 
w

a
lk

w
a

y
s
, 

g
re

e
n

h
o
u
s
e
/s

h
e
d
, 

w
a
te

r 
fe

a
tu

re
, 

g
a

z
e
b

o
 &

 p
ri

v
a
te

 
s
e
a
ti
n

g
. 
 2

 s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 g
a
te

s
 i
f 

p
o
s
s
 

£
1
3
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
-s

tr
u
c
tu

re
 g

a
rd

e
n
, 

le
v
e

l 
w

a
lk

w
a

y
s
, 
g
re

e
n
h

o
u
s
e
/s

h
e

d
, 

w
a
te

r 
fe

a
tu

re
, 
g
a

z
e

b
o
 &

 p
ri

v
a
te

 
s
e
a
ti
n

g
. 
 2

 s
e
c
u
ri
ty

 g
a
te

s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
o
u
th

la
n
d
s
 

1
3
 W

e
th

e
rb

y
 R

d
, 

L
S

8
 2

J
U

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
6
,7

5
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

a
v
in

g
 &

 p
a

ti
o

 a
re

a
s
 t
o
 r

e
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
. 

G
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 
£
6
,7

5
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

a
v
in

g
 &

 p
a

ti
o

 a
re

a
s
 t
o
 

re
a
r 

g
a
rd

e
n
, 

g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

Page 65



H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

S
p
ri

n
g
fi
e
ld

  
1
-3

 L
o

w
th

e
r 

A
v
, 
G

a
rf

o
rt

h
, 

L
S

2
5
 1

E
P

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
1
2
,9

0
0
.0

0
 

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 f

la
t 

s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
 &

 D
V

D
 p

la
y
e
r.

  
N

e
w

 
d
e
c
k
in

g
 a

re
a
 d

ir
e
c
tl
y
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 l
o
u
n

g
e
, 

p
lu

s
 

d
e
c
k
in

g
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
 N

e
w

 h
e

a
te

d
 t
ro

lle
y
s
. 
R

e
p

la
c
e
 

s
e
v
e
ra

l 
b

e
d
ro

o
m

 &
 l
o

u
n

g
e
 c

a
rp

e
ts

. 
 

£
6
,9

0
0
.0

0
 

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 f

la
t 

s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
 &

 D
V

D
 

p
la

y
e
r,

 e
q
u

ip
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
h
a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 b

e
a

u
ty

 r
o

o
m

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
p
ri

n
g
fi
e
ld

 
H

o
u
s
e
 

S
p
ri

n
g
fi
e
ld

 A
v
e
n
u

e
, 

M
o
rl
e

y
, 

L
S

2
7
 9

P
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
8
,8

1
1
.7

3
 

F
is

h
 t
a
n
k
, 
fi
lt
e
r 

&
 f

is
h
. 
In

d
u

c
ti
o
n
 l
o
o

p
, 

P
A

, 
D

V
D

 
a
n
d
 L

C
D

 w
a
ll 

m
o
u
n
te

d
 T

V
. 

 N
o
n
 s

lip
 f

lo
o
r 

c
o
v
e
ri

n
g
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u

it
e
 t

o
ile

ts
, 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

 &
 s

h
o

w
e
r.

  
C

a
rp

e
t 
ti
le

s
 t
o
 c

o
rr

id
o
r.

  

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

F
is

h
 t
a
n
k
, 
fi
lt
e
r 

&
 f

is
h
, 
in

d
u
c
ti
o
n

 
lo

o
p
, 
P

A
, 

D
V

D
 a

n
d
 L

C
D

 w
a

ll 
m

o
u
n
te

d
 T

V
, 
n
o
n
 s

lip
 f

lo
o
r 

c
o
v
e
ri

n
g
s
 t
o
 e

n
s
u

it
e
 t

o
ile

ts
, 

b
a
th

ro
o
m

 &
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
t 
A

rm
a
n
d
s
 

C
o
u
rt

 
2
5
 c

h
u
rc

h
 L

a
n

e
, 
G

a
rf

o
rt

h
, 

L
S

2
5
 1

N
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
0
,3

4
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
B

a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 W
e
t 
R

o
o
m

 
£
1
0
,3

4
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 w
e
t 

ro
o
m

  
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
to

n
e
 G

a
b

le
s
 

S
tr

e
e
t 

L
a

n
e
, 
G

ild
e
rs

o
m

e
, 

L
S

2
7
 7

H
R

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
1
3
,4

0
0
.0

0
 

2
 T

V
s
. 
N

e
w

 l
o
u
n

g
e
 c

h
a
ir
s
. 

R
e
fu

rb
is

h
 4

 b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 

R
e
d
e
c
o
ra

ti
o

n
 o

f 
m

a
in

 e
n
tr

a
n
c
e
, 
h
a

llw
a

y
 &

 
b
e
d
ro

o
m

 c
o
rr

id
o
r.

 A
q
u

a
ri
u

m
 -

 a
d
a
p
te

d
 g

a
m

e
s
. 
 

D
ri
n
k
s
 d

is
p
e
n
s
e
r.

 G
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

2
 l
a
rg

e
 T

V
s
 t
o
 b

e
n
e
fi
t 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

 
w

it
h
 v

is
u
a
l/
h
e

a
ri
n

g
 i
m

p
a
ir
m

e
n
t,
 

re
d
e
c
o
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
m

a
in

 e
n
tr

a
n

c
e
, 

h
a
llw

a
y
 &

 b
e
d
ro

o
m

 c
o
rr

id
o
r,

 
a
q
u
a
ri

u
m

, 
d
ri
n
k
s
 d

is
p
e
n
s
e
r,

 
g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
u
m

m
e
rf

ie
ld

 
C

o
u
rt

 
B

ri
ta

n
n

ia
 R

o
a
d
, 

L
S

2
7
 0

D
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

E
x
te

n
d

 f
ro

n
t 
e
n
tr

a
c
e
 t
o
 m

a
k
e
 p

a
ti
o
 a

re
a
 w

it
h
 

s
e
a
ti
n

g
. 
R

a
m

p
 i
n
g
o
 g

a
rd

e
n

. 
O

u
ts

id
e
 a

c
ti
v
it
y
 

g
a
m

e
s
. 
R

a
is

e
d
 f

lo
w

e
r 

b
e

d
s
. 
 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

P
a
ti
o
 a

re
a
 w

it
h
 p

la
n
ts

 a
n
d
 

s
e
a
ti
n

g
 w

it
h
 a

 s
u
n
s
h
a

d
e
 r

a
m

p
e
d
 

d
o

w
n
 i
n
 t

o
 t

h
e
 f

ro
n
t 
g

a
rd

e
n

  
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
u
ff

o
lk

 C
o
u
rt

 
S

ilv
e
r 

L
a

n
e
, 

Y
e

a
d
o

n
, 
L

S
1

9
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
8
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

F
it
 f

o
ld

in
g
 d

o
o
rs

 t
o
 a

ll 
e
n
s
u

it
e
. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e
 p

a
v
in

g
 

a
re

a
, 
h

a
n

d
ra

ils
, 
s
e
a
ti
n
g

 a
n

d
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
lig

h
ti
n

g
. 

£
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

a
v
in

g
 a

re
a
, 
h

a
n
d
ra

ils
, 

s
e
a
ti
n

g
 a

n
d
 a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l 
lig

h
ti
n
g
. 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

S
u
n

n
in

g
d

a
le

 
T

o
w

n
 S

tr
e
e
t,

 R
a

w
d
o
n

, 
L
S

1
9
 6

P
U

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
2
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
 +

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

. 
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

 t
o
 s

h
o

w
e
r 

+
 h

o
is

t.
 U

p
g
ra

d
e
 

d
in

in
g

 r
o
o
m

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

. 
 I
m

p
ro

v
e

 g
a
rd

e
n
 &

 p
a
ti
o
. 

In
s
ta

ll 
ra

m
p
 i
n
 g

a
rd

e
n

. 
F

it
 l
o
o
p
 s

y
s
te

m
s
. 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

, 
im

p
ro

v
e
 

g
a
rd

e
n
 &

 p
a
ti
o
, 

in
s
ta

ll 
ra

m
p
 i
n
 

g
a
rd

e
n
, 
fi
t 
lo

o
p

 s
y
s
te

m
s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

S
u
n

n
y
s
id

e
 

4
1
 M

a
rs

h
a
ll 

T
e
rr

a
c
e
, 
L
S

1
5
 

8
E

A
 

N
u
rs

in
g
 

£
8
,3

4
2
.0

0
 

2
 c

o
m

p
u
te

rs
, 
p
ri
n
te

rs
, 
s
c
a
n

n
e
rs

, 
d
e
s
k
s
 e

tc
..
  

In
te

rn
e

t 
a
c
c
e
s
s
. 
T

e
a
/c

o
ff

e
e
 m

a
k
in

g
 f

a
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n

 
k
it
c
h
e
n
. 
C

re
a
te

 s
e
n
s
o
ry

 g
a
rd

e
n
. 
 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

2
 c

o
m

p
u
te

rs
, 
p
ri
n
te

rs
, 
s
c
a
n

n
e
rs

, 
d
e
s
k
s
 e

tc
. 
 I
n
te

rn
e
t 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

fa
c
ili

ta
te

 c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n

, 
g

a
m

e
 

p
la

y
in

g
, 

b
ra

in
 e

x
e
rc

is
e
s
 a

n
d
 

s
h
o
p
p

in
g
. 

T
e
a
/c

o
ff

e
e
 m

a
k
in

g
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 i
n

 k
it
c
h
e
n
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

T
h
e
 C

e
d
a
rs

 
C

h
u
rc

h
 S

id
e
, 
M

e
th

le
y
, 

L
S

2
6
 9

B
H

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
1
4
,9

8
2
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 1

4
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 s

o
ft

 f
u
rn

is
h
in

g
s
, 

b
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 f

it
te

d
 w

a
rd

ro
b
e
s
. 

P
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
n
e

w
 

b
o
o
k
c
a
s
e
s
, 
la

rg
e
 p

ri
n
t 

b
o

o
k
s
, 
fl
a
t 
s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
, 

s
e
le

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
C

D
s
 &

 D
V

D
s
 &

 b
o
a
rd

 g
a
m

e
s
. 
 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

 t
o

w
a
rd

s
 u

p
g
ra

d
in

g
 

1
4
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 s

o
ft

 
fu

rn
is

h
in

g
s
, 

b
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 f

it
te

d
 

w
a
rd

ro
b
e
s
, 

p
u
rc

h
a
s
e
 o

f 
n
e

w
 

b
o
o
k
c
a
s
e
s
, 
fl
a
t 
s
c
re

e
n
 T

V
, 

s
e
le

c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
C

D
s
 &

 D
V

D
s
  

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

T
h
e
 H

o
lli

e
s
 

2
7
 C

h
u
rc

h
 L

a
n
e
, 
G

a
rf

o
rt

h
, 

L
S

2
5
 1

N
W

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
1
0
,1

5
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
B

a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 W
e
t 
R

o
o
m

 
£
1
0
,1

5
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n

v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
b
a
th

ro
o
m

 i
n
to

 w
e
t 

ro
o
m

 
 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

T
h
e
 S

p
in

n
e

y
 

2
1
 A

rm
le

y
 G

ra
n
g
e
 D

ri
v
e
, 

L
S

1
2
 3

Q
H

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
0
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
 a

n
d
 f

it
 w

a
lk

 i
n
 s

h
o

w
e
rs

. 
 

A
d
a

p
t 
W

C
 &

 T
a
p
s
, 
n
o
n
e
 s

lip
 f

lo
o
ri
n

g
. 
 

£
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

U
p
g
ra

d
e
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
 a

n
d
 f

it
 w

a
lk

 
in

 s
h
o

w
e
rs

, 
a
d

a
p
t 
W

C
 &

 T
a
p
s
, 

n
o
n
e

 s
lip

 f
lo

o
ri

n
g
  
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

T
ro

y
d
a

le
 F

a
rm

 
T

ro
y
d
a

le
 L

a
n

e
, 

P
u
d
s
e

y
, 

L
S

2
8
 9

J
T

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
8
,5

0
0
.0

0
 

S
u
m

m
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
 a

n
d
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

, 
A

q
u
a
ri

u
m

 
£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

 t
o
 A

q
u

a
ri
u
m

, 
s
u
m

m
e
r 

h
o
u
s
e
, 
fu

rn
it
u
re

 
 

B
id

 w
it
h
d
ra

w
n
 b

y
 H

o
m

e
 

in
  
J
u

ly
 2

0
0
8
. 

U
C

A
 H

o
u
s
e
 

1
2
 H

a
ll 

L
a

n
e
, 

L
S

7
 3

H
E

 
R

e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
4
,5

0
0
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 f
o
r 

d
in

in
g
 r

o
o

m
 &

 n
e
w

 b
e
d
s
, 

lin
e
n

 &
 

fu
rn

it
u
re

 f
o
r 

3
 b

e
d
ro

o
m

s
 

£
7
,2

5
0
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 f
o
r 

d
in

in
g
 r

o
o

m
 

 
C

o
m

p
le

te
 

Page 66



H
o
m
e
 

A
d
d
re
s
s
 

C
a
re
 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 

A
m
o
u
n
t 
o
f 

fu
n
d
in
g
 

re
q
u
e
s
te
d
 

In
te
n
d
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

A
m
o
u
n
t 

A
w
a
rd
e
d
 

 
A
g
re
e
d
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

 
S
ta
tu
s
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 

V
iv

ia
n
 H

o
u
s
e
 

B
ru

n
s
w

ic
k
 S

tr
e
e
t,

 M
o
rl

e
y
, 

L
S

2
7
 6

D
L
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

&
 E

M
I 

£
2
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 2

 o
f 

4
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
, 
E

le
c
tr

o
n
ic

 
h
o
is

t.
  

H
e
a

te
d
 c

u
p
b
o

a
rd

. 
4

3
" 

d
ig

it
a

l 
T

V
, 
D

V
D

 &
 

ra
d
io

 s
y
s
te

m
. 
 P

a
ti
o
 &

 l
a
n
d

s
c
a
p
e
 g

a
rd

e
n
, 
c
re

a
te

 
n
e

w
 h

a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 s

a
lo

n
. 
 

£
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
, 
4
3
" 

d
ig

it
a

l 
T

V
, 
D

V
D

 &
 r

a
d

io
 s

y
s
te

m
, 

p
a
ti
o
 &

 l
a

n
d
s
c
a
p

e
 g

a
rd

e
n
, 

c
re

a
te

 n
e

w
 h

a
ir
d
re

s
s
in

g
 s

a
lo

n
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

W
e
s
th

o
lm

e
 

T
h
o
rn

h
ill

 R
o

a
d
, 
W

o
rt

le
y
, 

L
S

1
2
 4

L
L
 

R
e
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 

£
1
1
0

,0
0

0
.0

0
 

B
u
ild

 b
a
r 

a
n
d
 s

e
rv

in
g
 h

a
tc

h
 i
n
 d

in
in

g
 r

o
o
m

. 
S

e
c
u
ri
ty

 f
e
n
c
in

g
. 
U

p
g
ra

d
e
 t

o
ile

ts
/b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
. 

B
e
d
ro

o
m

 f
u
rn

it
u
re

 a
n
d
 v

a
n
it
y
 u

n
it
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 
 

£
2
6
,8

6
5
.0

0
 

S
e
c
u
ri
ty

 f
e
n
c
in

g
. 
U

p
g
ra

d
e
 

to
ile

ts
/b

a
th

ro
o
m

s
. 
B

e
d
ro

o
m

 
fu

rn
it
u
re

 a
n
d
 v

a
n

it
y
 u

n
it
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

b
e
d
ro

o
m

s
. 

L
/A

 H
o
m

e
 –

 w
o
rk

 
c
o
m

m
e
n
c
e
d
 

W
ill

o
w

 B
a
n
k
 

5
-7

 B
a
rw

ic
k
 R

d
, 
L
e
e

d
s
, 

L
S

1
5
 8

S
E

 
N

u
rs

in
g
 

£
8
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

R
e
p
a

ir
 d

a
m

a
g
e
d
 f

e
n
c
e
. 

 N
e

w
 w

e
a
th

e
r 

re
s
id

e
n
t 

p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

. 
 M

o
re

 p
ro

fi
lin

g
 b

e
d
s
, 

c
o
t 
s
id

e
s
 &

 p
re

s
s
u
re

 r
e

d
u
c
in

g
 m

a
tt
re

s
s
e
s
. 

£
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
 

N
e

w
 w

e
a
th

e
r 

re
s
is

ta
n
t 

p
e
rm

a
n
e
n
t 
g
a
rd

e
n
 f

u
rn

it
u
re

 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 o

u
td

o
o
r 

e
x
e
rc

is
e
 a

n
d
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
, 
m

o
re

 p
ro

fi
lin

g
 b

e
d
s
 

 

C
o
m

p
le

te
 

 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 
 
Capital Grant – Organisations Declined 
 

Home Address Reason Declined 

Acre Green 
Acre Close, Middleton, 

Leeds, LS10 4HT 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Brigshaw House 
2 Brigshaw Lane, Allerton 

Bywater,  

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Carlton N H 
Woodlands Drive, Rawdon, 

LS19 6JZ 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria.  No evidence of 
consultation with residents 

Carmel Lodge 
576 Harrogate Rd, LS17 

8DP  
Intended improvements did not meet 

local criteria.  

Carr Croft Stainbeck Lane, LS7 5PS Failed quality analysis.  

Castleton 
Green Lane, Wortley, LS12 

1JZ 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Claremont 
New Street, Farsley, LS28 

5BF 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. No evidence of 
consultation with residents 

Fairview -LA Home 
Brooklands Avenue, LS14 

6NW 
Intended improvements did not meet 

local criteria.  

Ghyll Royd House 
New Ghyll Royd, Guiseley, 

LS20 9LT 
 No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Green Acres 
Rigton Drive, Burmantofts, 

LS9 7PY 
Intended improvements did not meet 

local criteria.  

Harrogate Lodge 25 Harrogate Rd, LS7 3PD 
Intended improvements did not meet 

local criteria. No evidence of 
consultation with residents 

Hartisca House 
Hartwell Road, Burley, 

Leeds, LS6 1RY 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. No evidence of 
consultation with residents 

Hopton Court 
Hopton Mews, Armley,     

LS12 3UA 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Kingston Nursing 7 Park Crescent, LS8 1DH 
Intended improvements did not meet 

local criteria. No evidence of 
consultation with residents 

Mount St Joseph 
Shire Oak Rd, Headingley, 

LS6 2De 
Intended improvements did not meet 

local criteria.  

Oak Villa 16 Harehills Lane, LS7 4HD 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Park Lodge 
10 Park Avenue, Roundhay, 

LS8 2JH 
Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis.  

Page 69



Home Address Reason Declined 

Spring Gardens LA 
Home 

Westbourne Grove, Otley, 
LS21 3LJ 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria.  

Tealbeck House 
Tealbeck Approach, Otley, 

LS21 1RJ 
Only 6 Local Authority supported 

residents 

The Gables 
231 Swinnow Rd, Pudsey, 

LS28 9AP 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

The Green L/A Home 
Seacroft Green, Seacroft 

LS14 
Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis.  

The Victoria 224 Kirkstall Lane, LS6 3DS 

Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis. 
No evidence of consultation with 

residents 

Victoria House 
Low Grange Crescent, Belle 

Isle, LS10 3EG 
Intended improvements did not meet 
local criteria. Failed quality analysis.  

 

Page 70



Appendix 3 
 

Examples of the works completed to enhance the physical 
environment in registered care homes  

 
 

Halcyon Court - Before Halcyon Court - After 

  
  

Halcyon Court - Before Halcyon Court - After 

  

Page 71



Appendix 3 
 

Examples of the works completed to enhance the physical 
environment in registered care homes  

 
 

Radcliffe Gardens - Before Radcliffe Gardens - After 

  
  

Sunnyside - Before Sunnyside - After 

  

Page 72



Appendix 3 
 

Examples of the works completed to enhance the physical 
environment in registered care homes  

 
 

Vivian House - Before Vivian House - After 

  
  
 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) 
 
Date:  23 July 2008 
 
Subject: Income Generation for Community Care Services 
 

        
 
 
1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Board with an update on issues around 
income generation for Community Care Services. 

 
1.2 Attached is the Executive Board report considered on 11 June 2008, which set out the 

current position with the review of income for non-residential adult social care services 
and sought Executive Board approval for consultation on options.  Executive Baord 
resolved: 

 

(a)  That the contextual information outlined in the report and how it impacts on 
the contributions review be noted. 

(b)  That the context for the consultation process be supported as the need to 
generate more income from service user contributions to improve our ability 
to invest in social care services and to support fairness, equity and 
consistency 

(c) That the contributions options set out in section 8.4 of the report be approved 
as the basis of stakeholder consultation. 

 
1.3 Also attached (Appendix 2) is a copy of the presentation provided to political groups. 

(NB The presentation presents the extended consultation period following the 
discussion at full Council on 2 July 2008). 

 
1.4 Appendix 3 details the information recently distributed to all Elected Members 

regarding this issue.  Appendix 4 provides a detailed consultation plan, highlighting 
both planned and completed activity. 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Steven Courtney
  

Tel: 247 4707 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 75



 
 
2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Board is requested to note the information provided in the attached papers and 
consider its future involvement in this area of work.  

Page 76



 
Report of the Director of Adult Social Services  
 
Executive Board  
 
Date:  11th June 2008 

   
Subject:  INCOME FOR COMMUNITY CARE SERVICES -  PROPOSALS FOR 

CONSULTATION  
 

        
 
Eligible for Call In                                                 Not Eligible for Call In 
                                                                              (Details contained in the report) 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the current position with the review of income for non-residential adult 
social care services and seeks Executive Board approval for consultation on options. 
 
The main reasons for the review are to improve our ability to invest in adult social care 
services, to improve fairness, equity and consistency and to provide a framework for service 
user contributions to help prepare for future service changes. The report explains the 
national and local context for service user contributions and shows that Leeds is a low 
income generating authority for adult social care services.  
 
A draft contributions policy framework and three main options for increasing income are 
outlined, all of which take account of ability to pay. Further work on these will be undertaken 
with a service user and carer reference group to produce a preferred approach. This will then 
be the subject of wider consultation with all service users and carers until mid-September. 
 
Executive Board is recommended to support as the context for the consultation process the 
need to generate more income from service user contributions to improve our ability to invest 
in social care services and to support fairness, equity and consistency. A further report will 
be brought back to Executive Board in October making final recommendations on the 
contributions policy framework and revised contributions. The effective date for the revised 
contributions is expected to be 1st January 2009. 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
All 

Originator: Ann Hill/ John 
     Lennon 

Tel: 24 78555 

√ 

 

 

√  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Agenda Item 16

Page 233Page 77



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 This report sets out the current position with the review of income for non-residential 
adult social care services and seeks Executive Board approval for consultation on 
options. 

1.2 The purpose of the report is to: 
o Explain the national and local context for service user contributions 
o Set out the principles for contributions  
o Consider a contributions policy that is fairer and supports the strategic direction 

of Adult Social Care in Leeds 
o Set out options for further consideration through the consultation process 

 
2.0 Background Information 
 
2.1 On 16th November 2005 Executive Board received an initial report on the review of 

service user contributions. This report outlined the key issues that needed 
consideration and included a draft charging and contributions policy framework to 
give overall consistency. Executive Board approved the timetable for further work, 
which included developing financial modeling for options that would form the basis of 
stakeholder consultation. 

 
2.2 The review has been rescheduled to enable Fair Access to Care Services (FACS) 

eligibility reviews to take place and the number of people using services to be more 
accurately determined.  

 
2.3 Following a review across the Council a Fees and Charges Policy was approved by 

Executive Board in February 2008. The main principles within this policy are: 
o All decisions on charges for services should be taken with reference to and in 

support of Council priorities 
o Stakeholder engagement and comparative data will be used where appropriate 

to ensure that charges do not adversely affect the take-up of services or restrict 
access to services 

o In general, fees and charges will aim to recover the full cost of services, with 
the case for any subsidy from the Council being set out  

The proposals within this report are consistent with the Council’s Fees and Charges 
Policy. 

 
2.4 There are three main reasons for reviewing service user contributions in Leeds: 

o To improve our ability to invest in adult social care services 
o To improve fairness, equity and consistency for service users within Leeds  
o To provide a framework for service user contributions to help prepare for future 

service changes, particularly personalisation and new service options 
It must be noted that the recommendations in this report would bring Leeds more 
into line with other authorities. 

 
3.0 National Context 
 
3.1 Funding for adult social care services comes from three sources: central 

government; local taxation; and local income generation. Authorities have discretion 
over: 

Page 234Page 78



o How they allocate central government Formula Grant funding across their 
services based on local needs and priorities  

o The level of income raised through the Council Tax (although this is restricted 
through the use of capping powers by central government) 

o The level of contribution from services users for non-residential adult social 
care services 

 
3.2 The Local Government Association has regularly raised the issue of national 

underfunding of social care services in recent years, most recently in its response to 
the Comprehensive Spending Review consultation. Annual budget surveys 
conducted jointly by the Association of Directors of Social Services, the Local 
Government Association and Local Authority Treasurers Societies have also 
supported this. The recent King’s Fund publication “Paying the Price” considers the 
potential cost of mental health care in England for the period up to 2026. One of the 
significant challenges it identifies relates to the rise in dementia as the population of 
older people grows, which will have implications for the cost of social care support.   

 
3.3 The Government has recognised the need for a national debate on the funding of 

care and support. The Department of Health recently launched a consultation paper 
seeking people’s views on how a fair, affordable and sustainable system of care and 
support can be established for the twenty-first century. As people live longer and 
their expectations change, the consultation paper identifies a potential funding gap 
for social care of £6 billion in 20 years time if the current funding system continues.  

 
3.4 The consultation paper says that the current sharing of care and support costs 

between individuals, families and the Government will continue, but it seeks people’s 
views on the balance of responsibility. Views are also being sought on how to make 
sure that individuals, families and the Government can afford to pay for care and 
support in the long term. The review of service user contributions in Leeds fits within 
this national debate. The Government’s consultation process is scheduled to end in 
November and thereafter options for the future funding of care and support will be 
put forward in a Green Paper. 

 
3.5 Central government has provided for some consistency across the country in 

charging for social care services. The Charging for Residential Accommodation 
Guide (CRAG) sets out the approach to assessing service user contributions for 
residential and nursing care, with very little scope for local discretion. The Fairer 
Charging Guidance also provides some national consistency through some key 
principles, although there is more room for local discretion than with CRAG, including 
the option not to seek contributions for non-residential social care services. 

 
3.6 The Fairer Charging guidance includes mandatory and discretionary elements: 

Mandatory 
o Free services must be provided to everyone with income below the 

basic rate of Income Support plus 25%   
o Allowances must be given in the financial assessment for personal 

expenditure and eligible housing costs 
o If capital is taken into account in the financial assessment it must not be 

at a higher rate than that prescribed for residential care 
o Earnings and Working Tax Credit must be disregarded in the financial 

assessment  
 

Page 235Page 79



Discretionary 
o Whether to charge for non-residential services 
o Whether to take disability benefits into account in the financial 

assessment (if they are included, an allowance must be given for 
disability related expenditure) 

o Whether/how to take capital into account in the financial assessment  
o The amount of disposable income assessed as being available as a 

contribution towards services 
 
3.7 The  main factors that will influence how local authorities apply their local discretion 

regarding contributions from service users are: 
o The socio-economic profile of the area 
o The costs of providing services 
o The level of need to be met 
o The ability to maintain services at an appropriate level  

In setting their policy authorities need to balance these factors against each other. 
Central government funding for Leeds takes account of the socio-economic 
variations across the city, resulting in lower Formula Grant funding than most for 
cities, but our current service user contributions do not redress the impact of this 
reduced government funding from those who are able to pay more towards their 
services.  

 
4.0 Local Context and Imperatives for Change 
 
4.1 Income from service users for residential care is prescribed by government guidance 

and in Leeds it generates £18.4m per annum. This compares with £2.9m income for 
non-residential services, where there is local discretion over service user 
contributions. 

 
4.2 The current rates of contribution for non-residential services and the financial 

assessment methodology are attached at Appendix 1. This includes an explanation 
of how contributions are calculated and the allowances included within the 
assessment. All the services received are combined into one package of care, 
except for meals and respite care for which everyone pays the same contribution. 
The contribution is then determined for the whole service, taking into account ability 
to pay. The Fairer Charging guidance specifies an income level below which non-
residential social care services must be provided free of charge based on basic 
Income Support plus 25%. For those over 60 this amounts to £155.06 per week.   

 
4.3 As identified in section 2.4 above, there are three main reasons for reviewing the 

adult social care contributions policy for non-residential services in Leeds. These are 
explained in more detail below.  

 
 Improved Ability to Invest in Social Care Services 
 
4.4 Leeds City Council receives less Formula Grant per head of population than almost 

all core cities and is proud of its track record of levying a low Council Tax compared 
to many similar cities. In this context however, our generosity in service user 
contributions, if continued, will have implications for the level of service the Council 
can afford to provide in future. The graph below illustrates the projected financial 
position for Adult Social Care for the next five years. Given the demographic 

Page 236Page 80



changes that will increase the number of service users, there will be increased costs 
for providing services at the same level in the future.  

 

 
4.5 Adult Social Care in Leeds is aiming for top-performer status, an improvement over 

its current mid-performing position according to the Commission for Social Care 
Inspection (CSCI).  This policy review presents opportunities that will help realise this 
ambition for service improvement. It is clear that if Leeds does not generate income 
at the average level for authorities across the country we are at a disadvantage 
compared to them in having funding available to improve and provide services in the 
future, which could potentially have an adverse effect on our star rating.  

 
4.6 Appendix 2 shows the results obtained to date of benchmarking our current policy 

against other authorities for 2008/09. Work is ongoing to collect more comprehensive 
data. The four comparator groups used are: 

o Authorities bordering Leeds 
o Core cities 
o Audit Commission comparator group 
o Excellent authorities for adult social care 

Leeds currently seeks a smaller contribution for each service and a lower overall 
maximum payment than many other comparator authorities, but more particularly 
has a more generous financial assessment methodology.  Of those authorities for 
which 2008/09 data have been obtained, all take a person’s capital into account in 
the assessment. With regard to the percentage of disposable income assessed as 
being available towards contributions, one authority takes 50% like Leeds, but all 
others take a higher percentage. 73% of authorities take 100% of disposable income 
into account. Furthermore, 58% of service users in Leeds receive free services 
compared with an average of 43% for members of the 2006/07 CIPFA Financial 
Assessments Benchmarking Club. 
 

4.7 An analysis of CIPFA statistics for 2006/07 shows that Leeds recovers a significantly 
lower percentage of its costs through income. The graph below shows the position 
for older people’s home care and day care services and if Leeds raised its income to 

Five-Year Projections

19.1%
15.6%

12.8%

9.8%7.8%

0

10

20

30

40

50

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13

£
m

Resource
Allocation

Projected
Spend

Page 237Page 81



the average percentages for comparator authorities it would receive additional 
income of £1.4m-£1.6m per annum. 

 

 
Priorities for Investment 

 

4.8 Adult Social Care has identified three priorities for investment: 
o Safeguarding services 
o Carers support 
o Assessment and care management 

In all three areas there is currently insufficient capacity to respond as fully and 
promptly as best practice would require in all circumstances. Information for service 
users and their carers also needs to be made more accessible, particularly via the 
internet. 

 
4.9 Safeguarding is a city-wide responsibility for Adult Social Care and a key service that 

supports the most vulnerable of all service users. There are around 50,000 care 
workers in the city, all of whom need some training so that they can provide better 
protection for service users. The provisions of the Mental Capacity Act also require 
training and support for staff. Keeping people safe requires resources to undertake 
investigations and take appropriate action when safeguarding concerns are raised.  

 
4.10 With regard to carers support, more regular reviews of carers needs following the 

initial carers assessment and actions to meet those needs are the main areas for 
improvement. This links with the need for greater investment in the assessment and 
care management service that will deliver these improvements.    

 
4.11 The assessment and care management function has difficulty with the current level 

of resources in ensuring that all assessments are carried out promptly, and 
particularly in conducting timely and effective reviews to meet performance targets. 
Performance has been improved over the last year, but delivering further 
improvements in the timeliness of assessments and responding to identified needs 

Services for Older People - Percentage of Home Care & Day Care Costs recovered through Income         

5.90%

13.20%

12.50%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

Leeds Comparator Authorities Excellent Authorities

Page 238Page 82



will require additional investment. Data from the 2006/07 expenditure analysis for the 
fifteen Audit Commission comparator authorities who joined the CIPFA 
benchmarking club confirms the relatively low level of resources for assessment and 
care management in Leeds. For all client groups spend in Leeds is significantly 
below the average, for example it is £14.20 per head of population for older people 
compared to the average of £19.40 and £1.80 compared to £3.60 for learning 
disability services. Increased investment in this service is a key priority for Adult 
Social Care. 

 
Improving Fairness, Equity and Consistency 

 
4.12 The levels of contribution for Adult Social Care services have been developed over 

time without the benefit of a policy framework to provide context and consistency. 
This framework, initially considered by Executive Board in November 2005,  now 
needs to be put in place for adult social care services to complement the Council 
framework that has been developed.  

 
4.13 There is a significant level of consistency nationally around contributions for non-

residential social care services, but Leeds is out of line with this general pattern. 
Leeds currently has lower levels of contributions than many other authorities and, 
significantly, has a more generous financial assessment methodology. Leeds also 
recovers a lower percentage of its costs through contributions compared to many 
authorities.  

 
4.14 At present, middle-income service users without savings pay a higher percentage of 

their weekly income in contributions than those with higher incomes. For example, 
someone with a weekly income of £250 could pay 16% of their income in 
contributions, but someone with a weekly income of £800 would contribute only 11% 
of their income, assuming both have the same level of disability-related costs.  This 
is an inequality that this review seeks to address within the context of all service 
users paying a subsidised contribution towards the cost of their services. 

 
4.15 There are opportunities to address differences between contributions toward 

residential care and toward care in people’s own homes that are so wide that some 
people are risking their wellbeing because of financial considerations. There is an 
imbalance between the service user contribution towards an intensive home care 
package and the amount they would paid for residential care. A person going into 
residential care could contribute up to £420 per week towards their care fees, but the 
most they could pay for an intensive home care package is the maximum 
contribution of £88 per week. 

 
4.16 The Independent Living Fund (ILF) is a national funding source that can minimise the 

cost of an intensive care package to the local authority. The current service user 
contributions in Leeds are significantly lower than the national ILF contributions, 
which encourages people to opt for having their care package fully funded by the 
Council. In December 2007, Leeds had the lowest proportion of ILF users per 10,000 
population of comparator authorities (1.4 per 10,000 in Leeds, compared with the 
highest at 9.5). Through bringing Leeds into line with the average for comparator  
authorities in accessing funding through the Independent Living Fund, additional 
funding of around £2.5m could be generated.  

 
 

Page 239Page 83



Providing a Framework for Future Service Changes 
 
4.17 The personalisation agenda will lead to significant changes in the way services are 

delivered over the coming years. The range of services available will need to be 
more local, flexible and driven by service user choices. The aim of this review is to 
establish a framework within which charges for new services can be approved 
through the delegated decision process. 
 

4.18 The Department of Health plans to commission a review of the current Fairer 
Charging guidance with the aim of developing and implementing an improved social 
care contribution regime to reflect the personalisation agenda. This current review in 
Leeds is intended to bring us more into line with the majority of other authorities to 
provide a more consistent basis for implementing any changes that may arise in 
future through new Department of Health guidance on service user contributions.    

 
4.19 Sections 3.3 and 3.4 above outline the Government’s consultation on how a fair, 

affordable and sustainable system of care and support can be established for the 
twenty-first century. This provides a helpful opportunity to incorporate local 
consideration of these issues with the service user contribution consultation in 
Leeds.   

 
5.0 Contributions Policy Framework 
 
5.1 The draft charging and contributions policy framework is attached at Appendix 3. 

This outlines a series of key principles that would underpin service user contributions 
for all Adult Social Care services. It covers recovering costs from other organisations 
as well as contributions from service users.   

 
5.2 There are some key principles proposed within the contributions policy framework: 

o Some subsidy for all service users so they pay a contribution towards the 
cost of providing the service 

o Contributions are based on ability to pay  
o Where possible contributions are based on benchmarked methodologies e.g. 

linked to residential care 
 

5.3 Using the principles set out within the contributions policy framework will allow 
charges for any new or reconfigured services to be approved through the delegated 
decision process. Within the context of this policy framework, this report considers 
options for non-residential social care services.  
 

6.0 Consultation 
 
6.1 Extensive consultation has taken place with a variety of organisations on the 

principles contained within the draft policy framework that went to Executive Board in 
November 2005. One of the regular comments received through the consultation 
undertaken is that services should be provided free of charge, as people have 
contributed during their lives through taxes and pay their Council Tax, so they should 
not be asked to pay again. Charges for services are perceived by some as  a “tax on 
disability”. The view was also expressed that the charging policy rewards those who 
have spent throughout their lives rather than those who have saved for their old age. 
With regard to taking capital into account in the financial assessment, a significant 
minority of respondents supported this.  

Page 240Page 84



 
6.2 The consultation responses reflect some issues that are being debated nationally. As 

an example personal care is currently free in Scotland but not in England, which 
illustrates the difficulties in achieving overall consensus. The views expressed 
through the consultation process need to be considered in the evaluation of options 
within the context of the charging and contributions policy framework principles, 
which includes the strategic policies and objectives of adult social care.  

 
6.3 The next phase of consultation will be more specific and will be based on the options 

set out in section 8. This second phase of consultation will take place between mid-
June and mid-September. A variety of methods will be used to engage service users, 
carers, staff, members, voluntary organisations and other stakeholders. The 
consultation and communication summary plan at Appendix 4 provides further 
details.  

 
6.4 The consultation will set out the national and local context for the contributions 

review as outlined above. A reference group of service users and carers will be 
established to oversee the consultation process. It will include representation from 
service user/carer led groups and will enable more detailed discussion to take place 
on charging options to produce a preferred approach. This will then be the subject of 
wider consultation with all service users and carers who may be affected by the 
changes, providing some background information and giving the opportunity to 
comment through a survey questionnaire, with a telephone helpline to provide 
support. A copy of the draft questionnaire is attached at Appendix 5, providing a 
broad outline of the issues that will be included, although this may be subject to 
change dependent on the work of the reference group. The consultation process will 
include ensuring that minority groups are reached and the views of potential service 
users will be sought through the Citizens Panel. 

 
6.5 The consultation material will be made available to all members and briefings will be 

held for each group. A members workshop will also be held to enable members to 
contribute more fully to the consultation process. 

 
6.6 At the end of the consultation period a full report on the outcomes from stakeholder 

engagement will be prepared, including details of the response rates from the 
different consultation methods. 
 

7.0 Proposed Timetable 
 
7.1 The next phase of consultation is scheduled to take place over the next three 

months. A further report will be brought back to Executive Board in October making 
final recommendations on the charging and contributions framework and revised 
contributions. The effective date for the revised contributions is expected to be 1st 
January 2009, subject to any phased implementation approved by Executive Board 
in October. 

 
8.0 Contribution Options and Levels of Subsidy 
 
8.1 This review has considered a wide range of options within the context of the 

charging and contributions policy framework principles and the national and local 
issues set out above. This work has been distilled into a smaller number of options 

Page 241Page 85



for members to consider and to form the basis of the next phase of stakeholder 
consultation.  

 
8.2 The review will include contributions for home care, day care and transport, meals 

and respite care. Options for consultation regarding these services are set out below. 
Work is also underway to review the contributions for family placement and sitting 
services provided for service users and carers in relation to respite care and to 
ensure that supporting living services are dealt with appropriately relative to home 
care and day support services. As far as possible this further work will be 
incorporated within final recommendations to Executive Board, taking account of the 
views expressed during the consultation process. For those services still in transition 
at that time, contributions will be approved through the delegated decision process 
based on the principles set out in the charging policy framework. 

 
8.3 Whilst the Fairer Charging guidance gives local authorities the ability to provide non-

residential services free of charge, this is not recommended given the investment 
needs of adult social care set out above. The consultation will focus not on whether 
service users should contribute towards the cost of their services, but how increased 
service user contributions to bring our income more into line with other authorities 
can best be generated, taking into account fairness, equity and consistency.  

 
8.4 There are three main options for income generation: 
 

a. Increasing contributions for each service and the maximum weekly 
payment 
The options are to bring Leeds more into line with the average for other 

authorities or to adopt either a higher or lower increase  
e.g. for home care, the current charge for Leeds is £8.80 per hour but the 
average for other authorities is £10.60 per hour (for day care the figures are 
£4.20 compared with £6.30 per day) 

This is a low income generation option. 
 

b. Increasing the percentage of disposable income that is available as a 
contribution towards services 
Leeds currently includes 50% of disposable income as a contribution towards 

the cost of services.  
The options are to increase the disposable income percentage to bring Leeds 

in line with: 
- the significant majority of other authorities who take 100%  
- the minority of authorities who take 70%-75%. 

This is a moderate income generation option. 
 

c. Taking capital, excluding the value of a person’s home, into account in 
assessing the contribution  
Leeds currently does not take capital into account in the financial assessment. 
The option is to take capital into account like the significant majority of other 

authorities (there are several ways this can be done that will be considered 
during the consultation process)  

This is a high income generation option. 
 
8.5 The options are not mutually exclusive and the fact that Leeds is an outlier on all 

three options, at least to some degree, would suggest that some change regarding 

Page 242Page 86



each of these options is likely to be required. Further details of the options will be 
provided to members through the briefings and workshop set out in section 6.5. 

 
8.6 The Council’s Fees and Charges Policy recommends that subsidy levels are set out 

clearly and justified when charging decisions are made. It is proposed that 
contribution amounts are subsidised for all services, the basis for this being to 
provide financial support to those who require social care services as they are some 
of the most vulnerable people in Leeds. The level of subsidy varies across services 
and with the different contribution options being considered, ranging from a possible 
38% subsidy for meals to 94% for day care and the associated transport. 

 
8.7 There has been some discussion in Leeds about age-related free services for adult 

social care.  Within the context of service user contributions that reflect ability to pay, 
different contributions based on age do not support the improved equity and fairness 
that this review seeks to achieve. In addition, it would have significant implications 
for income generation as set out in the next section. 

 
8.8 The potential to phase the implementation of revised contributions will be included 

within the consultation. The two main options are: 
o Implementing changes on a phased basis e.g. moving to 75% of disposable 

income in year 1 and to 100% in year 2 
o Capping the overall increase in contributions for service users in year 1 at a 

particular weekly figure 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 
 
9.1 Total income from financially assessed home care, supported living, day care and 

transport contributions is currently £2m per annum. Income from flat-rate respite care 
meals contributes totals £0.9m, giving an overall total of £2.9m per year.    

 
9.2 The three ways of generating additional income can be applied individually or can be 

combined to give multiple options and the impact of the main options are outlined 
below. Projections relating to day care cannot be as accurate as those for home care 
due to the ongoing service reconfiguration that may affect service user numbers. 
Similarly, the impact of taking capital into account cannot be modeled with complete 
accuracy as we do not currently require information on capital as part of our 
assessments.  Due to this degree of uncertainty, the projected income is shown as a 
range rather than an absolute figure.  

 
9.3 The additional income and impact on service users for the three main options are 

summarised below: 
 

i) Low income generation option - increasing contributions for each service 
and the maximum weekly payment 
Additional annual income up to £0.5m. 
The 32% of service users receiving a free service will continue to do so (58% if 

flat-rate meals and respite care contributions are excluded) 
No change at all for 46% of service users (85% if flat-rate meals and respite 

care contributions are excluded) 
For 49% of service users the increase in contributions will be less than £5 per 

week 
 

Page 243Page 87



ii) Moderate income generation option - increasing the percentage of 
disposable income that is available as a contribution towards services 
Additional annual income £1m to £1.4m, if combined with increased 

contributions for each service 
The 32% of service users receiving a free service will continue to do so (58% if 

flat-rate meals and respite care contributions are excluded) 
No change at all for 31% of service users (58% if flat-rate meals and respite 

care contributions are excluded) 
1% of service users would see their contribution increase by more than £30 per 

week 
 

iii) High income generation option - taking capital, excluding the value of a 
person’s home, into account in assessing the contribution  
Additional annual income £2.5m to £4.6m, if combined with increased 

contributions and an increase in the disposable income percentage 
Those receiving a free service would reduce from 32% to 16% (from 58% to 

29% if flat-rate meals and respite care contributions are excluded) 
For those with capital of less than £13,500, excluding the value of their home, 

anyone currently receiving a free service will continue to do so (unless they 
receive meals or respite care for which flat-rate contributions apply) 

No change at all for 21% of service users (38% if flat-rate meals and respite 
care contributions are excluded) 

14% of service users would see their contribution increase by more than £30 
per week (7% by more than £50 per week) 

 
9.4 Free services on an age-related basis would not support the income generation 

aspirations set out in this report to support the level of service provided and 
investment in service improvement. If non-residential adult social care services were 
provided free to those over 85, 39% of current income and potential additional 
income would be lost. If free services were provided to those aged over 80, 61% of 
income would be lost. As the age of service users is expected to continue to 
increase over time, age-related free services will become even less affordable in the 
future. Free services based on age would result in either a reduction in the level of 
services that could be provided by Adult Social Care or the need to identify other 
areas within the Council to make up the lost revenue.  

 
10.0 Specific Implications for Equality and Diversity 
 
10.1 An equality impact assessment will be undertaken to assess whether the contribution 

options will affect some communities or groups of service users differently. This will 
take into account the Council’s statutory duties in relation to equality, diversity and 
cohesion. Any changes required to offset potential inequalities will be reported to 
Executive Board in October 2008 along with the results of the equality impact 
assessment.  

 
11.0 Recommendations 
 
11.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 

(a) Note the contextual information outlined in this report and how it impacts 
on the contributions review 

(b) Support as the context for the consultation process the need to generate 
more income from service user contributions to improve our ability to 

Page 244Page 88



invest in social care services and to support fairness, equity and 
consistency 

(c) Agree the contributions options set out in section 8.4 to form the basis of 
stakeholder consultation 

 
 
 

List of Background Papers used in the Preparation of this Report  
   
1. Fairer Charging Policies for Home Care and Other non-residential Social Services – 

Guidance for Councils with Social Services Responsibilities - Dept. of Health, Nov. 2001 
 
2.  Fairer Charging Policies for Home Care and Other non-residential Social Services – 

Practice Guidance - Dept. of Health, Feb. 2002 
 
3.  Fairer Charging Policies for Home Care and Other non-residential Social Services – Good 

Practice Guide – National Association of Financial Assessment Officers 
 
4. “Case for Change: Why England needs a new Care and Support System” – Department of 

Health Consultation Paper, May 2008 
 
5. “Paying the Price – The Cost of Mental Health Care in England to 2026” – King’s Fund, 2008 
 
6. Executive Board Report 16th November 2005 –  Social Services Charging Policy Framework 

 
7. Responses to the consultation exercise in 2006 (notes of consultation meetings and written 

responses) 
 
8. Leeds City Council Fees and Charges Policy and Best Practice Guidance – February 2008 
 
9. 2006/07 CIPFA Statistics – Personal Social Services 
 
10. Independent Living Fund Statistics – December 2007 
 
11. 2008/09 Charges for Other Authorities (collated by Leeds Adult Social Care)    
 

Page 245Page 89



Page 246

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



APPENDIX 1 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE – CURRENT CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

2008/09 NON-RESIDENTIAL SERVICE USER CONTRIBUTIONS AND ASSESSMENT 
METHODOLOGY 

 
 
Contributions 
 

Assessed Contributions 
 

Home Care   £8.80 per hour  
 

Day Care Attendance £3.00 per day 
 

Transport to Day Care £1.20 per day 
 

Maximum Charge  £88.00 per week 
 

Flat-rate Contributions 
 

Meals    £2.20 per 2-course meal  
 £1.30 per cold second meal (currently available 

through  7-day meals pilot only) 
 

Respite Care/Family £73.95 per week for people aged over 60 
      Placement   £65.20 week for people aged 25 to 60 (£39.35 if not  

     in receipt of Disability Premium) 
£52.65 per week for people aged under 25 (£26.80 

if not in receipt of Disability Premium) 
  
 
Assessment Methodology 
 
Capital/interest from capital not taken into account in the financial assessment 
 
50% of disposable income after allowable expenses assessed as being available towards 
service user contributions  
 
 
Income Included in the Financial Assessment 
  

Income Included Income Excluded 
State Retirement Pension 
Occupational Pension 
Guarantee Credit (Pension Credit) 
Attendance Allowance 
Disability Living Allowance 
War Disability Pension (first £10 per week 

disregarded) 
War Widows Pension (first £10 per week 

disregarded) 

 

Earnings 
Working Tax Credit 
Savings Credit (Pension Credit) 
Mobility Allowance 
War Widows Supplementary 
Pension 

 

Page 247Page 91



 
Allowances Given in the Financial Assessment 
 

Personal Allowances 
Basic Income Support/Pension Credit plus 25% - the figures vary depending on the 

benefits being received, but the minimum weekly amounts for each age group are: 
Aged 60 or over  £155.06  
Aged 25 to 59   £75.63 
Aged 18 to 24   £49.94  

 
Housing Costs 

Mortgage/rent payments (less any Housing Benefit received) 
Council Tax (less any Council Tax benefit received) 
Water rates 

 
Disability Related Expenses 

Additional heating costs (using regional figures issued by the National Association of 
Financial Assessment Officers)  

Additional laundry costs (using regional figures issued by the National Association of 
Financial Assessment Officers) 

Additional dietary costs 
Community alarm costs 
Costs of equipment purchased (converted to a weekly amount) 
Costs of help with domestic tasks or gardening 
Costs of care purchased (if part of care plan) 
Other costs associated with maintaining independence 

 
 
Example of Financial Assessment Calculation 

 
Per 
Week 

Per 
Week 

 
 

 £ £   

Income     

Pension Credit 60.50    

Attendance Allowance 67.00    

State Retirement Pension 101.20    

Occupational Pension 12.70     

  241.40   

Allowances     

Personal allowance 155.06    

Water rates  4.50  No other housing   

Heating allowance 3.20     costs as entitled to   

Laundry allowance 3.05     full Housing and   

Domestic help 12.00     Council Tax   

Gardening 6.00     Benefit  

Stair lift 2.90    

Taxis 15.00     

  201.71   

     

Disposable Income (income less allowances)  39.69   

     

Maximum assessed as payable towards services  19.85   

(50% of disposable income)     

Page 248Page 92



     

     

     

     
 
 
 
 
  

Page 249Page 93



Page 250

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 94



   

               APPENDIX 2   
  

2007/08 SERVICE USER CONTRIBUTION COMPARISONS – OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
 

AUTHORITY HOME CARE 
 
 

£ per hour 

DAY CARE 
ATTENDANCE/ 
TRANSPORT 
£ per day 

MAXIMUM 
CONTRIBUTION 

 
£ per week 

SAVINGS 
TAKEN INTO 
ACCOUNT 

DISPOSABLE 
INCOME FOR 

CONTRIBUTION 
% 

Leeds £8.80 £4.20 £88.00 No 50% 

NEIGHBOURS      
Bradford £10.03 £19.96 £85.00 Yes  

Calderdale £8.14 £9.98 £104.00 Yes 75% 

Kirklees £8.50 £6.60 £170.00 Yes 100% 

North Yorkshire £14.00 £1.75 £254.00 Yes 90% 

Wakefield £8.16 £2.50 £102.00 Yes 100% 

CORE CITIES      

Birmingham £15.30  £100.00 Yes 100% 

Bristol £12.55   Yes 100% 

Liverpool £8.00  £177.00 Yes 70% 

Manchester  £1.00 £72.10 Yes 100% 

Newcastle upon Tyne £9.75 £11.50 £150.00 Yes 100% 

Nottingham £8.50  £75.00 Yes 100% 

Sheffield  £8.76 £5.67 £103.00 Yes 100% 

AUDIT COMMISSION COMPARATORS      

Birmingham £15.30  £100.00 Yes 100% 

Bradford £10.03 £19.96 £85.00 Yes  

Bristol £12.55   Yes 100% 

Coventry £10.38 £20.74  Yes 50% 

Derby  £3.00    

Dudley      

Kirklees £8.50 £6.60 £170.00 Yes 100% 

Liverpool £8.00  £177.00 Yes 70% 

Newcastle upon Tyne £9.75 £11.50 £150.00 Yes 100% 

Salford £9.00 £17.00  Yes 80% 

Sheffield  £8.76 £5.67 £103.00 Yes 100% 

Stockport £10.70 £30.60 £238.00 Yes 100% 

Swindon £14.50 £10.90 £427.00 Yes 90% 

Trafford £7.30 £14.20 £168.00 Yes 100% 

Wakefield £8.16 £2.50 £102.00 Yes 100% 

P
a
g
e
 2

5
1

P
a
g
e
 9

5



   

AUTHORITY HOME CARE 
 
 

£ per hour 

DAY CARE 
ATTENDANCE/ 
TRANSPORT 
£ per day 

MAXIMUM 
CONTRIBUTION 

 
£ per week 

SAVINGS 
TAKEN INTO 
ACCOUNT 

DISPOSABLE 
INCOME FOR 

CONTRIBUTION 
% 

EXECELLENT ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
AUTHORITIES 

     

Bolton £10.80  £188.90 Yes 95% 

Camden £13.35   Yes 100% 

City of London £9.80  £320.00 Yes  

Dudley      

Hammersmith and Fulham No charge No charge    

Hounslow £15.60 £1.60  Yes          100% 

Kirklees £8.50 £6.60 £170.00 Yes 100% 

Knowsley Cost of service Cost of service £150.00 Yes 100% 

Middlesborough £12.22   Yes 100% 

Redbridge £14.30 Various £250.00 Yes  

Salford £9.00 £17.00  Yes 80% 

Shropshire £10.76 £27.00 £120 Yes 100% 

Somerset £15.00  £340.00 Yes 100% 

Tameside £10.50 £1.91 £175.50 Yes 100% 

Tower Hamlets No charge No charge    

Westminster £11.60 (£3.30 up 
to 4 hours) 

No charge £358.00 Yes 100% 

 
 
 

P
a
g
e
 2

5
2

P
a
g
e
 9

6



APPENDIX 3 
 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE SERVICES 
 

CHARGING  AND CONTRIBUTIONS POLICY FRAMEWORK (DRAFT) 
 

 
Coverage 
 
q This policy framework covers all Adult Social Care Services for which charges can 

be levied. 
 
 
Legislative Background 
 
Powers 
 
q Under S17 of Health and Social Services and Social Security Adjudication Act 

1983 the Local Authority has a power to ‘recover such charges (if any) for (the 
service) as they consider reasonable.’ This power relates to services for disabled 
people, care of mothers and young children, prevention of illness, care and after-
care services, laundry facilities, meals and recreation for old people, home help 
services and services under S2 of the Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000. 

 
Duties 
 
q Under S22 of the National Assistance Act 1948 the Local Authority is required by 

law to recover the cost of residential accommodation. This is covered in detail 
under the Charging for Residential Accommodation Guide (see statutory 
guidance below). 

  
 
Statutory Guidance 
 
q Local Authority Circular LAC (2001)32 – Fairer Charging Policies for Home are 

and Other non-residential Social Services – Dept. of Health, Nov. 2001 
 
q Fairer Charging Policies for Home Care and Other non-residential Social Services 

– Guidance for Councils with Social Services Responsibilities - Dept. of Health, 
Nov. 2001 

 
q Fairer Charging Policies for Home Care and Other non-residential Social Services 

– Practice Guidance - Dept. of Health, Feb. 2002 
 
q Charging for Residential Accommodation Guide (CRAG) - Dept. of Health, March 

2003 
 
 
Council Guidance 
 
q Leeds City Council Fees and Charges Policy 
 
q Leeds City Council Fees and Charges Best Practice Guidance 

Page 253Page 97



General Principles 
 
q Charges will be subsidised, except where the full cost of providing the service is 

sufficiently low that a subsidy is not required 
 
q Those charges that are not levied at the full cost of providing the service will be 

termed “service user contributions” rather than charges 
 
q Charges for Adult Social Care Services will take account of charges levied by 

other authorities so that people in Leeds are not unduly advantaged or 
disadvantaged compared with those living elsewhere 

 
q Where charges or service user contributions apply, service users will be offered 

welfare benefits advice and support in making claims 
 
q All services provided by the Directorate should be charged for unless prevented 

by statute or under exceptional circumstances agreed  as exempt by the Director  
 
q The level of charges or service user contributions, and where applicable the 

financial assessment methodology, should support the strategic policies and 
objectives of the Council and the Adult Social Care service   

 
q Where charges or service user contributions for non-residential services are 

based on costs they should be averages (i.e. irrespective of which provider 
delivers the service) 

 
q Costs should be calculated in a standardised manner, in accordance with the 

Department of Health expenditure return (PSSEX1) methodology where 
applicable 

 
q If service users are eligible for benefits/sources of funding (e.g. Independent 

Living Fund) they will be treated as being in receipt of them even if they choose 
not to claim  

 
q Differentials between charges or service user contributions in residential and 

community settings should not be so wide that service users’ choices are unduly 
influenced by financial considerations 

 
q For service user contributions set below the full cost of providing the service, the 

cost should be identified for service users as well as their contribution  
 
q Charges and service user contributions should be increased annually at the start 

of each financial year on an appropriate basis  
 
q The Director will have the discretion to waive charges or service user 

contributions in individual circumstances if considered appropriate  
 
 
Services Provided to External Organisations 
 
q All services provided to and/or on behalf of external organisations should be 

charged for at full economic cost, except where this would compromise 
partnership/contractual arrangements or be uneconomic (too expensive to 

Page 254Page 98



administer or where charges levied on the directorate would be higher than those 
levied on others). An example of this would be a care assessment carried out on 
behalf of another authority. 

 
 
Services to Service Users with Eligible Needs 
 
q The charging policy applies to the provision of services for people with eligible 

needs, either provided by the Directorate or commissioned from voluntary and 
independent sector providers  

 
q Residential services must be financially assessed in accordance with the 

Department of Health’s Charging for Residential Accommodation Guide (CRAG), 
with the charge reflecting the actual cost of the service (i.e. the cost of the 
particular residential home, not an overall average as for non-residential services)  

           
q Service users will be financially assessed to determine the amount they pay 

towards their services, except where charging all service users the same is 
permitted under the “Fairer Charging” guidance and it would clearly be 
uneconomic to do so (i.e. assessment too costly to administer and/or income 
would be less than with a reasonable flat-rate charge)  

 
q With charges for which service users are not financially assessed, they should be 

set below full economic cost where this is necessary to ensure that they are 
affordable for all service users  

 
 

Services to Service Users who do not have Eligible Needs 
        
q Any services provided to service users who do not have eligible needs will be 

purchased at full economic cost, unless they assist in stabilising independence 
and avoid service users becoming more dependent. These services will be 
specifically designed for people who do not have eligible needs and will not be a 
less intensive form of those services provided to people with eligible needs. 

 
q The service user contributions for those services that promote independence and 

so are not at full economic cost will be determined by the Director on an individual 
basis for each service, taking into account the principles set out within this 
charging and contributions policy framework. 

  

 
 

Page 255Page 99



Page 256

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 100



APPENDIX 4 

Consultation and Communication Plan – Summary   
 

APPROACH INTENDED AUDIENCE 
 

INFORMATION FORMAT 
 

Reference Group Service users and carers 
 

Advertise for nominations or self-nominations 
Briefing document(s) and workshop discussions 
 

Focus Group Voluntary organisations Advertise for nominations or self-nominations 
Briefing document(s) and workshop discussions  
 

Survey/Questionnaire All service users/carers 
Potential service users (Citizens Panel) 
 

Advert/Notice 
Briefing document(s) including an explanation of how people 
may be affected by the options 

Questionnaire/survey 
Telephone helpline available 
 

Briefing Document Voluntary organisations who represent 
service users or provide services  

Other council services e.g. Supporting 
People 

Members of staff  
Service providers (including the 
independent sector) 
Members 
MPs 
 

Briefing document with covering letter and an explanation of 
the context 
 

Briefing Meetings Members workshop 
Learning Disability Partnership Board 
Members of staff (on request) 
Service providers (on request) 
 

Presentation 
Briefing document with covering letter and an explanation of 
the context, including an explanation of how people may 
be affected by the options  

Option to complete questionnaire 
 

Attendance at Forums and Reference Groups 
(to ensure that minority groups are effectively 
engaged in the consultation) 

Service users and carers groups 
Voluntary sector organisations and 
forums  

 

Presentation 
Briefing document with covering letter and an explanation of 
the context, including an explanation of how people may 
be affected by the options  

Option to complete questionnaire  
 

General Notice  Citizens of Leeds About Leeds newspaper 
Invitation to ask for further information and provide comments 
 

P
a
g
e
 2

5
7

P
a
g
e
 1

0
1



 

P
a
g
e
 2

5
8

P
a
g
e
 1

0
2



 

APPENDIX 5 
 
 

SERVICE USER CONTRIBUTIONS - CONSULTATION SURVEY 
 
 

Background Information 
 
Non-residential services are a cornerstone of our strategy to support people in the 
community. For many people, it is the key to enabling them to remain independent and in 
their own homes. It is very important that the services are properly funded. The 
contributions made by people who use these services are an important part of that 
funding.  

 
The Council is currently reviewing the contributions service users make towards the cost of 
these services.  

 
If you receive any of the following services, or if you care for someone who receives a 
service, then this review could affect you. The services that it will cover are: 

 
Home care     Day services 
Supported living services   Transport to day services 
Respite care     Family placement 
Sitting services 
 

We would welcome your views before we make any decisions about changing the way 
people contribute towards these services. Please do take time to think about how you feel 
about the questions we have asked in this survey. 
 
If you feel you need any further information to complete this survey or would like some 
help to complete it, please ring our telephone helpline: 
 

 
Telephone Helpline:          0113……….. 
 
Open Monday to Friday - 9.00 am to 4.30 pm 
 

 
 
Why is this review taking place? 
 
We want to make sure that we have enough money to provide the level of services that 
people need now and in the future and also to improve some important services. We get a 
large amount of funding from the government and the Council Tax, but we get less 
government funding than most other big cities and we do not get as much as most 
authorities from service user contributions. 
 
We want to make the contributions we ask service users to pay fairer and reduce the 
differences between Leeds and most other authorities 
 
We want to have some agreed principles for service user contributions so that when 
services change or new services are introduced we can set new service user 
contributions. 

Page 259Page 103



 

What do I need to know before I can make comments about how the Council should 
charge for its community-based social care services?  
 

 
• The services someone receives are added together and then the financial 

assessment works out what they can afford to pay for the whole package of care, 
not for each individual service. Only meals and respite care are separate and 
everyone pays the same for those services. 

 

• To protect people on a low income, when people are assessed the government 
says everyone is allowed to keep as their income the basic income support level 
plus a “buffer” of 25% on top before they pay anything towards their services. For 
someone over 60 this amount is £155.06 per week. 

 

• The financial assessment takes account of what people have to pay for their 
housing costs and anything they need to spend because of their disability. These 
costs are added to the “Income Support plus 25%” figure. If someone’s income is 
below this overall total the government says they cannot contribute towards the 
cost of their services. This is to make sure that people do not pay more than they 
can afford.  

 

• The government says that any savings below £13,500 must be ignored. 
 

• The staff who carry out the financial assessment will check whether people are 
getting all the financial benefits they are entitled to. If they can claim other 
benefits the person who visits will help them to fill in a claim form or fill it in for 
them. 

 

• Currently the contributions service users make in Leeds towards the cost of their 
services are significantly below the national average and neighbouring 
authorities.  

 

• After we have deducted allowances for day to day expenses, housing costs and 
any costs related to a person’s disability from their income, anything left over this 
is called disposable income. Most other local authorities take all this disposable 
income as being available as a contribution towards the cost of someone’s 
services, but in Leeds at the moment we only take half.  

 

• In Leeds we currently ignore the savings or investments that people have in 
assessing the amount they can pay towards the cost of their services. Almost all 
other local authorities take savings and investments into account. The 
Government says that we must ignore the value of a person’s home and any 
savings and investments below £13,500. 

 

 
Whatever the Council decides about service user contributions towards community-
based social care services, people whose income is less than “Income Support plus 
25%” and who have savings of less than £13,500 will continue to receive free 
services. 
 
 
 
 

Page 260Page 104



 

Review of Service User Contributions 
Indicative Questions 

 
The questions provided below are the basic questions we would seek to ask. They will be 
amended as appropriate based on the `preferred options` that emerge from the 
discussions held with the Service User and Carer Reference Group. 
 

1. Are you the person who receives the service or someone completing it on their 
behalf? 

 
 
 Service User   Carer      
 
 Other (please state) _______________________________________ 
 
 

2. Which services do you use? 
 

   
  Home Care     
  Supported Living Services 
  Day Services 
  Transport to Day Services 
  Respite Care 
  Family Placement (Adults) 
  Sitting Services 
  Direct Payments 
 
 
 

3. How would you describe your ethnic background?  
 

  

British  

Irish  

WHITE 

Any other White background  

White & Black Caribbean  

White & Black African  

White & Asian  

MIXED 

Any other mixed background  

Indian  

Pakistani  

Bangladeshi  

Kashmiri  

ASIAN OR ASIAN 
BRITISH 

Any other Asian background  

Caribbean  

African  

BLACK OR BLACK 
BRITISH 

Any other Black background  

Chinese  

Gypsy/Traveller  

BLACK OTHER 
ETHNIC GROUPS 

Other  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 261Page 105



 

4. Level of contribution towards the cost of services 
 

 
The Council subsidises all services, but people are asked to make a contribution towards 
the cost of their services. In Leeds this contribution is less than in many other places.  
 
The Council is thinking about increasing service user contributions for services to enable 
us to invest more in the services we provide and to improve the fairness of our 
contributions. 
 
Would you agree with a proposal to increase the contribution for services to enable us to 
invest more in our services? 
  

Agree strongly  

Agree  

Neither agree not disagree  

Disagree  

Disagree strongly  

 
 

5. The maximum payment 
 

 
Currently contributions in Leeds are capped at £88 per week, regardless of whether 
people have enough money to pay more towards the cost of their care. 
 
If we remove the maximum payment or increase it people will continue to be 
protected by the financial assessment and no-one will be asked to pay more than 
they can reasonably afford. 
 
Would you agree with a proposal to remove the maximum payment? 

 

Agree strongly  

Agree  

Neither agree not disagree  

Disagree  

Disagree strongly  

  
We could keep a maximum payment, but link it to the cost of residential care, which at the 
moment is around £420 per week. This link with residential care only relates to the 
maximum payment - the contributions for residential care are different to services in the 
community, so the value of a person’s home is always ignored for community services.  
 
Would you agree with a proposal to keep the maximum payment but to link it to the 
amount a person would pay if they went into residential care? 

 

Agree strongly  

Agree  

Neither agree not disagree  

Disagree  

Disagree strongly  

 

Page 262Page 106



 

6. Disposable income percentage 
 

 
In the financial assessment we look at people’s income and then give them allowances for 
day to day expenses, housing costs and any costs related to their disability. We deduct all 
these allowances from their income and if there is anything left over this is called 
disposable income. 
 
Most other local authorities take 100% of disposable income as being available as a 
contribution towards the cost of someone’s services, but in Leeds at the moment we only 
take 50% of disposable income as a contribution.  

 
The Council is thinking about increasing the percentage of disposable income that it takes 
into account in assessing a service user’s contribution to enable us to invest more in the 
services we provide and to improve the fairness of our contributions. 

 
Would you agree with a proposal to increase the disposable income percentage to enable 
us to invest more in our services? 

  

Agree strongly  

Agree  

Neither agree not disagree  

Disagree  

Disagree strongly  

 
 
 

7. Savings and investments 
 

 
In Leeds we currently ignore any savings or investments that people have in assessing the 
amount they can pay towards the cost of their services. Almost all other local authorities 
take savings and investments into account. The Government says that we must ignore the 
value of a person’s home and any savings and investments below £13,500. 
 
The Council is thinking about taking capital into account to enable us to invest more in the 
services we provide and to improve the fairness of our contributions. 
 
Would you agree with a proposal to take savings and investments over £13,500 into 
account to enable us to invest more in our services?  

 

Agree strongly  

Agree  

Neither agree not disagree  

Disagree  

Disagree strongly  

 
We could take savings and investments into account in the same way as the government 
says we have to for people going into residential care. The value of a person’s home will 
be ignored, but this would mean that anyone with savings over £22,250 would pay the full 
contribution for their services at the subsidised rate. 
 

Page 263Page 107



 

Would you agree with a proposal to take savings and investments into account in the 
same way that the Government says we have to for people going into residential care?  

 

Agree strongly  

Agree  

Neither agree not disagree  

Disagree  

Disagree strongly  

 
 
 

8. Phasing implementation 
 

 
Any changes that the Council makes to its service user contributions may lead to a 
significant increase in the weekly charge for some people. 
 
We may look at the timing of putting the changes in place so that people do not have to 
pay the full increase in the first year. We could so this in two main ways: 
 

Option 1 By introducing part of a change in year 1 and the remainder in year 2.  
For example, we could increase the disposable income percentage in 
year 1, but delay the full increase until year 2. 

 
Option 2 By capping the overall increase in weekly contributions 

 
Which of these two options would you prefer? 

 

Option 1  

Option 2  

 
Those people who see an increase in their contributions will not be asked to pay more 
than they can reasonably afford. 
 
What would you consider to be an acceptable maximum increase in weekly contributions 
in the first year?  

 

 
Maximum increase in the year 1 weekly 
contribution: 
 

 
£                        per week 

 

Page 264Page 108



A
d
u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C
a
re

 –
In

c
o
m

e
 R

e
v
ie

w
 

Page 109



C
o
n
te
x
t

□
P
u
b
li
c
 c

o
n
v
e
rs

a
ti
o
n
 u

n
d
e
rw

a
y
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
ll
y
 o

n
:

§
T
h
e
 s

u
s
ta

in
a
b
il
it
y
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 f

o
r 

s
o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 
g
iv

e
n
 t

h
e
 d

e
m

o
g
ra

p
h
ic

 p
ro

fi
le

 a
n
d
 

c
h
a
n
g
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
r 

e
x
p
e
c
ta

ti
o
n
s

§
T
h
e
 b

a
la

n
c
e
 o

f 
fu

n
d
in

g
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
ls

 
a
n
d
 t

h
e
 s

ta
te

□
P
e
rs

o
n
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 n

a
ti
o
n
a
l 
re

v
ie

w
 o

f 
F
a
ir

e
r 

C
h
a
rg

in
g
 g

u
id

a
n
c
e

□
L
e
e
d
s
 i
s
 s

ta
rt

in
g
 f

ro
m

 a
 l
o
w

 b
a
s
e
 

Page 110



W
h
y
 d
o
 w
e
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
o
 t
h
is
 r
e
v
ie
w
?

□
T
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 o

u
r 

a
b
il
it
y
 t

o
 i
n
v
e
s
t 

in
 A

d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia

l 
C
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

□
T
o
  

im
p
ro

v
e
 f

a
ir
n
e
s
s
, 

e
q
u
it
y
 a

n
d
 c

o
n
s
is

te
n
c
y

□
T
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

 f
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

 f
o
r 

c
h
a
rg

in
g
 t

o
 h

e
lp

 
p
re

p
a
re

 f
o
r 

p
e
rs

o
n
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 n

e
w

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s

Page 111



P
r
in
c
ip
le
s
 a
n
d
 C
o
n
te
x
t

§
S
o
m

e
 s

u
b
s
id

y
 f

o
r 

a
ll
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

, 
s
o
 t

h
e
y
 p

a
y
 a

 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n

ra
th

e
r 

th
a
n
 a

 c
h
a
r
g
e

§
C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 a

b
il
it
y
 t

o
 p

a
y

§
C
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 w
h
e
re

 p
o
s
s
ib

le
 b

e
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

b
e
n
c
h
m

a
rk

e
d
 m

e
th

o
d
o
lo

g
ie

s
 e

.g
. 

p
a
y
m

e
n
ts

 f
o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re

, 
In

d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

L
iv

in
g
 F

u
n
d

§
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 n

o
t 

o
n
 w
h
e
th
e
r

w
e
 s

h
o
u
ld

 c
h
a
rg

e
, 

b
u
t 

o
n
 h
o
w
 w

e
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 o

u
r 

in
c
o
m

e
 t

o
 r

e
-i

n
v
e
s
t 

in
 

A
d
u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C
a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s

Page 112



I
n
c
o
m
e
 b
e
n
c
h
m
a
r
k
in
g
 

I
n
c
o
m
e
 a
s
 a
 p
e
r
c
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
p
r
o
v
id
in
g
 o
ld
e
r
 p
e
o
p
le
’s
 s
e
r
v
ic
e
s

If
 L

e
e
d
s
 r

a
is

e
d
 i
ts

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

’s
 h

o
m

e
 c

a
re

 a
n
d
 d

a
y
 c

a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

a
v
e
ra

g
e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
s
 f
o
r 

c
o
m

p
a
ra

to
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 i
t 

w
o
u
ld

 r
e
c
e
iv

e
 a

n
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
£
1
.4

m
 

to
 1

.6
m

 p
e
r 

a
n
n
u
m

 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

 f
o

r 
O

ld
e

r 
P

e
o

p
le

 -
 P

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
H

o
m

e
 C

a
re

 &
 D

a
y
 C

a
re

 C
o

s
ts

 r
e

c
o

v
e

re
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 I
n

c
o

m
e

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 

1
2
.5
0
%

1
3
.2
0
%

5
.9
0
%

0
%

2
%

4
%

6
%

8
%

1
0
%

1
2
%

1
4
%

L
e
e
d
s

C
o
m
p
a
ra
to
r 
A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s

E
xc
e
ll
e
n
t 
A
u
th
o
ri
ti
e
s

Page 113



H
e
a
d
li
n
e
 F
ig
u
r
e
s
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
p
a
r
is
o
n
s

□
O

f 
5
,6

0
0
 h

o
m

e
 c

a
re

 &
 d

a
y
 c

a
re

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 3
,2

5
0
 

(5
8
%

) 
c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 f

re
e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s

□
S
o
m

e
o
n
e
 w

it
h
 a

 w
e
e
k
ly

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 o

f 
£
2
9
5
 a

n
d
 £

2
0
,0

0
0
 

in
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 r

e
c
e
iv

in
g
 1

1
 h

o
u
rs

 p
e
r 

w
e
e
k
 o

f 
h
o
m

e
 c

a
re

 
w

o
u
ld

 c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 p

a
y
:

§
£
4
9
.5

4
 p

e
r 

w
e
e
k
 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s

§
B
e
tw

e
e
n
 £

8
5
 a

n
d
 £

1
1
2
 p

e
r 

w
e
e
k
 i
n
 a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 

b
o
rd

e
ri

n
g
 L

e
e
d
s
 

□
A
 n

o
n
 h

o
m

e
-o

w
n
e
r 

w
it
h
 t

h
is

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 w

o
u
ld

 p
a
y
 

£
2
5
2
.1

0
 p

e
r 

w
e
e
k
 f

o
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ti
a
l 
c
a
re

Page 114



L
e
e
d
s
 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
C
o
n
te
x
t

□
A
d
u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
C
a
re

 h
a
s
 d

e
li
v
e
re

d
 a

 b
a
la

n
c
e
d
 

b
u
d
g
e
t 

fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

□
S
o
c
io

-
e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 p

ro
fi
le

 o
f 

L
e
e
d
s

§
R
e
s
u
lt
s
 i
n
 l
o
w

 c
e
n
tr

a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

fu
n
d
in

g
 

§
Is

 n
o
t 

re
fl
e
c
te

d
 i
n
 o

u
r 

in
c
o
m

e
 g

e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

□
A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
in

c
o
m

e
 f

ro
m

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
r 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 i
s
 n

e
e
d
e
d
 t

o
 

§
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 l
e
v
e
ls

 a
s
  

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
r 

n
u
m

b
e
rs

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 d

u
e
 t

o
 d

e
m

o
g
ra

p
h
y

§
P
ro

v
id

e
 f

o
r 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 

in
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

Page 115



I
ll
u
s
tr
a
ti
v
e
 5
-y
e
a
r
 p
o
s
it
io
n

F
iv

e
-Y

e
a

r 
P

ro
je

c
ti

o
n

s

1
9
.1
%

1
5
.6
%

1
2
.8
%

9
.8
%

7
.8
%

0

1
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

5
0

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

2
0
1
1
/1
2

2
0
1
2
/1
3

£m

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e

A
llo
c
a
ti
o
n

P
ro
je
c
te
d

S
p
e
n
d

Page 116



K
e
y
 M
il
e
s
to
n
e
s

□
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

§
O

p
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

1
1

th
Ju

n
e
 2

0
0
8

□
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

Ju
n
e
 –

O
c
t 

2
0
0
8

□
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B

o
a
rd

§
F
in

a
l 
re

c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8

□
Im

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

F
ro

m
 F

e
b
/M

a
r 

2
0
0
9

N
.B

. 
O

p
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

p
h
a
s
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h

Page 117



C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 P
r
o
c
e
s
s

□
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 a

ll
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 &
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 

g
ro

u
p
s
, 

e
n
s
u
ri
n
g
 m

in
o
ri
ty

 g
ro

u
p
s
 a

re
 r

e
a
c
h
e
d

§
T
e
le

p
h
o
n
e
 h

e
lp

li
n
e

□
R
e
fe

re
n
c
e
 g

ro
u
p
 o

f 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 

□
C
it
iz

e
n
s
 P

a
n
e
l 
-

to
 g

e
t 

v
ie

w
s
 o

f 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 

fu
tu

re
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

□
M

e
m

b
e
rs

:

§
B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 f

o
r 

e
a
c
h
 g

ro
u
p

§
M

e
m

b
e
rs

 w
o
rk

s
h
o
p

Page 118



W
h
a
t 
a
r
e
 w
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
in
g
 o
n
?

□
O

p
ti
o
n
s
 b

a
s
e
d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 t

h
re

e
 w

a
y
s
 o

f 
ra

is
in

g
 

m
o
re

 i
n
c
o
m

e

§
In

c
re

a
s
in

g
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 &

 m
a
x
im

u
m

 
p
a
y
m

e
n
t

§
In

c
re

a
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 d

is
p
o
s
a
b
le

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 p

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

§
T
a
k
in

g
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
in

to
 a

c
c
o
u
n
t 

(i
g
n
o
ri

n
g
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 

b
e
lo

w
 £

1
3
,5

0
0
 &

 t
h
e
 v

a
lu

e
 o

f 
a
 p

e
rs

o
n
’s

 h
o
m

e
)

□
O

p
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

p
h
a
s
in

g
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n

Page 119



I
n
c
r
e
a
s
in
g
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r
 e
a
c
h
 s
e
r
v
ic
e
 

(
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 m
a
x
im
u
m
 p
a
y
m
e
n
t 
–
c
u
r
r
e
n
tl
y
 

£
8
8
 p
e
r
 w
e
e
k
)

□
O

p
ti
o
n
s
:

§
B
ri
n
g
 L

e
e
d
s
 m

o
re

 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 a

v
e
ra

g
e
?

§
L
o
w

e
r 

in
c
re

a
s
e
?

§
H

ig
h
e
r 

in
c
re

a
s
e
?

Page 120



I
n
c
r
e
a
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
is
p
o
s
a
b
le
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 

p
e
r
c
e
n
ta
g
e
 p
a
id
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t

□
O

p
ti
o
n
s
:

§
B
ri
n
g
 L

e
e
d
s
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

m
a
jo

ri
ty

 o
f 

o
th

e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 w

h
o
 t

a
k
e
 1

0
0
%

 o
f 

d
is

p
o
s
a
b
le

 
in

c
o
m

e
?
 (

5
0
%

 i
n
 L

e
e
d
s
)

§
B
ri
n
g
 L

e
e
d
s
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 m

in
o
ri

ty
 o

f 
o
th

e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 w

h
o
 t

a
k
e
 7

0
%

-7
5
%

 o
f 

d
is

p
o
s
a
b
le

 
in

c
o
m

e
?

Page 121



T
a
k
in
g
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
in
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t

(
I
g
n
o
r
in
g
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 b
e
lo
w
 £
1
3
,5
0
0
 &
 t
h
e
 v
a
lu
e
 

o
f 
a
 p
e
r
s
o
n
’s
 h
o
m
e
)

□
O

p
ti
o
n
s
:

§
B
ri
n
g
 L

e
e
d
s
 i
n
 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 s

ig
n
if
ic

a
n
t 

m
a
jo

ri
ty

 
o
f 

o
th

e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 w

h
o
 t

a
k
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
in

to
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t?

 (
L
e
e
d
s
 d

o
e
s
 n

o
t 

ta
k
e
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
in

to
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t)

§
S
e
v
e
ra

l 
w

a
y
s
 t

h
is

 c
a
n
 b

e
 d

o
n
e
 w

il
l 
b
e
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 d

u
ri

n
g
 t

h
e
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

Page 122



I
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
O
p
ti
o
n
s
 (
1
)

□
O

n
ly

 t
h
o
s
e
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 t

h
a
t 

in
c
lu

d
e
 t

a
k
in

g
 c

a
p
it
a
l 
in

to
 

a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

w
il
l 
b
ri
n
g
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 i
n
to

 l
in

e
 w

it
h
 m

o
s
t 

o
th

e
r 

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s

□
G

iv
e
n
 t

h
e
 f

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
c
o
n
te

x
t 

&
 t

h
e
 n

e
e
d
 t

o
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 

in
c
o
m

e
, 

th
e
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 a

re
:

§
M

o
d
e
ra

te
 -

in
c
re

a
s
e
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 l
e
v
e
ls

, 
1
0
0
%

 

d
is

p
o
s
a
b
le

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 t

a
k
e
n
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t,

 c
a
p
it
a
l 
n
o
t 

ta
k
e
n
 

in
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t

§
M

a
x
im

u
m

-
m

o
re

 s
u
b
s
ta

n
ti
a
l 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
, 

1
0
0
%

 d
is

p
o
s
a
b
le

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 t

a
k
e
n
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

a
n
d
 c

a
p
it
a
l 

ta
k
e
 i
n
to

 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 

Page 123



I
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
O
p
ti
o
n
s
 (
2
)

N
.B
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
d
a
ta
 s
ti
ll
 n
o
t 
fu
ll
y
 r
o
b
u
s
t

M
o
d
e
ra

te
  

  
M

a
x
im

u
m

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
In

c
o
m

e
£
1
m

-£
1
.4

m
£
3
.9

m
-£

4
.6

m

S
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

:

§
N

o
 c

h
a
n
g
e
 t

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n

3
,2

2
8
 (

3
1
%

) 
  
  

2
,1

0
9
 (

2
1
%

)

§
W

e
e
k
ly

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
s
 o

f

-
L
e
s
s
 t

h
a
n
 £

5
5
,1

9
8
 (

5
1
%

) 
5
,0

6
8
(5

0
%

)

-
£
5
 t

o
 £

9
.9

9
5
7
8
 (

6
%

)
6
5
1
 (

6
%

)

-
£
1
0
 t

o
 £

4
9
.9

9
1
,2

4
4
 (

1
2
%

)
1
,9

5
0
 (

1
9
%

)

-
£
5
0
 t

o
 £

9
9
.9

9
6
 (

0
%

)
2
5
4
 (

2
%

)

-
O

v
e
r 

£
1
0
0

0
 (

0
%

)
2
2
2
 (

2
%

)

Page 124



O
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r
 P
h
a
s
in
g
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n

□
T
w

o
 m

a
in

 o
p
ti
o
n
s
:

§
Im

p
le

m
e
n
ti
n
g
 c

h
a
n
g
e
s
 o

n
 a

 p
h
a
s
e
d
 b

a
s
is

 
e
.g

. 
m

o
v
in

g
 t

o
 7

5
%

 o
f 

d
is

p
o
s
a
b
le

 i
n
c
o
m

e
 

in
 y

e
a
r 

1
 a

n
d
 1

0
0
%

 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

2
 

§
C
a
p
p
in

g
 t

h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

1
 a

t 
a
 p

a
rt

ic
u
la

r 
w

e
e
k
ly

 f
ig

u
re

 

Page 125



T
h
a
n
k
 Y

o
u
 –

A
n
y
 Q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
?

Page 126



Appendix 3 
 
 

www.leeds.gov.uk  

  
 Sandie Keene 
 Director of Adult Social Services 
 Merrion House 
 110 Merrion Centre 
 Leeds LS2 8QB 
  
 
 Contact: Janet Somers 
 Tel: 01132 477443 

  Fax: 01132 477452 
   
  Date: 16 July 2008 
  
Dear Councillor, 
 

Review of Income for Non-Residential Adult Social Care Services 
 
Further to the report to Executive Board in June and the briefings that we have undertaken 
since then, we agreed to provide all members with some further information to help answer 
any questions raised by constituents as the consultation process takes place. 
 
Attached for your information is more detail on the consultation plan and some additional 
briefing information in the form of “Frequently Asked Questions”. The consultation plan 
outlines the work that has been undertaken since Executive Board in June and how the 
consultation will be undertaken over the coming months. It reflects the decision at Council 
last week to extend the consultation period to the end of October and provides dates/venues 
of meetings planned where these are known. Further updates will be provided as more dates 
are confirmed.  
 
I hope this information is helpful, but if you have any further queries please contact Janet 
Somers (contact details above) or Ann Hill (tel. 2478555).  
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Sandie Keene 
Director of Adult Social Services 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 

www.leeds.gov.uk  

Adult Social Care 
 
INCOME REVIEW – FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS 
 
Why does the Council want to raise more money from people who use social care services? 
The cost of providing adult social care services will rise over time, for example as we have more 
older people and people with very complex care needs to support. Also, we want to invest in 
improving the services we provide to some of the most vulnerable people in the city. Leeds generates 
less income from service users than most similar authorities, which reduces our ability to invest in 
adult social care services for the future.  
 
Why are you doing this review in Leeds now when there’s a national consultation process 
going on about the funding of adult social care services?  
The national consultation sits alongside the review in Leeds as both are considering how  funding for 
care and support can be made sustainable for the future and what the balance of funding should be 
from individuals, their families and central/local government. We are hoping that a consultation event 
can be held in Leeds as part of the national consultation so that people can put forward their views. 
However, any changes nationally following this consultation are likely to take several years to bring in 
through legislation and in Leeds we need to look at our available funding more quickly.  
 
Which services are affected by this review? 
This review covers all services provided to people living in the community, for example home care, 
supported living services, day care and meals. It does not cover residential or nursing care. It 
includes those services provided following a care assessment, whether they are provided directly by 
Adult Social Care or arranged by the Department through voluntary or private providers.  
 
Many service users have paid taxes and National Insurance all their lives. Why are they being 
asked to pay more for their social care services? 
Local authorities do not get direct access to the money raised through taxes and National Insurance 
to fund their services. Instead, local government services are funded in three main ways: 

1. Central government funding  
2. Council Tax 
3. Income from those who use council services 

 
Why doesn’t the Council increase the Council Tax rather than asking vulnerable service users 
to pay more for their social care services? 
Central government restricts the increase in the Council Tax each year through it’s “capping” powers, 
so although the Council Tax in Leeds is low compared to most big cities Leeds City Council cannot 
make significant increases without central government intervening. 
 
Rather than asking vulnerable service users to pay more, why can’t the Council make itself 
more efficient?  
Over the last three years the Council has achieved £72 million of efficiency savings and we will 
continue to look for additional ways of delivering efficiency savings in the future across all services. 
 
Rather than asking vulnerable service users to pay more, why can’t the Council stop 
spending money on things like big city centre projects that cost millions of pounds? 
Some of the biggest projects have received substantial funding from outside organisations who would 
not have given the funding for any other purpose. The council funding that goes into these projects 
comes from borrowing money or from selling council assets that we no longer need, but we are not 
allowed to use this money to fund ongoing adult social care services. 
 
Aren’t there any alternatives to increasing income from service users? 
Substantial efficiency savings have been delivered across the Council (£72 million over the last three 
years) and further savings will be achieved in the future, but this alone will not provide all the 
additional funding we need. We will continue to review our spending priorities across Council and 
within Adult Social Care, but some increased contributions from service users also have a part to 
play. Leeds generates less income from service users than most similar authorities, including our 
near neighbours. 

Page 128



 

www.leeds.gov.uk  

 
How will the Council make sure that any changes that are made to service user contributions 
are fair and affordable? 
We will analyse the impact of any proposed changes on our current service users. This will include 
an equality impact assessment to identify any options that affect some communities or groups of 
service users differently. Any changes we make must comply with the government’s “Fairer 
Charging” guidance to ensure that people are not asked to pay more than they can reasonably 
afford. The Council provides a significant subsidy for Adult Social Care services. All the services 
provided following a care assessment will continue to be subsidised for all services users whatever 
their financial circumstances, although the level of subsidy may reduce.   
 
Are there any service users who will not be affected by this review? 
Many of the service users who receive free services currently will continue to do so. People whose 
income is less than the government’s defined figures (Income Support plus 25%) and who have 
savings of less than £13,500 are guaranteed to continue to receive free services. The “Income 
Support plus 25%” figures vary depending on the benefits being received, but the minimum weekly 
amounts for each age group are: 
 

 Aged 60 or over   £155.06 
 Aged 25 to 59   £75.63 
 Aged 18 to 24   £59.94 

  
 
 
11th July 2008 
 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4 
 

Adult Social Care 
 

INCOME REVIEW COMMUNICATION AND CONSULTATION PLAN 2008 
 

Progress Update – 11th July 2008 
 

1. Awareness Raising 
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Member briefings 
 

June 2008 Completed 

Press release 
 

3rd June 2008 Completed 

Briefing for local MPs 
 

6th June 2008 Completed 

Letter to voluntary, community and faith 
organisations 
 

13th June 2008 Completed 

Article in Adult Social Care E-zine for 
members of staff 
 

w/c 23rd June 2008 Completed 

Letter to independent sector providers 
 

w/c 14th July 2008 Ready for circulation 

Briefing information for all staff 
 

w/c 14th July 2008 Ready for circulation 

 
 
2. Service User and Carer Reference Group 
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Letter to a number of organisations and 
forums requesting representatives to 
become members of the Income Review 
Service User and Carer Reference Group 
 

13th June 2008 Completed 

First meeting of the Reference Group and 
election of an Independent Chair 
 

4th July 2008 Completed 

Reference Group to continue to meet to 
advise on a questionnaire to go to service 
users and carers, including a number of 
preferred options which will be included in 
the consultation 
 

w/c 7th July to end of July 2008 Two meetings held & 
final meeting 
scheduled 

Reference Group to meet to review 
feedback to date from consultation 
 

September 2008  

Reference Group to meet at the end of 
the consultation period to review 
feedback and produce a report to the 
Income Review Project Board. This will 
feed in to the Executive Board report. 
 

November 2008  

Page 131



 

3. Consultation with Service Users 
 
All users of non-residential services will receive a questionnaire, together with a covering letter and 
some background information. 
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Questionnaire to all service users. All 
people using day services will receive 
their questionnaires via the day service 
and a `post box` will be left in the centres 
for completed questionnaires 
 

w/c 11th August to end of 
October 2008 
 

 

Members of the Project Team responsible 
for consultation will visit a number of day 
services for older people to ask for their 
views on the possible changes. 
 

September/October 2008  

Members of the Project Team responsible 
for consultation will visit all day services 
for people with a learning disability to 
meet with the service user groups and at 
a later date the Parent, Relative and 
Friend groups. This work will be 
undertaken in conjunction with the 
“Asking You” group of service users 
within the learning disability service. 
 

September/October 2008  

Service users will be invited to open 
meetings that will be held in Leeds 
(proposed locations – city centre, 
Rothwell, Wetherby and Otley). These will 
be evening meetings. 
 

September 2008 Dates to be 
notified in the 
covering letter 
accompanying the 
questionnaire 

Adult Social Care will provide resources 
for small community organisations to 
consult with service users who might not 
be able or willing to engage with us 
directly. 
 

August to October 2008 To be planned 
during late July 
with the Service 
User and Carer 
Reference Group. 

A freephone helpline and an e-mail 
account will be available for service users 
and their carers during the consultation 
process. 
 

August to October 2008  

 
 
 
 
4. Consultation with Voluntary, Community and Faith Organisations 
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Organisations will receive a questionnaire 
to complete plus a briefing document 
including “Frequently Asked Questions”. 
 

w/c 11th August to October 
2008 

 

Page 132



 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Representative organisations will receive 
an invitation to a Focus Group to look at 
the issues in more depth. 
 

w/c 11th August 2008  

Focus Group meeting(s) 
 

August/September 2008  

Attendance at Social Care Community 
Forum Race Equality Meeting 
 

12th August 2008 Date confirmed 

Organisations can request that officers 
from the Project Team attend one of their 
meetings to discuss the issue. 
 

August to October 2008  

Organisations will also be invited to the 
four open events across the city. 
 

September 2008  

Attendance at a number of forums 
representing diversity in terms of gender, 
sexuality, ethnicity and disability. 
 

September or early October 
2008 

 

 
 
 
5. Consultation with the Citizens of Leeds 
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Background information, including 
“Frequently Asked Questions” will be put 
on the internet, including the Council’s 
“Talking Point” site.  
 

August to October 2008  

Four open meetings will be held across 
the city  
 

September 2008  

The freephone telephone line and an e-
mail account will be open to the citizens 
of Leeds 
 

August to October 2008  

Posters will be put up in Council buildings 
advertising the consultation with details of 
how people can be involved. 
 

August 2008  

Press release prior to the questionnaires 
being disctributed 
 

w/c 4th August 2008  

Citizen’s Panel consultation 
 

August/September 2008  

Article in the “About Leeds” newspaper 
about the consultation process and how 
people can contribute 
 

September 2008  

 
 
 

Page 133



 

6. Briefing Information & Consultation with Members of Staff 
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Briefing document and “Frequently Asked 
Questions” for members of staff, 
providing information in case of service 
user queries and giving the opportunity 
for staff to comment. Hard copies will be 
distributed to staff and the information will 
be placed on the Intranet.  
 

Starting w/c 28th July 2008  

More detailed briefing document for 
managers with “Frequently Asked 
Questions”. Project Team officers 
attendance at management meetings. 
 

Starting w/c 28th July 2008  

 
 
 
7. Briefing Information & Consultation with Providers, Commissioners and 

Partners  
 

Action Timescale Progress 
 

Briefing document and “Frequently Asked 
Questions”, providing information in case 
of service user queries and giving the 
opportunity to comment.  
 

Starting w/c 28th July 2008  

Attendance at meetings e.g. Learning 
Disability Partnership Board 
 

August to October 2008  

 
 
 
8. Briefing Information & Consultation with Members 
 

Action  Timescale Progress 
 

Briefing document, “Frequently Asked 
Questions” and details of the consultation 
process 
 

Friday 18th July Being copied for 
distribution 

Member updates Periodically July to October 
2008 
 

 

Members workshop September 2008  
 

 
 

Page 134



 
 
Report of the Head of Scrutiny and Member Development 
 
Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) 
 
Date:  23 July 2008 
 
Subject:  Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) –  Work Programme  
 
 

        
 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 At its meeting in June 2008, the Board identified a number of issues for its work 
programme and requested these to be formally presented at a future meeting.   As 
such, the Board’s draft work programme is attached as Appendix 1.   

 

1.2 Also attached for Members consideration is an extract from the Forward Plan of Key 
Decisions for the period 1 July 2008 to 31 October 2008 (Appendix 2). 

  
2.0 ADULT SOCIAL CARE  PROPOSALS WORKING GROUP 
 
2.1 In the previous municipal year, the former Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult Social 

Care) establish a Health Proposals Working Group to consider,  at an early stage, 
service development proposals from NHS organisations within the City.  One of the 
aims of such a working group was to help keep Members appraised of future 
developments overall and to help identify significant issues that warranted further 
and more detailed consideration by the full Scrutiny Board. 

 
2.2 Given the recent split in responsibilities between the Health and Adult Social Care 

Scrutiny Boards, Members are asked to give consideration to establishing a similar 
working group focusing on Adult Social Care matters.   

 
2.3 Subject to the Boards approval and appointment to a working group, draft terms of 

reference will be prepared and presented to a future Board meeting.   
 
 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Steven Courtney 
 
Tel: 247 4707  

Agenda Item 10

Page 135



3.0 ADAPTATIONS 
 
3.1 At its meeting in June 2008, the Board also identified ‘Adaptations’ as a potential 

topic area for a more detailed inquiry.   
 
3.2 In October 2002, the Scrutiny Board (Social Services) published its inquiry report on 

Adaptations.  A copy of the final report is attached at Appendix 3 for information. 
 
3.3 Given the previous inquiry undertaken and any changes to service delivery since that 

time, the Board is asked to consider how best consider this topic further 
consideration.  To this end, the Board should be reminded of the range of available 
approaches to evidence gathering, which include one or more of the following: 

 

• A working group of the Scrutiny Board to consider some evidence and question 
key witnesses 

 

• Full meetings of the Scrutiny Board to consider some evidence and question 
key witnesses 

 

• Discussion with key stakeholders 
 

• Visits to selected establishments, as appropriate, to engage with service users 
and staff 

 

• Visits to other authority areas and/or areas of best practice, as appropriate 
 
 
4.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 Members are asked to; 
 

(i) Consider the draft work programme attached at Appendix 1 and the extract 
from the Forward Plan of Key Decisions for the period 1 July 2008 to 31 October 

2008 (Appendix 2) 
(ii) Consider the establishment of an Adult Social Care Proposals Working 

Group, with terms of reference to be presented to a future meeting.   
(iii) Determine the best approach to give future consideration to the ‘Adaptations’ 

topic. 
(iv) Amend and/ or agree the Board’s work programme. 

 

 

Page 136



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
  
2
3
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
 

D
ig
n
it
y
 i
n
 C
a
re
 

T
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
 

a
n
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
. 

M
a
y
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 w
o
rk
. 

B
 

In
c
o
m
e
 G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 w
it
h
 a
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 I
n
c
o
m
e
 

G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
a
re
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 1
1
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
 

B
 

P
e
rs
o
n
a
li
s
e
d
 D
a
y
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

fo
r 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 w
it
h
 a
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
 a
n
d
 m
o
re
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
e
d
 

d
a
y
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 o
n
 1
6
 

J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
 

B
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

d
ra
ft
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
d
ra
ft
 t
e
rm
s
 o
f 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 

fo
r 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

R
P
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
7
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

1
s
t  
s
e
s
s
io
n
 

T
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 

in
to
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 

fo
r 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

R
P
 

Page 137



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 i
n
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 

w
it
h
in
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
: 

Ø
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

Ø
 
N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 N
e
tw
o
rk
s
 

Ø
 
C
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 

Ø
 
R
is
k
 T
a
k
in
g
  

Ø
 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
s
 f
o
r 
O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
s
 

P
ro
je
c
ts
 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
- 
D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
/0
8
 (
A
p
ri
l 
- 

J
u
n
e
) 

A
ll 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
a
s
is
 

P
M
 

U
p
d
a
te
 o
n
 L
e
e
d
s
 L
o
c
a
l 

In
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
N
e
tw

o
rk
 

(L
IN
k
) 

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 w
it
h
 a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 a
n
d
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

h
o
s
t 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
. 

M
a
y
 n
e
e
d
 s
o
m
e
 i
n
p
u
t 
fr
o
m
 L
e
g
a
l 

re
g
a
rd
in
g
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

 A
ls
o
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
. 

B
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

T
ra
c
k
in
g
 

T
h
is
 i
te
m
 t
ra
c
k
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

b
a
s
is
 

U
n
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 f
e
a
tu
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 g
iv
e
n
 

th
e
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 d
a
te
. 

M
S
R
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
  
1
5
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

2
n
d
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

T
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

in
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 

fo
r 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

R
P
 

Page 138



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

H
o
m
e
c
a
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 h
o
m
e
c
a
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

s
e
c
to
r 
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
. 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
- 
D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
 

P
M
 

J
o
in
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 N
e
e
d
s
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(J
S
N
A
) 
- 

u
p
d
a
te
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
a
 j
o
in
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
s
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu
re
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 p
o
p
u
lo
u
s
 o
f 
L
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 

a
n
y
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
/ 

re
c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
s
 

A
ls
o
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
. 

 N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 t
im
in
g
, 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
ro
le
 

a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
. 

B
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
2
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
- 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
R
e
v
ie
w
 R
e
p
o
rt
 

(2
0
0
7
/0
8
) 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 

re
v
ie
w
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 f
o
r 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 I
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 (
C
S
C
I)
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
7
/0
8
  

T
im
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 r
e
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 

fo
r 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 5
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 In
v
it
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 f
ro
m
 C
S
C
I 
to
 

p
re
s
e
n
t 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

P
M
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 &
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 A
d
u
lt
s
 –
 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
. 

T
im
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 r
e
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 

fo
r 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 5
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 In
v
it
e
 l
e
a
d
 i
n
s
p
e
c
to
r 
to
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 

P
M
 

Page 139



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

In
c
o
m
e
 G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
a
re
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
 

th
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

In
c
o
m
e
 G
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
a
re
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 s
u
b
s
e
q
u
e
n
t 
d
e
c
is
io
n
s
. 

T
im
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 -
 r
e
p
o
rt
 s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 

fo
r 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 o
n
 5
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
. 
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 a
n
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 

to
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
e
ri
o
d
 i
s
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 t
im
in
g
 o
f 
th
is
 i
te
m
. 

D
P
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

T
ra
c
k
in
g
 

T
h
is
 i
te
m
 t
ra
c
k
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

b
a
s
is
 

U
n
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 f
e
a
tu
re
 o
n
 t
h
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 g
iv
e
n
 

th
e
 n
a
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 w
o
rk
 t
o
 d
a
te
. 

M
S
R
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
0
 D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

3
rd
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

T
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 t
h
ir
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 

in
to
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 

fo
r 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

R
P
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 (
J
u
ly
-

S
e
p
t)
 

A
ll 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
a
s
is
 

P
M
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
  
7
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

Page 140



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

D
ra
ft
 F
in
a
l 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 d
ra
ft
 f
in
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 

to
 t
h
e
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 

fo
r 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

R
P
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 1
1
 F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 &
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 A
d
u
lt
s
 –
 

in
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

p
la
n
 a
ri
s
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 i
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
  

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
. 

P
M
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

T
ra
c
k
in
g
 

T
h
is
 i
te
m
 t
ra
c
k
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 

b
a
s
is
 

 
M
S
R
 

 
 

 
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
  
1
1
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 i
n
 A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
 u
p
d
a
te
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
p
d
a
te
 f
ro
m
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
  

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
3
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 (
O
c
t-

D
e
c
) 

A
ll 
S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
s
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
a
s
is
 

P
M
 

 
 

 
 

Page 141



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

T
y
p
e
 o
f 

it
e
m
 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 d
a
te
 –
 8
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

H
o
m
e
c
a
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 h
o
m
e
c
a
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 

s
e
c
to
r 
p
ro
v
id
e
rs
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
u
p
d
a
te
 f
ro
m
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
  

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
 

P
M
 

In
q
u
ir
y
 i
n
to
 A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

In
it
ia
l 
re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 
re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
to
 a
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 

fo
r 
u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 t
h
is
 i
n
q
u
ir
y
. 

R
P
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 a
g
re
e
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
’s
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

a
n
n
u
a
l 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

W
o
rk
in
g
 G
ro
u
p
s
 

W
o
rk
in
g
 g
ro
u
p
 

M
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 u
p
d
a
te
 

D
a
te
s
 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 

N
/A
 

T
o
 b
e
 

c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 

 

U
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 /
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
It
e
m
s
 

Page 142



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 r
e
p
o
rt
  

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
re
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
n
y
 

e
m
e
rg
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
n
y
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

 T
im
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 

S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 V
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 A
d
u
lt
s
 

T
B
C
 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
. 

 N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
ro
le
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 o
f 
th
e
 B
o
a
rd
. 

 D
ra
ft
 T
e
rm
s
 o
f 
R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 n
e
e
d
e
d
. 

M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 L
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t,
 i
m
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
v
e
 c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 

re
g
a
rd
in
g
: 

•
 
T
h
e
 M
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 A
c
t 

•
 
M
e
n
ta
l 
C
a
p
a
c
it
y
  

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fo
rm
a
t 
a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 o
f 

a
n
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 

P
o
s
s
ib
ly
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
a
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 a
s
 a
n
 i
s
s
u
e
 o
f 
p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 

p
o
lic
y
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 p
ri
o
r 
to
 t
h
e
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r?
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 C
a
re
 I
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
im
p
a
c
t 
a
n
d
 f
u
tu
re
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a
s
s
o
c
ia
te
d
 w
it
h
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 

n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fr
a
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 N
H
S
 

c
a
re
, 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
to
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
7
. 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
–
 D
e
n
n
is
 H
o
lm
e
s
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fo
rm
a
t 
a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 o
f 

a
n
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 

Page 143



S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 
 

W
o
rk
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
  

K
e
y
: 
 

R
F
S
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

M
S
R
 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

P
M
 

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
 

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s
 (
In
c
lu
d
in
g
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 f
o
r 
s
c
ru
ti
n
y
) 

R
P
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

S
C
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
P
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
lic
y
 

C
I 

C
a
ll 
in
 

 

U
n
s
c
h
e
d
u
le
d
 /
 P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
It
e
m
s
 

It
e
m
 

D
e
s
c
ri
p
ti
o
n
 

N
o
te
s
 

V
a
lu
in
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 N
o
w
 

T
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 

im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 i
n
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 2
0
0
8
, 
a
lo
n
g
s
id
e
 a
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
- 
P
a
u
l 
B
ro
u
g
h
to
n
. 

N
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fo
rm
a
t 
a
n
d
 t
im
in
g
 o
f 

a
n
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 

   

Page 144



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
  

L
E
E
D
S
 C
IT
Y
 C
O
U
N
C
IL
 

 
F
O
R
W
A
R
D
 P
L
A
N
 O
F
 K
E
Y
 D
E
C
IS
IO
N
S
 -
  
E
x
tr
a
c
t 
re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 B
o
a
rd
 (
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 

 
F
o
r 
th
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 1
 J
u
ly
 2
0
0
8
 t
o
 3
1
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

 

K
e
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

D
a
te
 o
f 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
) 

T
ra
n
s
fo
rm

in
g
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

In
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 “
T
ra
n
s
fo
rm

in
g
 S
o
c
ia
l 

C
a
re
” 
(D
o
H
 L
A
 C
ir
c
u
la
r 
(D
H
) 

(2
0
0
8
)1
) 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 b
e
 a
 

v
a
ri
e
ty
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 p
re
d
o
m
in
a
n
tl
y
 

w
it
h
in
 A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
. 
 

 A
t 
th
is
 s
ta
g
e
 i
t 
is
 n
o
t 
d
e
te
rm

in
e
d
 

w
h
a
t 
th
e
s
e
 a
re
 b
u
t 
a
s
 a
c
ti
o
n
 

p
la
n
s
 a
re
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
e
d
 i
t 
is
 

e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t
o
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
in
g
 

to
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
ta
rg
e
ts
. 

T
h
e
re
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
 s
e
ri
e
s
 o
f 
re
p
o
rt
s
 

a
s
 t
h
is
 i
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

  

1
/7
/0
8
 

A
s
 a
 m
in
im
u
m
 t
h
e
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

m
e
m
b
e
r,
 S
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 

T
ra
d
e
 U
n
io
n
s
. 

H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
a
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 w
ill
 

b
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 

s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 a
re
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
e
d
 a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm

e
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
ly
. 
 

  

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
C
ir
c
u
la
r 

L
A
C
 (
D
H
) 
(2
0
0
8
) 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

Page 145



 
K
e
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
s
 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 M
a
k
e
r 

E
x
p
e
c
te
d
 

D
a
te
 o
f 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 

P
ro
p
o
s
e
d
  

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

D
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 b
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
 

M
a
k
e
r 

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

(T
o
 w
h
o
m
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 m
a
d
e
) 

P
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
e
d
 D
a
y
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 

T
o
 a
g
re
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

p
la
n
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 c
h
o
ic
e
 

a
n
d
 m
o
re
 p
e
rs
o
n
a
lis
e
d
 d
a
y
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 

(P
o
rt
fo
lio
: 
A
d
u
lt
 

H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 

S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
) 

 

1
6
/7
/0
8
 

   

T
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 b
e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
 m
a
k
e
r 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
 

 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
A
d
u
lt
 S
o
c
ia
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

Page 146



  N
O
T
E
S
 

 K
e
y
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
  
a
re
 t
h
o
s
e
 e
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
: 

•
 

w
h
ic
h
 r
e
s
u
lt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 i
n
c
u
rr
in
g
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
 o
r 
m
a
k
in
g
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 o
v
e
r 
£
2
5
0
,0
0
0
 p
e
r 
a
n
n
u
m
, 
o
r 

•
 

a
re
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
e
ff
e
c
t 
o
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 l
iv
in
g
 o
r 
w
o
rk
in
g
 i
n
 a
n
 a
re
a
 c
o
m
p
ri
s
in
g
 t
w
o
 o
r 
m
o
re
 w
a
rd
s
 

 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 P
o
rt
fo
li
o
s
 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 M
e
m
b
e
r 

 

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
a
n
d
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 B
re
tt
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
A
n
d
re
w
 C
a
rt
e
r 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
te
v
e
 S
m
it
h
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s
 a
n
d
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
o
h
n
 L
e
s
lie
 C
a
rt
e
r 

L
e
is
u
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
o
h
n
 P
ro
c
te
r 

C
h
ild
re
n
’s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
S
te
w
a
rt
 G
o
lt
o
n
 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
ic
h
a
rd
 H
a
rk
e
r 

A
d
u
lt
 H
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
P
e
te
r 
H
a
rr
a
n
d
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 L
a
b
o
u
r 
G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
K
e
it
h
 W

a
k
e
fi
e
ld
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 M
o
rl
e
y
 B
o
ro
u
g
h
 

In
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
R
o
b
e
rt
 F
in
n
ig
a
n
 

A
d
v
is
o
ry
 M

e
m
b
e
r 

C
o
u
n
c
ill
o
r 
J
u
d
it
h
 B
la
k
e
 

 In
 c
a
s
e
s
 w
h
e
re
 K
e
y
 D
e
c
is
io
n
s
 t
o
 b
e
 t
a
k
e
n
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 a
re
 n
o
t 
in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
, 
5
 d
a
y
s
 n
o
ti
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 i
n
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 s
u
c
h
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 g
iv
e
n
 b
y
 w
a
y
 o
f 
th
e
 a
g
e
n
d
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 B
o
a
rd
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
. 
 

Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Final Report of Scrutiny Board 
Social Care 

 
 
 
 

 

Adaptations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date of Publication: October 2002 

Page 149



Appendix 3 

 

 
SESSIONAL EVIDENCE 
 
Reports and Publications Submitted 
 
 

• Adaptations Services for Disabled People 

• Written answers to questions posed by the Scrutiny Board 

• Notes from site visit to Department of Housing Services Offices at South 
Point  

• Adaptations for Disabled People – performance against targets 

• Written submission from the Ridings Housing Association 
 

 
Witnesses Heard 
 
 

• Keith Murray – Director of Social Services 

• Robin Lawler – Assistant Director Housing and Environmental Health 
Services (Renewal and Property Services) 

• Tony Pugh – Community Services Manager 

• Graham Rees – Chief Environmental Health Officer 

• Jill Lockwood – Principal Environmental Health Officer 

• Liz Ward – Disability Services Manager 

• Graham Simpson – Principal Officer (Property Services) 

• Mike Evans Assistant Director Housing and Environmental Health 
Services 

      
 
Dates of Scrutiny 
 
 

• 9th July 2002 

• 10th September 2002 
 
 

SITE VISITS 
 

• 7th August 2002 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



Appendix 3 
SCRUTINY BOARD (SOCIAL CARE) 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
We completed an inquiry into adaptations in October 2002.   The focus of our investigation 
was how the enquiry to completion time could be reduced for adaptations made to disabled 
peoples homes. 
 
We received evidence over two sessions from officers within the Housing and Environmental 
Services and Social Services Departments, a Registered Social Landlord, case histories 
from Service  Users and comments from ward councillors.   We sought advice from the 
relevant Chief Officers prior to agreeing our recommendations.  This is attached at Appendix 
1.  Having considered this, and the other evidence we received, we made the following 
recommendations. 
 
Recommendation 1 
 
That the Executive Board instructs officers to establish a new and much more 
rigorous and challenging cross tenure target for the completion of major adaptations. 
 
Recommendation 2 
 
That the Executive Board approve the creation of a new post of Adaptations Manager 
and that consideration could be given to this being a joint appointment between the 
City Council (Social Services and Housing and Environmental Health Services) and 
Primary Care. 
 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the Executive Board instructs officers to develop plans for a pilot scheme, within 
the boundaries of a Primary Care Trust area, to fast track the installation of 
adaptations across all tenures.  The Scrutiny Board is of the view that the pilot should 
examine the practicalities of introducing an Agency type arrangement where staff 

work solely on processing and progressing installation of adaptations. 

 
It is our view that the implementation of these recommendations should be pursued with 
urgency; ideally being completed before the beginning of the next financial year and running 
in tandem with the wider restructuring being proposed for the Council. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 151



Appendix 3 
SCRUTINY BOARD (SOCIAL CARE) 

 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Scrutiny Board (Social Care) received a request for Scrutiny from Councillor 

Graham Hyde concerning the length of time taken for the installation of adaptations to 
peoples homes.  

 
1.2 Early indications were that 40% of adaptations to private properties achieve a target 

enquiry to completion time of 14 months and only 11% of local authority properties 
achieve the target of 9 months.   In light of these figures the Board agreed that further 
scrutiny of the issue was warranted.   

 
2.0 SCOPE OF THE INQUIRY 
 
2.1 The purpose of the review was to consider, and where appropriate, make 

recommendations on, how the enquiry to completion time could be reduced for 
adaptations made to disabled peoples homes. In particular the inquiry considered; 

 

• The sources from which referrals for adaptations are received and the resulting 
outcomes for these referrals 

• The process by which a need for adaptations to Council properties, Housing 
Association properties and private dwellings is assessed and the time taken for 
completion of this assessment 

• The process for determining eligibility for financial support for adaptations to 
Council Housing, Housing Association properties and private dwellings and the 
time taken for completion of this part of the process 

• The role of the Care and Repair Handy person service  

• The range of adaptations provided to homes and the contractual arrangements 
for installation 

• The Council’s record in setting and achieving performance management 
targets for installing adaptations. 

• Comments from Service Users on the existing process 
 
3.0 EVIDENCE CONSIDERED BY THE BOARD 
 
3.1 We would like to record our gratitude to all those who have contributed to the Board’s 

Inquiry into Adaptations.  In undertaking this inquiry we received evidence from Social 
Services, the Department of Housing and Environmental Health Services, a 
Registered Social Landlord and comments from Elected Members based upon 
feedback from constituents.  The Board would also like to extend its thanks to three 
users of the Adaptations Service who allowed sight of their case notes.  This greatly 
informed our understanding of the adaptations process.  

 
3.2 The Inquiry encompassed two specific evidence gathering sessions and a visit to a 

Housing and Environmental Health Services office where we were able to discuss the 
process with staff involved in the administration of adaptation requests.   

 
3.3 We have learnt that, at its simplest, the provision of an adaptation has two stages; the 

assessment of need and the installation of the necessary adaptation.   As needs 
become more complex - the assessment process and the provision of the adaptation 
becomes more involved.  It is in these areas where delays are at their greatest. The 
following paragraphs outline the evidence we heard during the course of our Inquiry.   

Page 152



Appendix 3 
 
THE ASSESSMENT PROCESS 
 
3.4 We were informed that assessments, leading to provision of equipment and 

adaptations are carried out by Occupational Therapists (OT’s) and Occupational 
Therapy Assistants (OTA’s) in Social Services. We were also told that staff in the 
Health Service, including Occupational Therapists, Physiotherapists, and Community 
Nurses are able to make recommendations for simple adaptations.  We were told that 
major adaptations to property are provided on recommendation by Social Service 
Occupational Therapists.   

 
3.5 We were also informed that a range of minor adaptations are now provided by self 

assessment and that this facility is available for council tenants, housing association 
tenants and owner occupiers.  Where a request is received directly from a disabled 
person this is routed through a call centre operated by the Department of Community 
Planning and Regeneration. A call centre operator will complete a simple initial 
contact questionnaire and gather details of the difficulties being experienced. In 
essence this provides the necessary information for a ‘self assessment’ to take place.  
These details are forwarded to the relevant Disability Team Managers.  These 
managers review the information on the self assessment/initial contact questionnaire.  
Where a simple adaptation will alleviate the difficulties being experienced the 
necessary work is ordered without an assessment visit having to take place.  

 
3.6 Where a case requires an assessment visit the Disability Team Managers allocate a 

priority to the referral depending on the level of risk indicated. The table below 
indicates the time between receipt of a referral and starting the assessment for 
assessments started in the first quarter of 2002/3.    
 

Time between first contact and start 
of assessment 

% of 
assessments  

 
Cumulative 

Less than 7 days 24% 24% 

Between 7 days and 3 months 28% 52% 

Between 3 and 6 months 24% 76% 

More than 6 months 24% 100% 
 

 
3.7 During this waiting period the referral is, in essence, located in a Disability Team 

Managers in-tray.  The 24% of assessments that started within 7 days represent the 
high priority referrals where people may be in the end stages of an illness, or where 
the care situation is at imminent risk of breakdown.  The table also illustrates that 
nearly half of all requests for assessment wait over three months before any form 
of assessment takes place.  During this waiting time we were told that the Disability 
Team Managers check, on a weekly basis, whether these lower priority assessments 
have moved up the priority ladder. Once OT’s and their assistants have sufficient 
capacity these cases will become allocated to them. In a quarter of cases, no action 
takes place for over six months. 

 
3.8 The following table provides details of the performance from the first quarter of this 

year in relation to the time taken by the OT service to complete an assessment once it 
has commenced. 55% were completed in 7 days, and 80% within 1 month. 
 

Time between start and end of 
assessment 

% of 
assessments 

Cumulative 

Less than 7 days 55% 55% 

Between 7 days and 1 month 25% 80% 
Page 153



Appendix 3 

Between 1 month and 2 months 14% 94% 

More than 3 months 6% 100% 

 
3.9 Examination of the overall performance in assessment from the time of first contact to 

the completion of the assessment for the first quarter of 2002/3 is shown below. This 
shows that 44% (43% for full year 2201/2) of the referrals had been dealt with within 3 
months, and 69% (70%) within 6 months. 

 

Time between first contact and 
completion of assessment by OT 
service 

 
% assessments 

 
cumulative 

Less than 1 month 15% 15% 

Between 1 month and 3 months  29% 44% 

Between 3 months and 6 months 25% 69% 

More than 6 months 31% 100% 

 
3.10 We were keen to learn what the average maximum waiting time was for a non urgent 

referral from first contact to completion of the assessment.  We were advised that at 
present this period was 26 weeks – ½ a calendar year. 

 
3.11 Where it appears that a major scheme of adaptation will be required we were told that 

an OT will discuss with the disabled person (involving Housing & Environmental 
Health Services where necessary) the range of options open to them. This could 
include moving to a more suitable, or better located property as an alternative to 
adaptations where the existing property is considered unsuitable and/or adaptations 
impractical. 

 
3.12 We were informed that recommendations for adaptations are made in line with local 

and legislative guidance. Minor adaptations to private properties are funded and 
arranged by the Department of Social Services. In addition Housing Associations now 
fund minor adaptations in their own properties. All other recommendations for 
adaptations are forwarded from the Social Services Department to the Department of 
Housing and Environmental Health Services. Here an assessment of eligibility for 
Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) is made (Private properties and Housing Association 
properties) or alterations to the property funded from the Housing Capital Programme 
(Council properties) drawn up. 

 
Staffing 
 
3.13 In total the Occupational Therapy Service received 11,060 referrals for assessment 

during 2001/2. It was emphasised to us that OT’s work does not solely relate to 
assessment of need for adaptations. OT’s work is more complex and in one visit a 
range of solutions to aid daily living will be considered. These might involve training 
for carers in lifting or handling or recommending items of equipment. 

 
3.14 Clearly a key element in considering how to reduce the time taken in the assessment 

process are the resources available to actually undertake assessments. We sought 
details of the number of staff that undertake this work and were advised that 25 
qualified Occupational Therapists, and 18 Occupational Therapy Assistants are 
employed by Social Services. The cost of the these staff we learnt is £721,000 per 
annum.    

Page 154



Appendix 3 
 
3.15 The Director of Social Services told us that an additional ten Occupational Therapists 

would be required to drastically improve the current delays. He also advised us that 
there is a current shortage of qualified Occupational Therapists nationally. In Leeds 
this shortage is being addressed by appointing staff as Occupational Therapy 
Assistants. These staff undertake less technical or complex cases. 

 
Volume Of Service  
 
3.16 In 2001/2 843 major adaptations were completed to properties, across all tenures. In 

2001/2 2038 minor adaptations, plus 70 ceiling hoists were provided by Social 
Services to people in private and Housing Association properties. Additionally 4,600 
minor adaptations were carried out by Housing and Environmental Health Services for 
their tenants. 

 
FINANCING AND PROGRESSING ADAPTATIONS 
 
3.17 Much of the information presented to us was based on the differing processes that are 

followed depending on the tenure of the disabled person that has made an approach 
for the Council’s help.  We found this a difficult concept to accept. Our view from the 
outset was to look at the experience from a disabled persons point of view. We make 
further comment about this in the conclusions and recommendations that follow in 
section four.   

 
3.18 It seems odd to us that adaptations are managed not according to an individuals need 

but by whose name is on the title deeds. Unfortunately the information we have been 
presented with has been based on the ownership of the property and we have had to 
report similarly. 

 
Council Tenants 
 
3.19 Tenants in Local Authority housing do not make any contribution to the cost of 

adaptations which are recommended as being “necessary and appropriate” and 
“reasonable and practicable” to meet their needs.  

 
3.20 Once the assessment (whether a self assessment or one undertaken by an 

Occupational Therapist) is completed details of the adaptations required are passed 
across departments to Housing & Environmental Health Services to authorise the 
work. Housing & Environmental Health Services has a total of 18 staff dealing with 
processing work once it has been ordered. 

 
3.21 For major adaptations completed to Council Properties a performance target for 

completion of 75% of requests within 274 days (9 months) from initial enquiry has 
been set by the Council. Performance in the first quarter of 2002/3 was as follows; 

 

Page 155



Appendix 3 
 

 
Calendar 
days from 1st 
contact to 
completion 

Number % of completions Cumulative 

183 days or 
less (6 
months) 

1  1.2% 1.2% 

 
 
 
 
Within 
Target 

184 – 274 
days (6 to 9 
months) 

8 9.5% 10.7% 

  

275 – 365 
days (9 to 12 
months) 

15 17.9% 28.6% 

366 – 548 
days (12 to 18 
months) 

25 29.8% 58.4% 

Outside 
Target 

More than 548 
days (18 
months) 

35 41.6% 100% 

 
3.22 Performance results for 1st quarter 2002/03 show the target of nine months is only 

being achieved in 10.7% of cases. We do not know how far beyond 18 months the 
delays can stretch. 

   
Minor adaptations in non Council Properties 
 
3.23 We were informed that minor adaptations for Housing Association tenants are funded 

by each Association, and the Department of Social Service funds minor adaptations 
under £500 in owner occupied and private rented accommodation. These may 
include, for example, fixed ceiling hoist systems, which are not eligible for Disabled 
Facilities Grants. Currently these adaptations are provided through a contract 
tendered by the Department of Housing and Environmental Health Services. 

 
Major Adaptations in non Council Properties 
 
3.24 Major adaptations to owner occupied and privately rented properties are generally 

funded via Disabled Facilities Grants. The Housing Grants Construction & 
Regeneration Act 1996 requires Local Authorities to undertake a “Test of Resources” 
(means test) to determine the disabled persons financial contribution towards an 
adaptation. The disabled person must provide the Authority with details in respect of 
benefits, income and savings:  To reiterate there are no means tests for local authority 
tenants. 

 
3.25 The Table below shows the time taken to undertake means testing in respect of a 

sample of 50 Disabled Facilities Grants. 
 

 No of cases  (initial means 
test) 

No of cases (final 
verification) 

7 days or less 3(6%) 19(38%) 

8 to 14 days 9(18%) 24(48%) 

15 to 28 days 24(48%) 3(6%) 

1 to 2 months 12(24%) 4(8%) 

2 months + 2(4%) 0 

 
Page 156



Appendix 3 
 
 
3.26 We were advised that the means test is undertaken twice, firstly to provide the 

applicant with an idea of the likely contributions they may have to make and then 
again once quotes for work have been obtained and the actual application for grant 
aid is submitted.  

 
3.27 Home visits are undertaken by Housing Renewal and Environmental Health staff to 

assist applicants in providing the required information.  Six full time equivalent officers 
administer the Disabled Facilities Grant. 

 
3.28 We were told that links have been established with the Benefits Agency to enable 

details to be checked quickly. However, details are often required from employers 
which can result in delays in the necessary information being provided. Self employed 
applicants need to obtain details via their accountant which often leads to delays. 

 
3.29 Only 14% of Disabled Facilities Grant applicants were assessed as having a 

contribution to make towards their adaptations in 2001/02  The level of contribution is 
shown in the table below. 
 

Amount of contribution Percentage of applicants 

Less than £500 49% 

£500 to £1000 23% 

£1000 to £5000 23% 

£5000 to £10,000 0 

£10,000 + 5% 

 
 
3.30 We were told that families are able to apply to the Department of Social Service for 

assistance with their assessed contribution, or with eligible costs above the grant 
maximum of £25,000. In effect a ‘top up’. The Department is able to consider 
additional expenditure not included in the Test of Resources carried out by the 
Department of Housing Services and Environmental Health, (for example the full cost 
of mortgage repayments), and re considers the amount the family are able to 
contribute to the works.  

 
3.31 The Council have a statutory responsibility to consider providing this assistance.  We 

were told that assessment for assistance from Social Services is in addition to that 
for the Disabled Facilities Grant. The Social Services Department have a budget of 
approximately £400,000 for supporting adaptations including minor adaptations to 
private properties, equipment such as hoists which are not covered by DFG’s and 
assistance to applicants with their assessed contribution. In 2001/2, £37,000 was 
(allocated) used for ‘top up’. 

 
3.32 We were told that prior to April 2001 major adaptations to Housing Association 

properties were generally funded by individual Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s).  
Agreement has now been reached to process Disabled Facilities Grants for these 
adaptations on a shared funding basis. 60% of the cost of the adaptations is now 
grant aided, with a 40% contribution being provided by the RSL. 14 Housing 
Associations with properties in Leeds are currently participating in this arrangement. 
This has resulted in 26 adaptations to Housing Association properties being 
undertaken with Disabled Facilities Grant aid during 2001/02 resulting in grant 
expenditure to a value of £37,724. 

 
 

Page 157



Appendix 3 
 
3.33 248 adaptations were undertaken to owner occupied and privately rented properties 

during 2001/02 resulting in grant expenditure of £1.22m. We were informed that the 
allocation for Disabled Facilities Grants for 2002/03 is £1.3m which will meet the 
current demand for adaptations. Additional resources would be sought to meet any 
increase in demand. 

 
Getting Work Done 
 
3.34 We were told that during the period in between the initial assessment of resources 

and the final application for Disabled Facilities Grant owner occupiers and private 
tenants are required to seek estimates from a number of contractors to undertake the 
major adaptations to their home. In addition in certain complex cases applicants will 
need to commission architects to prepare plans and make the necessary applications 
to the local planning authority. We were told that this area was often a factor in the 
overall delays. We were advised that applicants are informed that Care and Repair 
are able to assist in these areas.   

 
3.35 A performance target for completion of 75% of major adaptations within 487 days (14 

months) has been set by the Council.   This means that an applicant starting the 
process on October 1st 2002 has a 3 in 4 chance of seeing the job done by December 
2003. 
 

 Calendar 
days from 
1st contact 

to 
completion 

Number % of completions Cumulative 

183 days or 
less (6 
months) 

2 3.2% 3.2% 

184 – 274 
days (6 to 9 
months) 

3 5% 8.2% 

275 – 365 
days (9 to 
12 months) 

10 16.4% 24.6% 

Within 
Target 

366 – 426 
days (12 
to14 months 

10 16.4% 41% 

  

427 – 548 
days (14 to 
18 months) 

14 23% 64% Outside 
Target 

More than 
548 days 
(18 months) 

22 36% 100% 

 
3.36 The table above illustrates the performance in delivering adaptations of the 1st quarter 

of 2002/03.  The target was only achieved in 41% of cases. In practice the same 
hypothetical October 1st applicant has a less than 2 in 3 chance of the job being done 
by April 1st 2004. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



Appendix 3 
 
 
 
Customer Dissatisfaction  
 
3.37 We were told that data is gathered in respect of satisfaction levels with the service the 

Council provides for both local authority major adaptations schemes (LADs) and 
schemes for private owners (DFG's). Customer perceptions are tested on issues such 
as the ease of accessing the service, speed with which the service was provided, the 
standard of work completed by the contractor and if the adaptations enabled the user 
to lead an easier life.  

 
3.38 Whilst only covering a relatively small number of Disabled Facilities Grant applicants 

the data concerning customer satisfaction for private owners is particularly 
disappointing. Four out of 5 clients say the process takes too long. 
 
 LADs DFG's 

Customers who felt there were 
unreasonable delays 
 
a. When making the initial 
enquiry. 
b. Before being visited by Social 
Services. 
c. Before the property was 
inspected by a surveyor. 
d. Before contractors started 
work.  
 
That the time taken for the whole 
process was too long 

 
 
 

44% 
 

35% 
 

43% 
 

51% 
 
 

49% 

 
 
 

60% 
 

60% 
 

80% 
 

80% 
 
 

80% 

 

FUTURE PLANS  
 
3.39 We heard from the Disability Services Manager that the NHS Plan has set out to 

modernise community equipment services. Guidance on Integrating Community 
Equipment Services was issued in March 2001 and states that health authorities, 
primary care trusts, NHS trusts and councils should work together in providing an 
integrated equipment and minor adaptations service by April 2004. 

 
3.40 This development clearly impacted on our inquiry and we were told that one option 

being considered is for minor adaptations to operate within the same unit as 
equipment. These services would be based around the 5 PCT areas, possibly with a 
Care & Repair type service in each of the five areas and provide minor adaptations 
across all tenures. In this scenario the Local Authority would have the lead 
responsibility, and host the pooled budget.   

 
3.41 In addition we were told that the Departments of Housing and Environmental Health 

Services and Social Services have been evaluating the current working arrangements 
for the provision of adaptations to examine, in detail, the process of providing major 
adaptations in local authority property (only) and to identify system improvements. 

 
3.42 Officers informed us that work has already been undertaken to improve service 

delivery and that the following changes have been implemented; 
 
  

Page 159



Appendix 3 
Already Done 

 

• Self assessment for very small adaptations e.g.handrails  

• Extra contractors recruited to  reduce delays in commencement of works 

• Lifts separated from the main contract and procured directly from lift manufacturers 

• Standardised adaptations on some types of work e.g. level access showers 
 

3.43 We were told that in addition other changes are in the process of being implemented.   
These are listed below. 

 
Ongoing 

 

• Increase awareness of partners e.g. health, Care & Repair to discuss pressures in 
respect of the increasing demand for adaptations 

• Joint training for Social Services and Housing & Environmental Health Staff 
delivering adaptations 

• A - Z of contacts to improve communication between staff dealing with adaptations 

• Disability co-ordination group – bi-monthly meeting with all partners delivering 
adaptations 

• Review of number of contractors, workload and quality of work 

• Review sessions following difficult/unusual cases  

•   Develop flexible policies for difficult/unusual cases  
 
3.44  We were also told about future proposals that have recently been approved by Social 

Services and Housing & Environmental Health Senior Management Teams 
  

SHORT TERM 
 

• Use of a dedicated staff team in one location ( This will include an OT seconded 
from Social Service to support the delivery of the adaptation following completion 
of assessment, Adaptations Officers and Admin Officers )    

• Customer information pack / describing the process, service standards/photos of 
“real life” improvements 

• Central database across the authority and possibly beyond with unique common 
number for disabled applicant, to enable improved tracking and information to be 
provided regarding progress of adaptations 

 
 

MEDIUM TERM 
 

• Improve access to other housing options e.g. alternative accommodation 

• Improved customer access to call centres [dedicated lines] 
 

MEDIUM - LONG TERM 
 

• Adaptations group across all tenures in one location 

• Computer aided design [cad] [to show customers how adaptation will look] on 
laptops in their own homes 

• Examine other methods of procurement, possibly partnering with contractors. 

Page 160



Appendix 3 
 

Comment from Ridings Housing Association 
 
3.45 We sought comment from a number of Registered Social Landlords in the City and 

received written comment from the Ridings Housing Association. The Association 
commented that the Disabled Facilities Grant pack is designed for individual 
households where the owner of the property approached at least two builders to 
provide a competitive quote. The Association told us that for them this is excessive, 
requiring an officer to arrange a single tender procedure for every grant application. 
The Association would rather enter into a partnership arrangement where a 
competent contracting partner could be appointed that could act as soon as a need is 
identified – in reality a similar arrangement that prevails for Council tenants.    

Page 161



Appendix 3 
 
4.0 BOARD CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
4.1 Our primary focus in undertaking this review was to identifying why there are lengthy 

delays in the provision of Adaptations in peoples homes and offer some thoughts on 
how these delays might be reduced. These adaptations are vital to help people with 
daily living. 

   
4.2 Any wait for anything can often be frustrating for us all. But a wait for an individual 

needing help with day to day tasks soon becomes a battle to preserve independence 
and leads to frustration and often increased pain and suffering. 

 
4.3 When we began our Inquiry the early indications were that 40% of private properties 

achieve an enquiry to completion time of 14 months and only one in nine local 
authority applicants achieve the target of 9 months.  The situation reported to us for 
the 1st quarter of this year shows no improvement.   

 
Targets 
 
4.4 The concept of having different targets for Council Tenants and private properties we 

found to be potentially inequitable.  A perception could well form that the type and 
quality of service people might expect was dependent upon whether the applicant is in 
possession of a Council rent book or regularly made a mortgage payment. 

 
4.5 We actually found no truth in this. Council Tenants received Adaptations within 9 

months in 10.7% of cases and owner occupiers slightly less in 8.2% of cases, slightly 
in favour of Leeds City Council tenants.  However 64% of owner occupiers received 
an adaptation within 18 months and only 58% of Council tenants had their adaptations 
installed within the same period. 

 
4.6 We do however feel that a single target for major adaptations, which is tenure blind, is 

needed as soon as possible to remove any perception that a two tier service is in 
operation. 

 
Recommendation 1 
 
That the Executive Board instructs officers to establish a new and much more 
rigorous and challenging cross tenure target for the completion of major adaptations. 

Page 162



Appendix 3 
 
An Adaptations Manager for Leeds 
 
4.7 Our Inquiry received evidence from a wide range of people. The Director of Social 

Services, the Assistant Director from Housing and Environmental Health Services, the 
Community Services Manager, the Disability Services Manager, a Principal 
Environmental Health Officer and the Chief Environmental Health Officer. Not one 
could lay claim to being answerable for the performance of the adaptations service or 
responsible for driving change in the future. 

 
4.8 We are of the view that identifying a lead for the adaptations service is an urgent 

necessity. We therefore propose that an Adaptations Manager be appointed. This 
senior manager’s sole responsibility would be to oversee the various components of 
the adaptations process, drive improvement and see the world from a users 
perspective to ensure the service meets users needs.   

 
4.9 Consideration could be given to this being a joint appointment between the City 

Council (Social Services and Housing and Environmental Health Services) and 
Primary Care Trusts. We feel that the post should be managerially responsible to an 
assistant director in Social Services and fall within the portfolio of the Executive 
Member for Health and Social Care. 

 
Recommendation 2 
 
That the Executive Board approve the creation of a new post of Adaptations Manager 
and that consideration could be given to this being a joint appointment between the 
City Council (Social Services and Housing and Environmental Health Services) and 
Primary Care Trusts. 

Page 163



Appendix 3 
 
A Leeds Adaptations Agency 
 
4.10 At present we feel arrangements are too disjointed.  We are of the view that matters 

will not improve unless a realignment of resources and clarification of structures 
occurs. As we have indicated officers from a range of departments are involved in part 
of the process but few (if any) solely work on getting adaptations through the system. 
For example at the start of the process the Council’s Call Centre will be taking calls on 
all sorts of issues; adaptations will be one of many and the operators will not be 
‘adaptations experts’. Disability Team Managers also manage a number of different 
services and  Occupational Therapists and their assistants undertake a wide range of 
assessments on any given visit to a persons home.  

 
4.11 Within the Department of Housing and Environmental Health Services there is a 

similar picture. Officers processing Disabled Facilities Grants do other grant 
determination work and those arranging contracts for tendered work do other non 
adaptations contracts as well. We feel that opportunities exist for drawing staff 
together from these departments into one Adaptations Team. We suggest the lead 
department should be Social Services. 

 
4.12 It appears to us that the area that performs most efficiently in relation to adaptations is 

the service provide by Care and Repair – the ‘man in the van’. In this arrangement the 
role and responsibility for installing simple adaptations is clear and unambiguous.  
The person in need is as close to the agency commissioning the work as possible.  
Whilst we accept that this model oversimplifies instances where more complex 
adaptations are needed, we are firmly of the view that organising the adaptations 
process on this agency type basis is needed to bring about the fundamental 
improvement in the current waiting times. 

 
4.13 We were pleased to learn of proposals for a combined equipment and minor 

adaptations service – this goes some way to addressing our concerns. The new 
service has the potential to vastly reduce the waiting time for many people in the City.  
Our view is that the new arrangements need to be in place as much in advance of 
April 2004 as possible.      

 
4.14 Major Adaptations and those requiring a visit by an OT currently fall outside these 

new arrangements.  During our evidence gathering we also learned of work that had 
been undertaken to examine the process of providing major adaptations in local 
authority dwellings and identify areas for improvement. We were told that a number of 
areas for improvement had been identified and that work was ongoing to improve the 
process for Council Tenants. Only Council tenants. 

 
4.15 We welcome any initiatives to improve the current circumstances but feel that 

focusing solely on Council Tenants reinforces the perception that a two tier system is 
in existence.  We suggest that introducing a cross tenure pilot study should be the first 
task of the newly appointed Adaptations Manager. The pilot should examine 
opportunities for integrating all equipment and adaptations services in the City.  

 
Recommendation 3 
 
That the Executive Board instructs officers to develop plans for a pilot scheme, within 
the boundaries of a Primary Care Trust area, to fast track the installation of 
adaptations across all tenures.  The Scrutiny Board is of the view that the pilot should 
examine the practicalities of introducing an Agency type arrangement where staff 
work solely on processing and progressing installation of adaptations. 

Page 164



Appendix 3 
 
 
Other Observations 
 
4.16 In addition to making specific recommendations we would like to record a number of 

observations. These have been made during the course of our inquiry and we are of 
the view that they should be considered during the development of the proposed 
agency pilot. 

 
4.17 We noted that one of the most appreciable delays in the process is waiting for a 

referral to be allocated by an Area Disability Team Manager to an Occupational 
Therapist. In almost 50% of cases a waiting time of over three months is experienced.  
24% of cases wait for more than 6 months. We were told that these cases were a 
‘lower priority’. However amongst these cases we found people who require help in 
personal bathing. These people could have considerable improvement to their quality 
of life by the installation of a simple adaptation such as an overhead shower. 

 
4.18 We are of the view that a widening of the eligibility criteria for 'Self Assessment’ 

should be considered together with a simplification of the assessment form. 
Removing a proportion of these lower priority cases from OT’s workloads and 
allocation straight to the proposed Equipment and Minor Adaptations Service would 
streamline the process for these people and free up OT time for progressing more 
complex cases.  We would suggest that further training of Call Centre Staff (possibly 
nominating expert adaptations operators to whom calls could be referred) would also 
help.  We were unable to identify what proportion of an OT’s time was spent purely on 
assessing people’s needs.  This information is not collected.  For future planning 
purposes we feel that consideration should be given to identifying this data. 

 
4.19 We welcome the proposals for the review of occupational therapy services that are 

provided by Health Bodies and the City Council. We suggest that opportunities might 
exist for a more streamlined service.   We fully support current arrangements for 
assessment of minor adaptations and equipment by other health care professionals.  
We suggest that this could be extended so that assessments could be undertaken 
within General Practitioners surgeries. 

 
4.20 We found the financing of adaptations complex, probably unnecessarily complex.  

Owner occupiers, Registered Social Landlords and private sector tenants make 
applications to the Department of Housing and Environmental Health for Disabled 
Facilities Grant. Registered Social Landlords have an agreement that 60% of their 
costs are covered by grant with associations meeting the difference. Owner Occupiers 
and private tenants must undergo a means test to determine the level of grant and 
must make up any shortfall themselves. The Social Services Department does have 
discretion to provide further help in meeting an applicants assessed contribution.  
Council tenants who might conceivably be assessed as having a contribution to pay, 
are not subjected to the means test and pay nothing. This seems unfair. 

 
4.21 Guidance issued by government states that; 
 

“ there are no restrictions on who may apply for DFG or the type of tenure of the 
occupier. Homeowners, private renters, local authority and housing association 
tenants are equally eligible” 

Page 165



Appendix 3 
 
4.22 We are aware that proposals are being considered for providing greater flexibility in 

the allocation of the DFG. We felt that this provides an opportunity for simplifying the 
financing of Adaptations across the board, possibly by pooling available resources 
into a single ‘Adaptations Budget’.  We also feel that a level playing field is needed 
where all applicants, irrespective of tenure, can be assessed to determine if a 
financial contribution is needed. 

 
4.23 An anomaly with the current arrangements is the additional pressure placed on 

disabled people and their families in having to arrange estimates from a number of 
contractors to undertake the major adaptations to their home. In addition these 
applicants also may need to commission architects to prepare plans and make the 
necessary applications to the local planning authority. 

 
4.24 For some people these arrangements may be satisfactory and in part, help in 

retaining independence. For others however the pressure is an unwanted burden.  
Tenants in Local Authority homes and those of Registered Social Landlords do not 
have these pressures as the housing provider carries out these tasks on their behalf.   

 
4.25 We feel that within the proposed agency arrangements consideration should be 

given to offering a service to owner occupiers and private sector tenants which 
is as least as good as the service provided for local authority tenants. We 
envisage that the cost of providing this service could be included in a overall scheme 
cost and therefore covered by the Disabled Facilities Grant. 

 
4.26 We found the amount of information available to people seeking adaptations to be 

limited. In very few instances is information provided on the length of time people 
could expect to wait for allocation of a OT or for how long determination of an 
application for a Disabled Facilities Grant would take.   

 
4.27 Finally the Ridings Housing Association offered us a number of useful suggestions.  

The primary one being in relation to entering into a partnership arrangement with a 
contractor so that delays in this part of the process can be alleviated. We would fully 
support this suggestion and again propose that this area be evaluated as part of a 
new Adaptations Agency. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report Agreed by the Board on…………………………………………………….…..……. 
 
………………………………………………………..…..Date…………….……………….……. 
 
Signed by the Chair of Scrutiny Board (Social Care) 
 

Page 166



Appendix 3 
 

Page 167



Page 168

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	7 Executive Board - Minutes
	8 Dignity in Care
	Scrutiny Inquiry Report April 2007
	Initial Response - July 2007
	Recommendation Tracking
	Update on Campaign
	Capital Grant Report
	Capital Grant Report Appendix 1
	Capital Grant Report - Appendix 2
	Capital Grant Report - Photographs

	9 Income Generation for Community Care Services
	Exec Board Report 11 June 2008
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	2 Appendix 2 Income generation for community care services (June 2008)
	3 Appendix 3 Members Information (FAQs)
	4 Appendix 4 Consultation Plan

	10 Work Programme
	Appendix 1 Draft work programme (July 08)
	Appendix 2 Forward Plan - Adult Social Care (july - october)
	Appedix 3 ADAPTATIONS FINAL REPORT


